é HARIREBISIFR

Everbright Greentech
. 2023
B 17155 Stock Code: 1257
(R PR BES ML BRAR) ANNUAL REPORT
corporated FER

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

EVOLVE WITH TIMES AND
PURSUING LONG TERM STABILITY

FERSTE 1TEEEE




1T ia
EIE -&JF - BEE - mik
[ — 88 1 okl % S AR % it FE 75

To Build
Environment, Resources, Energy, Climate

Four-in-One Carbon Neutral

Comprehensive Service Provider

hina Everbright Greentech Limited (“Everbright Greentech”

or the “Company” or together with its subsidiaries, the

“Group”) is a professional environmental protection service
provider in China, with its businesses focusing on integrated biomass
utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment, environmental
remediation, solar energy and wind power, it listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 8 May 2017 (Stock Code: 1257). Upholding its philosophy of
leading the way through business innovations, Everbright Greentech
took a pioneer role to introduce integrated urban and rural waste
treatment project in Mainland China. Currently, the Company has
its business coverage spanning across 15 provinces, autonomous
region and Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (‘Hong Kong”)
in China, and spreads far to Germany.

With strong support from China Everbright Group Limited
(“China Everbright Group”) and the controlling shareholder,
China Everbright Environment Group Limited (“CEEGL”), and
leveraging on its own extensive experience in the development and
operation of diversified project portfolio as well as its unparalleled
market expansion capability, the Group will continue to follow the
instruction to be “Prudent, Proactive and Practical”, bearing in
mind its initial commitment and mission as it strives incessantly to
become a leader in China’s environmental business sector.
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Information in this Annual Report AFHAKE

Unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise requires, this annual report was BRI ARBEINESEAEN  ZAERDIBEARRREEZ-F
prepared on the basis of information available to the Company for the year ended 31 Z=F+ZRA=+-HLFE ZARRESF(EF)S(ES
December 2023, or the date on which this annual report has been considered and € ) EFBBAFERHAM (I -_Z-_WE=A+HA)AEHE
approved by the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company, being  KHE# o

15 March 2024.

Subsequent to 15 March 2024 and before 10 April 2024 (the “Latest Practicable Date”) WA -Z -4 =A+HBAER -_T-_NFEMA+ B ([REER
prior to the printing of this annual report, the following material subsequent events have — FI{TAHI]) Z AIAFRMENA - BHENTEAEE AL EE

taken place:

I.As of 21 March 2024, the total settlement amount of the additional subsidies for
renewable energy tariff of approximately RMB1.534 bilion as stated in the
announcement of the Company dated 12 March 2024 has been fully recovered.

Il Ernst & Young will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company 1.
(the “AGM”). With the recommendation from the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, the Board has resolved to propose the appointment of Messrs. KPMG
as the new independent auditor of the Company following the retirement of Ernst &
Young, subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) at the forthcoming AGM. The auditor shall hold office from the date
of the forthcoming AGM and until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 27 March
2024.

Il As at 31 March 2024, the Directors of the Company were changed as follows: M.
(@) Mr. LO Kam Fan resigned as an Executive Director and the Chief Financial Officer;
(b) Mr. WANG Dianer was appointed as an Executive Director;
(c) Mr. HUANG Chaoxiong was appointed as an Executive Director; and
(d) Ms. MAO Jing was appointed as a Non-executive Director.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 28 March
2024.

Mr. WANG Dianer, Mr. HUANG Chaoxiong and Ms. MAO Jing have obtained legal
advices from a firm of solicitors on 25 March 2024 and confirmed their
understanding of the obligations as Directors pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). In
accordance with Article 112 of the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”), they shall hold office only until the
forthcoming AGM and shall be eligible and offer themselves for re-election.
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Corporate Information
A EEH

DIRECTORS

HUANG Haiging™ (Chairman)

ZHU Fugang* (Chief Executive Officer)
LO Kam Fan** (Chief Financial Officer)
SONG Jian**

CHOW Siu Lui™*

YAN Houmin**

LI Huagiang*™**

*  Executive Director

** Non-executive Director

*** Independent Non-executive Director

# Subsequent to 15 March 2024 and before the Latest Practicable Date, certain changes to the
Directors have taken place. Please refer to page 1 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY
CHOW Wing Man

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Room 3602, 36/F.

Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
China Bohai Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

China Citic Bank International Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
China Construction Bank Corporation

China Development Bank Corporation

China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch
China Minsheng Banking Corp. Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
Hang Seng Bank (China) Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.

Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited

OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited

Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd.

The Bank of East Asia, Limited
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SOLICITORS

Grandall Law Firm (Beijing)
Zhonglun W&D Law Firm (Shenzhen)
Jingtian & Gongcheng LLP

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F

Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www.ebgreentech.com

PUBLIC RELATIONS

Citigate Dewe Rogerson

SHARE INFORMATION
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Financial Highlights
MERE

2023 2022 Percentage
—=E-= == Change

HK$’000 HK$'000 A7t
BEFT  EETR

RESULTS E 3
Revenue W z= 7,416,973 8,048,171 —7.84%
EBITDA® BRAE - THIE - T8
KNSR B A 1,453,509 2,175,944 -33.20%

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity AR B HE AR R R A

shareholders of the Company B/ (&8 (301,711) 340,201 -188.69%
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) f% 5 & & 5] 3R (%) (2.60) 2.60 -5.20 ppt
Basic earnings/(loss) per share BRERAF,(EHE)

(HK cents) (B (14.60) 16.47 -188.69%
FINANCIAL POSITION B AR R
Total assets BERTE 39,757,424 39,156,376 1.5%
Total liabilities BfER%E 27,401,085 25,622,091 6.9%
Equity attributable to equity AR R = IR R R

shareholders of the Company 11,271,227 12,384,795 -9.0%
Net asset value per share RARE=BRREGER

attributable to equity shareholders BEFE(ESIT)

of the Company (HK$) 5.46 5.99 -8.8%
Cash and bank balances & RIR1T4E 6% 2,378,783 2,003,293 18.7%
Gearing ratio® (%) BEBBELE (%) 68.92 65.44 3.48 ppt
Current ratio (%) 7 B £ % (%) 111.90 137.31 -25.41 ppt

(1)  EBITDA is the profit for the year before deduction of interest, (1)  EBITDABIAREZERFE « FH18 - 37E R#EHATR
taxation, depreciation and amortisation. A e

(2)  Gearing ratio is calculated by total liabilities over total assets. (2 EEBBELXRREEETERIUNAELRTETE -
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Corporate Milestones
TERSEHE

D January 2023

° Entered into a strategic cooperation framework agreement
with Shenzhen Huagong Energy Technology Co., Ltd. for
advancement of the Shanxi Wind Power Spot Trading
Project

D February 2023

° Received the “Outstanding Contribution to Environment
Award 2022” in the first KPMG “Future e ESG” Awards

D March 2023

o Everbright Lianshui General Industrial Solid Waste Heat
and Electricity Project completed “72+24” hours of trial
run and commenced commercial operation

D May 2023

° Signed for Phase Il Expansion Project of Xuyi County
Agricultural Forestry Biomass Heat and Electricity

Co-generation Project in Jiangsu Province

° Successful issuance of the first tranche of 2023 Green
Medium-term Note for an amount of RMB1 billion

D June 2023

° Signed for Nanyuan Road Inter-connected Site Treatment
Services under the Zhangjiagang Eastern Third Ring
Road Project

D July 2023

° Third Batch Phase Il (6BMW) of Feng County Distributed
Rooftop Solar Power Project officially commenced grid-
connected power generation

D August 2023

° Everbright Greentech won the tender for the Rooftop Solar
Power Project of South Seas Centre, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon

° Everbright Greentech entered into a cooperation

agreement with Jiangsu King’s Luck Brewery Joint-Stock

Co., Ltd. (“King’s Luck”) in connection with the Zero

Carbon Industry Park

D 2023F1A
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D September 2023

o Dah Chong Hong, Yuen Long Phase Il Rooftop Solar
Power Project (1,380Kw) commenced grid-connected
power generation at full capacity

° Successful issuance of the 2023 second tranche green
medium-term note for an amount of RMB1 billion

° Third Batch of Feng County Distributed Rooftop Solar
Power Project officially commenced grid-connected
power generation, completing 17.69MW of project grid-

connected power generation in aggregate

D October 2023

° Received the “Best in ESG Awards — Main Board —
Small Market Capitalisation” in the BDO ESG Awards
2023 organised by BDO Limited (“BDQO”)

o Signed for Fengyang County Waste Landfill Integrated
Treatment

2 November 2023

o Commenced operation of ACC smart combustion at
Huaiyin Waste Incineration Power Generation Project

> December 2023

o Received the “Corporate Governance Special Mention”
the Non-Hang Seng Index (Small Market
Category in the Best Corporate
Governance and ESG Awards 2023 presented by the

under
Capitalization)

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

° Rugao Biomass Direct Combustion Power Generation
Project, Huaiyin Biomass Power Generation Project,

Lianshui Biomass Power Generation Project, Xuyi

Biomass Power Generation Project and Guanyun
Biomass Power Generation Project completed ultra-low

emission conversion during the year
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Chairman’s Statement
EFEHRE

REINFORCING PRINCIPAL BUSINESSES
AND DRIVING TRANSFORMATION

Unwavering adherence to
the path of high-quality development

=

BEXE tEZ

BEMNBESEERRZE

Year 2023 marked the beginning of the comprehensive implementation of the principles laid down at
the 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of China, as well as a year of resumed economic
development following the wind-down of anti-pandemic measures against COVID-19. It was a year of
vigorous start, as new steps were taken in the comprehensive building of a modernised socialist nation
with a special focus on the resumption of development, assuring a more solid foundation and more
powerful driving force for the Chinese economy. Under the guidance of the “Dual Carbon” objective, a
series of heavyweight environmental policies, such as the Guiding Opinion on Expediting the
Establishment of a Sound Green and Low-carbon Circular Economic Regime, have been announced
with a clear call for the comprehensive enhancement of the waste governance regime and relevant
abilities as well as the establishment of a resource recycling regime, signifying a stage in China’s
qualitative development with expedited green and low-carbon development. The Central Economic
Work Conference held in 2023 called for the development of a pioneering region for beautiful China
and creation of a high ground for low-carbon green development, whilst stepping up with the
establishment of a novel energy regime to enhance the conservation of resources and intensive,
efficient recycling. In this hopeful yet challenging new era, the Group has continued to persist in the
basic development principle of “reinforcing principal businesses and driving transformation” in close
tandem with major national development strategies, focusing on its principal operations and
responsibilities as it proactively quested for change and new ventures against all adversities in resolute
pursuit of qualitative and sustainable development.
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Persisting in strategic guidance and focused on delivering
value. Following profound adjustments to the global ecological
governance and energy landscape, it has become imperative for
China to step up with the establishment of a novel energy regime
in order for the nation to achieve qualitative development. In
2023, the Group adopted a combination of asset-light and asset-
heavy models on the foundation of its existing businesses as it
investigated the “Zero-Carbon Industry Park + Virtual Power
Plant” model and developed a number of projects commanding
small investments, high returns and stable cashflows as
represented by King’s Luck “Zero Carbon Park”, implemented a
solar energy project with an installed capacity of 100 MW and
energy storage capacity of 7.8 MWh, added new heat supply
capacity of 657,000 tonnes/year, and built a virtual power plant
trading platform. The new businesses and models have shown
promising momentum for development. In connection with
operational management, the Group adopted delicacy
management as an important means for quality and efficiency
enhancement, as it persisted in identifying potentials from within
and strengthening the coordination of operational management in
ongoing enhancement of operational quality and efficiency. In the
biomass segment, market coordination and joint regiona
operations have been strengthened as we reported a rising
percentage share of yellow straw fuel and local fuel as well as
stable growth in the volume of grid-connected power generation,
alongside marked improvement in the quality and efficiency of
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Chairman's Statement £E#H&

heat supply. Meanwhile, there was a substantial decline in the
gross profit margin of the hazardous waste treatment owing to
external factors such as reduced industrial production and
escalating competition in the sector. In line with the prudence
principle, the Group has made an impairment provision for the
hazard waste business segment, resulting in a loss for the
Group’s consolidated operating results. During the vyear, the
Group has made massive effort and long-term planning to
consolidate its leading position in the industry, bolster its primary
clean energy business, turn around and reduce the loss of its
hazard waste business, and pursue new business development
and management reform. We will continue to advance such

explorative work and planning.

Persisting in the technology-driven approach in the creation
of new growth engines. With the dawning of the “Dual Carbon”
era, the nation has been advancing the transition from “dual
control in energy consumption” to “dual control in carbon
emission”, and the transition of the environmental industry from
standalone end treatment to end-to-end green and low-carbon
service has required focused efforts on all fronts. During the year,
the Group commenced R&D and new technology research in key
topics in connection with end-of-life tyre recycling, integrated
waste landfill treatment, biomass ash recycling, ash recycling,
biomass-based green methanol, energy storage, among others, in
order to provide solid support for the Group’s transformation and
In 2024,

sophisticated integration of technological innovation and industry,

upgrade. the Group will continue to drive the
establishing its presence in new businesses alongside the existing
industry chain and expediting its research on prospective and
revolutionary technologies which are rapidly emerging, in order to
own a range of technologies in which we claim mastery to give
us a new competitive edge. We will continue to optimise the
sharing of resources and the complementary model of the
integration of “industry, academia, research and application”, in
order to facilitate the effective matching of technologies and
market demands and expedite the commercialisation and
application of technological achievements.
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Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express sincere
appreciation to all shareholders, investors and partners for their
support and trust which has always remained a driving force
behind our ongoing growth and development. The next 5 years
will be an important period for the building of the beautiful China.
The Group will continue to devote meticulous effort to the clean
energy business in tandem with national strategies, offering
Everbright’s contributions to the making of a vividly beautiful
China.

HUANG HAIQING

Chairman of the Board
Hong Kong, 15 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EERENWE DN

OPERATING RESULTS

In 2023, we welcomed the resumption of economic development
following the conclusion of anti-epidemic measures against the
COVID-19 pandemic which had lasted for 3 years. This year also
marked the opening year for the implementation of the principles
set out at the 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of
China. The Chinese economy and society returned to normalised
proceedings on all fronts, as the domestic economy showcased
an upward recovery curve amidst ongoing pressure. The Chinese
government persisted in an approach that sought progress in
stability and in turn enhanced stability with progress, cementing
and strengthening the fundamentals whilst consistently driving the
economy to achieve effective

improvements in quality and

reasonable growth in quantity.

In 2023, against the backdrop of a series of grave testing
conditions such as the complicated and volatile external market,
escalating uncertainty in policies for the solid waste industry and
instability in market expectations, the Group responded with calm
composure and overcame hurdles and difficulties amidst adverse
market conditions, ringing in the critical battle of “reinforcing
principal businesses and driving transformation” on all fronts. In
vigorous adherence to national development strategies and firm
fulfillment of requirements in the new stage of development, the
Group has made a strong effort to extend its existing businesses
by identifying further development potential in such businesses
with a special focus on creating value.
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With the Chinese economy transitioning into the stage of
qualitative development, the government has stated its objective
of achieving Carbon Peak and Carbon Neutrality (“Dual Carbon”),
underpinned by the development of a novel power system mainly
supported by new energy. In tandem with the overwhelming trend
of energy revolution, the Group was negotiating transformation
into an integrated energy service provider as it embarked on
development of the “Zero-carbon Industry Park + Environmental
Remediation” business through the combination of asset-heavy
and asset-light models, with a view to the ongoing expansion of
its business portfolio. The Group continued to implement delicacy
management of its operations, diversify its financing channels and
closely monitor frontier industry technologies, constantly
enhancing its core competitiveness in an effort to overcome any
adverse impact of changes in the external environment on the

Group’s business.

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of integrated
biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment,
environmental remediation, solar energy and wind power. As of 31
December 2023, the Group had 139 environmental protection
projects with a total investment of approximately RMB30.713
billion and had undertaken 59 environmental remediation projects

with a total contract amount of approximately RMB1.608 billion.

In terms of market development, during the year under review,
the Group secured 20 new projects and entered into 1
supplementary agreement for biomass heat supply, involving an
additional total investment of approximately RMB523 million and
environmental remediation projects with a total contract amount of
approximately RMB299 million. Such new projects included 1
integrated biomass utilisation project, 9 solar energy projects and
10 environmental remediation projects. In terms of project scale,
the installed capacity for solar power generation was increased by
100 MW, while the designed capacity for steam supply were
increased by approximately 657,000 tonnes per annum.
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During the year under review, the Group vigorously advanced
business transformation in tandem with the nation’s energy
security strategies and Dual Carbon targets as well as the new
market landscape, with a special focus on making breakthroughs
in the “Zero-carbon Industry Park” projects underpinned mainly by
solar power storage and environmental remediation projects
underpinned mainly by “Waste Landfill Restoration”. During the
year under review, the Company entered into a cooperation
agreement with King’s Luck in connection with a “Zero-carbon
Industry Park” project for a total investment of approximately
RMB88.25 million, which primarily involved the construction of
relevant projects for the zero-carbon plant, including rooftop solar
power (20 MW), user energy storage (10 MW / 20 MWh), smart
charging station (2 MW) and virtual power plant. The energy and
carbon management platform projects of King’'s Luck Zero-carbon
Industry Park was designed to facilitate management and
monitoring of corporate energy consumption through digital
including the collection, monitoring, analysis and
optimised management of energy data, and to provide functions

means,

such as carbon stocktaking and carbon reporting, etc. Users will
be able to conduct real-time monitoring, data analysis, energy
efficiency optimisation in relation to energy consumption as well as
carbon footprint analysis and carbon reduction management via
the said platform, thereby helping the industry park to ultimately
achieve the zero-carbon target. Meanwhile, the virtual power plant
trading platform will integrate the solar power generation and
energy storage systems and facilitate virtual integration of electric
power with the aid of Internet of Things technology, so as to
maximise utilisation of green electricity generated and ultimately
achieve maximum efficiency. On the basis of this project, a
replicable smart Industry Park” model will be
created in future for establishment under the new business model
of “Biomass + Zero-carbon Industry Park” on the back of the
Group’s nationwide network of integrated biomass utilisation
projects. During the year under review, the Group successfully
advanced the Zhejiang Songyang Energy Storage and Virtual
Power Plant Project with notable achievements in energy
conservation and consumption reduction. In the meantime, the
Group has secured the qualifications to operate as an electricity

“Zero-carbon

supply company and has developed a green power trading
platform to establish its presence in the virtual power plant and
green power trading businesses. During the year under review,
multi-variety power trading has commenced in effective
enhancement of overall project efficiency.

REBEFEAN  AEBESERRERET 28 &
S BEE JERIEEY - KM EFER
B BB RFEEAENITHRER|ER
KRB BEE ] BEMNREEERER - RE
BEEAR  ARaESHEEE [ THRER]EE
GEHE  BE P RBIREBHARKSS2SE
T EEHETHRIMMARERESR  2EEE
HIRFHEIEE - AFAIFEEE  SExEBE
BEREHREMEE S (HP X KRE20KE - &
BEIRIE10JKE / 20k LI R T BIEAE2IKEL) ©
SHETHRERERERAMKEETYAEESTRA
HE L FREBMERCEREBR  BEER
BEMRE B8 M ME(LERE  TEERK
BEMRBESENRE - AEAIBRBZTFAER
RN ERE BEOW - 2B
BT REERE  WHERESRERT
EIZE - R ERERIZFEBILLRES
MFERG— B BRYBERNTERENN
ERERK  FEELNKECE NESERANLER
A SRERMREEAL - RREKEZEE T
BAERNEEIERER BN  KTAEER
BmROEYMELREFAEE  BYEWE+T
ER | FERX - SN REBE R EEFE AR
BRI HEEE AT T ARG R e R R SR ERIE B - BaEpE
FERRBEE AN A5EECREEEAELE
BEWITEZCBENIRSHTFE - HRERERMN
BEXRS REBEFENERABRZRAEBE IR
5 BBIRHABERGRE MG -



Annual Report 2023 19
—E=FFR

Management Discussion and Analysis B2 g & &k 247

In terms of project construction, the Group continued to advance
its project work construction in a steady manner. During the year
under review, 15 projects completed construction and
commenced operation. As of 31 December 2023, the Group had
29 projects under construction or implementation, including 2
integrated biomass utilisation projects, 3 hazardous and solid
waste treatment projects, 17 environmental remediation projects
and 7 solar energy projects. With a strong emphasis on
construction safety, construction quality and work scheduling for
projects under construction, the Group has enhanced safety
management standard at project sites through ongoing
optimisation of its construction management system and
accomplished the annual safe production targets for its projects

under construction.

In terms of technology research and development (“R&D”), the
Group supported business transformation and project operation
through technological innovation. During the year under review,
the Group commenced research in end-of-life tyre recycling,
integrated treatment of waste landfill, biomass ash recycling, ash
recycling, biomass preparation of green methanol, energy storage
and carbon capture, utilisation and storage (CCUS), among
others, to stock up new power for the transformation and
development of the Group. In addition, the Group led in the
national key research programme Development and Application of
Safe, Clean and Efficient Incineration Technology for General
Combustible

applications, and also participated in the national key research

Industrial Solid Waste with practical project
programmes, Demonstration of Pollution Control Technology for

Synergistic Solid Waste Disposal and Industry Park-based
Systems Integration and Industrial Boiler Fume and Multi-pollutant
Low-consumption High-efficiency Coordinated Treatment
Technology and Equipment Development. At the same time, the
Group also participated in the research of government research
projects such as Research and Development of Key Technologies
for Equipment for Synthesis and Application of High-stability Solid
Amine CO, Capture Materials and Research on Ultra-low Emission
Mechanism for Synergistic Purification of Pollutants from
Incineration and Disposal of Hazardous Waste. As of 31
December 2023,

including 40 invention patents, 170 utility model patents, and also

the Group held 210 authorised patents,

held 5 software copyrights.

TiRERTE  ARBEIRBSHERTRETIZRZ
FeREBEFERN TIRKEHEB15E - &F
“EC=FFTRA=1T—8B AEEEZIHT
hEyIE B H2ofE - BHEE2EAAMESS N AR
B SEfENMEEEERR 17ERREEERR
BM7TEXREEER - AKRESEERAERR
Aieles BREGENMERER BBETHE
ETRRERGE RS IRSERKE BR
ERBEHEFRELEENRR -

BT E - ARBRBRMAIF AR REE
ZRMABBLRESS - NEEFEARN K%
ERREERIRE R - SRIEIRISGRARE
EMEREERICHMA - RIERE - EWER
AR EE - [BE A e - MM EBF(CCUS)F T
BRI RASEENEREENBE - It
Sy AEEEBE(-RAMIXEBERZZBER
BRI E R ER)BREH T EERE
VEANRBEBEER 25(EEHRREENSR
22 ) e iy N (B [ b R AR SR AR #8) A1 TR S AR &
REZISRMERERES R R KM R EF)E
REHPEAIRE  AFESEBUTREIRR
(BRE B CO, MM A R B B R AR5
B TR 2 ) A0 e e BE WD IR B B B 05 SR e [RDFHE
BEFRESAE)OMR I - BE-_FT—=
FT-A=1T—"8 AEEAFBEREEFN210
B BEEAERN40E  ERHEEFN70IE
DA R B0 & A REB TR

/

S

A\



DY

China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Management Discussion and Analysis & /8 &7 & & 2 #7

In terms of operational management, the Group revised and
improved its operational management regime during the year
under review based on inspection of the operation regime and
enhanced awareness for standardisation at projects through the
publication of the Operational Management Standards. Efforts
were made by the Group to advance the informatisation of
operational management and ensure effective implementation of
various standards for the enhancement of operational
management standards. The Group adhered to the strategy of
integrating the localisation of fuel supply with regional deployment,
i.e. in regions where conditions were favourable, the localisation of
fuel supply was used to further reduce the cost of fuel acquisition
and stabilise the fuel supply. In case of inadequate fuel supply,
the Group coordinated allocation and transportation and shared
stock of fuel among projects in the neighbouring regions on the
basis of inventory and market conditions, so as to stabilise the
overall operational performance of the biomass projects. The
Group continued to work on improving quality and efficiency,
actively developed a new customer base of heat-users and
explored potential demand for heat supply. The Group was
committed to improving the standard of delicacy operation at its
solid waste incineration and recycling projects, as cost analyses
were conducted and cost reduction and efficiency enhancement
was achieved through process technique optimisation and
technological upgrade at selected projects on a trial basis which
were subsequently established as exemplary models for
promotion at other projects. Unit cost for projects has been
reduced as a result. Moreover, the management has effectively
achieved reduction in operating costs by setting quantitative
targets for delicacy operation and management and linking such
quantitative targets with performance. The hazardous waste
incineration projects in particular have achieved substantial cost
reductions. During the year under review, the Group continued to
deepen
advancing the standardised system for safe production and

its safety and environmental management regime,

environmental management on all fronts and introducing
amendments, implementing the dual prevention mechanism of
tiered risk management and hazard inspection and rectification.
The two tickets management was regulated while the Measures
for the Administration of Safety and Environmental Qualifications
Examination for All Staff were announced to enhance the
regulation of project safety and environmental management,
ensuring safe production and compliance in emission standards at

the projects.
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In terms of risk management, the Group has always placed a
strong emphasis thereon. The Group addressed volatilities in
international political and economic situations and changes in the
domestic economic structure and environment through a
systematic and effective risk management regime to mitigate the
impact of uncertainties on the strategic and business objectives of
the Group. On the back of its
comprising the risk management organisation, risk management

risk management regime
systems and risk management processes of the Company, the
Group has set out clearly its mission and objectives in risk
management and a reasonable risk appetite, which have been
subject to ongoing review and optimisation. During the year under
review, the Group paid more attention to the effectiveness of risk
management, as the Risk Factors Checklist was revised on the
basis of assessment results, “key management and control risks”
were determined as the core to commence risk management
work. The Group conducted ongoing overall analysis on risk
events to ensure compliant and legal operations on the part of its
subsidiaries and prevent the occurrence of systematic risks. The
Group has been consistently placing a strong emphasis on
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) related risks and
have incorporated such risks into the comprehensive risk
management regime of the Group to facilitate key control, in
order to enhance its competence in sustainable development.
During the year under review, the Group optimised its risk rating
and criteria for assessing audit results and exercised proper

control over material risks in effective risk management.

In 2023, the Group implemented ESG responsibilities in the
strategy and business operation of the Group in persistent
adherence to the principle of sustainability, as it continued to
review its performance and inadequacies in an effort to enhance
its competence in sustainable development and lay the bedrock
for delivering value in the long term. In recognition of its
outstanding ESG performance, the Group was honoured with the
“Outstanding Contribution to Environment Award 2022” in the first
KPMG China “Future ¢ ESG Awards”, “Best in ESG Awards —
Main Board — Small Market Capitalisation” in the BDO ESG
Awards 2023 organised by BDO and “Corporate Governance
Special Mention” under the Non-Hang Seng Index (Small Market
Capitalization) Category in the Best Corporate Governance and
ESG Awards 2023 presented by the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants.

REgERE HE AEE-EERRAREEIE
RBRRERNRREEEREHBERBS - &
BRSNS ELBAEEEENEERENE
bt RESBEIEEERRASAEEEE LEE
BENFE AKREKEARFAREEASR
B RREEHE  RREERESEXNRR
EIRRR HEEREREES  RAREEAR
EENEARRFLTHAETE REOBEFE
W ANEEENEREREZNARE - ERFF
MER BI(ARERFE) BEIEHEE
] WAKRSZORRRRESETE- XK
EREEREREMETELD T  REMBAR
B AERE LRGSR BOEL - AE
BHERRSHRE HeMEEER(RE
ghERDEBRRNBEER  BIRE HE
K Va1 B L B A AR S B 2 T L T 6 A
TEHER EALAKENSERREN - RE
BFEEA ARETETRERFRLESAERT
E2ZRE  EARRERGE  BREEAXN -

TEC=F AEERKRFRRARBEEEES
HEERE HERERETRARNEEEEAN
EBEE THESEIHRANTE B HiR
SAREEENGES  BAREREBRNEEAES
EEM AEBMEBRETRE HERERANES
RB - REEREHTPEEEIARR e ESGAEE]
WMIZTE-—FERRERE] - FREHBDO
M —T - =FBDORE HEREAKNEFH
[ESGERERRASE — ERPETEIRBERE
B AT T = FRECEEARESGA
KRR IEEAEIREBR MR (D THE) AR D2
ERFTHIFEATIREE -

/

S

A\



322

China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Management Discussion and Analysis & /8 &7 & & 2 #7

During the year under review, the Group continued to fulfill the
responsibility to open its environmental protection facilities to the
public with more intensive actions, as flue emission and sewage
discharge data of all projects in operation, among others, were
synchronised with and instantly uploaded to government

regulatory platforms, while environmental impact assessment
reports and environmental surveillance data of projects were also
made available to the public via various media for governmental
and public supervision. The environmental protection facilities of
the Company were opened to the public on a normalised basis.
As of 31 December 2023, a total of 35 projects of the Company
were officially opened to the public and 161 offline open-to-the-

public activities were held, receiving a total of 3,716 visitors.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of the Group
decreased by 8% to approximately HK$7,416,973,000 from
HK$8,048,171,000 for 2022. Earnings before interest,
depreciation and amortisation (“‘EBITDA”) decreased by 33% to
approximately HK$1,453,509,000 compared to HK$2,175,944,000
for 2022. Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
for the year increased by 189% to approximately HK$301,711,000
from profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
approximately HK$340,201,000 for 2022. Basic loss per share for
2023 was HK14.60 cents, HK31.07 cents less compared to basic
earnings per share HK16.47 cents for 2022. The Group was backed

taxes,

by ready access to various financing options and ample cash flow
with sound financial indicators. As at the end of the year, cash and
bank balances amounted to approximately HK$2,378,783,000 and
total bank loan facilities amounted to HK$24,910,746,000, including
unutilised bank loan facilities of HK$6,884,254,000. The aggregate
amount of available cash and unutilised bank loan facilites was
approximately HK$9,263,037,000.

During the year under review, the continued decline in the volume
and price of domestic hazardous and solid waste treatment
market led to decrease in revenue, in addition to the continuous
operating losses of some projects of the Company, causing
property,
equipment and right-of-use assets, resulting in an increase in loss

impairment losses on intangible assets, plant and
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company. In addition,
the impairment losses on debtors and contract assets were
mainly due to failure to collect government on-grid renewable

energy tariff subsidy receivables in a timely manner.
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The Group recorded impairment losses on intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets with the
aggregate amount of HK$656 milion for the vyear ended
31 December 2023, as compared to impairment losses on
goodwill, and property, plant and equipment of HK$30 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group
expected credit losses on debtors and contract assets of HK$87
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, as compared to
that of HK$109 million for the year ended 31 December 2022,

recorded

In April 2023, the Company received the notice of registration
acceptance issued by the National Association of Financial Market
Institutional Investors in respect of the Company’s application for
registration and proposed issuance of multiple types of debt
financing instruments (“DFI”) with a registered principal amount of
not more than RMBS5 billion in the national inter-bank bond
market in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), and such
registered principal amount shall be valid for 2 years from the
date of the notice of registration acceptance, being 4 April 2023.
The targeted subscribers for the DFI are institutional investors in
the national inter-bank bond market. The DFI are traded in the
national inter-bank bond market.

In May 2023, the Company completed the issuance of the first
tranche of green medium-term note in the PRC in 2023, namely
the “‘China Everbright Greentech Limited 2023 First Tranche
(the ‘2023 First Tranche Green
Medium-term Note”’) for an amount of RMB1

Green Medium-term Note”
billion with a
maturity period of 3 years at a fixed coupon rate of 3.20% per
annum determined via centralized bookbuilding. The proceeds
from issuance of the 2023 First Tranche Green Medium-term
Note will be used for the repayment of the Group’s interest-
bearing debts, replenishment of the Group’s working capital and/
or investment in and construction of the Group’s environmental
protection projects and for other business development purposes.

AEERBE_T_=F+_A=+—HLFE
WELEE WX BEARBRERAEEER
SHEBEEHCSOETNREEBRE(BE_T -
FT-A=T"BLFEREURYE BEX
R FEIEEIRREM3,00087T) - AEERE
ECTEC=FT A=t HLEFERBEERER

RERNEEHRSAEESTO0OB TN RHEEHR
BE_Z-__F+_A=1T-"BHLFERBEYK

1.09187T) °

RZZBZ=FNA  AARWKEHPERITED
SR SGBHERARA BB LMEERLNPEA
EREME ([HFE])HE2ERITEES TS ETT
fesBETRRARBS0ETHZ REEGKHE
TA(EBREILAMELNEIEMBAN
£ omitEMAeef@NEREMRME B H (B
TEC=FOAMR)RBER  RERF - B
METAZTHRAZERITRBE S MISAHE
BREE AREBHEIAR2BERITHEES
TG o

RZZEZ=FRA ARFARFETKET_Z

“ZFEF-HReTHMEE  NIFEYAK
BRAERAFD_ZF_=FEF - HREHHR

BRITZZ-_=ZEF - HRetHREE]) - #

ﬁi%ﬁﬁ’j}\ﬁﬁ@m%ﬁ CHRA=F BEENEX
REFEFHEI20% BBREFECLREESAE
E BT T _=—FEF-HReTHREMS

FEHANEERNRENGEER  #HRAKHE
MEEES R/ IRENERAEENRREAR
REMEBERRRAR

/

S

A\



324

China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Management Discussion and Analysis & /8 &7 & & 2 #7

In September 2023, the Company completed the issuance of the
second tranche of green medium-term note in the PRC in 2023,
namely the “China Everbright Greentech Limited 2023 Second
(the “2023
Second Tranche Green Medium-term Note”) for an amount of

Tranche Green Medium-term Note (Rural Vitalisation)”

RMB1 billion with a maturity period of 2 years at a fixed coupon
rate of 2.83% per annum determined via centralized bookbuilding.
The proceeds from the issuance of the 2023 Second Tranche
Green Medium-term Note will be used for repayment of the
Group’s interest-bearing debts, replenishment of the Group’s
working capital and/or investment in and construction of the
Group’s environmental protection projects and for other business
development purposes. As at 31 December 2023, the unissued
registered principal amount of the Company’s DFI was RMB3
billion.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

From 1 January 2024 to 8 March 2024,
forestry biomass power generation project companies under the

16 agricultural and

Group have received notices from the State Grid Corporation of
China in relation to the settlement of additional subsidies for
renewable energy tariff, according to which the total settlement
amount is approximately RMB1.534 billion*¢ and the total amount
of additional subsidies for renewable energy tariff that has been
received is approximately RMB1.377 billion. Details of the above
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 12 March
2024.

Note: Subsequent to 15 March 2024 and before the Latest Practicable
Date, such amount has been fully recovered as of 21 March

2024. Please refer to page 1 of this annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT
Business Review

During the year under review, revenue generated from integrated
biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment,

environmental remediation and solar energy and wind
power segments amounted to approximately HK$7,416,973,000
in aggregate, comprising approximately HK$660,645,000 from
construction services, representing a 49% decrease compared to
HK$1,297,251,000 2022,
HK$6,412,714,000 from operation services, which was broadly
unchanged compared to HK$6,384,333,000 for 2022. Analysed
by nature of revenue, construction services, operation services

9%, 86% and 5%,

for and approximately

and finance income accounted for

respectively, of the total revenue.

Major financial data of integrated biomass utilisation, hazardous

XGEBEMEE

EBEE

REBEER  £NEGEFE - R REEE
B RREENAREERAEH B UL

EX)BE7,416,973,0007T © EFPEERBWESL
& 660,645,000 RZBEZ—_F 2B K
1,297,251,00070)5 2 49% - BB & IRTEURE LY
BB H6,412,714,0007T - B - T -~ —F 7B
6,384,333,0007T#FF © W EE 4 - EiER
% EBERE R ISRA D BMG 2 EE9% - 86%
K5% o

—F— —ii#@fé,m/\ﬂﬁﬁ EERERERE

and solid waste treatment, environmental remediation and solar iaiifl’z{ﬁfﬂ HARBERREBIEE 2 X EHHEE
energy and wind power projects for 2023 are summarised as 0K :
follows:
2023 2022
—E-=f ke St
Hazardous Hazardous
Integrated  and solid Solar Integrated and solid Solar
biomass waste Environmental energy and biomass waste  Environmental  energy and
utilisation  treatment  remediation wind power utilisation treatment remediation  wind power
projects projects projects projects projects projects projects projects
g BER KREE ENE 2
HANA ERRE REBE kEE A
%R EH HE HH Eh HH A BHH HH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE¥Tr  B¥T BBTT EB¥Tr EMTz  BETT  B%Tn BEFT  AET
Revenue iz
— construction services  — BiER% 618,405 42,240 - - 660,645 763,527 533,724 = - 1,297,251
— operation services - BER% 4,826,455 1,132,949 243,364 209,946 6,412,714  4912,706 1,133,963 148,205 189,459 6,384,333
— finance income LN 338,697 4917 - - 343,614 360,508 6,079 - - 366,587
5,783,557 1,180,106 243,364 209,946 7,416,973 6,036,741 1,673,766 148,205 189,459 8,048,171
EBITDA/(LBITDA) BRAIE BB
FrER&HE
B/ (RFIS
HE  FER
BHAER) 1,858,233 (428,162) 29,960 188,338 1,648,369 1,650,143 488,557 10,831 171,450 2,320,981
To reserve more capital to capture opportunities and meet the RRBEZE S ANMEME DB RRE - £

challenges ahead, the Board does not recommend a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil) to the
Shareholders.

FETEBRARRRKERE_FT_=F1+_A
St BLEFEZRERE(ZS_—_F  §)-
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Integrated biomass utilisation

The Group mainly utilises biomass raw materials to generate both
electricity and heat. Biomass raw materials are categorised into
yellow culms and grey culms. Yellow culms consist of agricultural
residues, such as wheat straw, rice straw, corn straw, rice husks,
peanut husks, etc.; while grey culms consist of forestry residues
such as branches, barks and other manufacturing wood wastes,
etc. In addition, the Group has developed a unique business
model of urban-rural integration combining the construction of
integrated biomass utilisation projects and waste-to-energy
projects for integrated treatment of agricultural and forestry
residues and rural household wastes in a pioneering attempt at
treatment of the ecological environment in county areas. The
unique advantage of the Group’s urban-rural integration model
enables it to significantly lower the operating costs of projects
and enhance our competitiveness in the industry.

The comprehensive biomass raw material supply regime has
safeguarded sufficient fuel supply for and stable operation of the
integrated biomass utilisation projects, while the Group has also
effectively curbed fuel cost by adhering to the strategy of
integrating localisation of fuel supply with regional deployment.
Through the combined effect of technological optimisation and
delicacy management, the Group’s integrated biomass utilisation
projects sustained long cycles of stable operation, resulting in
substantial enhancement in operational standards and economic
efficiency of the projects.

EMERESRA

$¢l££ﬂ%$%%ﬁﬁﬂ%%&1ﬂ°i%
#@' ﬁﬂ%%ﬁ; ~$a$; : \7k$¢ - MR ‘4EEE5X<T

RBREBERMERERY - e - B R HAh 4
EAMEBERE - Rtz REBRELBERFD
WA B EBER  SEVERFRSTAER A
NIERGEEEERA—BER  NEBEIERM
BEEYREMNEENR - FElTREERRES
BHEA - REENES -BLEXBRED

AIABEREBRREEKA - BITEBRE S -

TENEMERMHEERARE T EMERS
FMABEEMBNRSHERBEES  AREE
AR EAR BB EFAEREE R A
PR FIRBL AR © BB T8 (L BB AL B A
Be ARENEMESRSTRREERTRE
HIIBEETT - BAIRTT TR B EEKT RSB
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As of 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 55 integrated
biomass utilisation projects, distributed variously in 10 provinces
in China, which were mainly located in Anhui Province, Jiangsu
Hubei
Province, etc. Such projects commanded a total investment of

Province, Shandong Province, Province and Henan
approximately RMB17.21 billion and provided an aggregate power
generation designed capacity of 1,069 MW, an aggregate annual
biomass processing designed capacity of approximately
8,139,800 tonnes,

processing designed capacity of approximately 11,610 tonnes.

and a daily aggregate household waste

During the year under review, the Group operated and completed
52 integrated biomass utilisation projects, generating
approximately 6,155,349 MWh of on-grid electricity, representing
an increase of 2% over 2022; the volume of steam supplied was
approximately 2,406,237 tonnes which was approximate to 2022;
and processed approximately 7,845,389 tonnes of biomass raw
materials and approximately 3,836,284 tonnes of household
waste, representing decreases of 4% and increase of 11% over
2022 respectively. As of 31 December 2023, the Group had 2
integrated biomass utilisation projects under construction, with
power generation designed capacity of 20 MW and daily
household waste processing designed capacity of approximately
700 tonnes and an estimated annual on-grid power generation of
approximately 91,645 MWh.

During the year under review, the Group’s integrated biomass
utilisation projects contributed EBITDA of approximately
HK$1,858,233,000, representing an increase of 13% compared
to 2022. The integrated biomass utilisation projects contributed
net profit of approximately HK$997,636,000, representing an
increase of 28% compared to 2022. The increase in profit was
mainly due to lower biomass power generation cost as a result of
the stability in equipment operation and improved fuel quality,
which led to substantial growth in operating gross profit margin of
the integrated biomass utilisation projects.

HE-_T_ZF+_-_A=Z+—8B AEBHEE
S5EEMEHFEFAEE - A MHEFREIEA10ME
By EBNRETHRE TES - ILERE B
ERUEESN ZFEESREBIRETEOIAR
17218 BRFTEEREA 2 E1,0600k
- =Y E @R RIERE N E ST 498,139,800
WE - A TERIRABRR AT IR R NS HAY11,610M o

REBEFEAN  AEEEERTINEMELRE
FIFIE B #5218 - 2t 48 E 246,155,349k
FE RoT - FIEN2% : RHEAHEEL
2,406,237 - BT~ —FRE  REEEYE
R R 497,845,389 MF F A 7 h1 Ik £93,836,284
ME - DR ZFFH 4% RIEIN11% - HE
ZEZ=F+ZA=1+—H FEETEEEDE
AN AEE HofE  RABLEREEE20)K
B G R R ET R 88 D 4 & B 7008 - FEAET
SFARE EHABEE491,645KFLE o

REBEFEAN  AEENEVERAFNAEER
BBRAE ME TEREHEABNNERE
1,858,233,0007C * BT = ZFIEMN13% o £
FiRA N AIEB 8RR R 4% 997,636,000
T BT FENN28% o BAEIEZHK
BEEEBERMHRENSENEMEEERK
AT DBEMEEEFABEELEENEXR
B & -
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Major operating and financial data of the integrated biomass

utilisation segment for 2023 are summarised as follows:

R CEAYERANAO M TR E LR

BEEBHENT

Integrated biomass utilisation projects EYEHEEFAEER
On-grid electricity (MIW/h) TBEE EAE) 6,155,349 6,009,489
Biomass raw materials processing volume EMERMERE S (B)

(tonnes) 7,845,389 8,185,800
Household waste processing volume (tonnes) A4 &5 Bz 3R & (M) 3,836,284 3,457,231
Volume of steam supplied (tonnes) EAMES () 2,406,237 2,411,215
EBITDA (HK$'000) BRAS BB FER

B RN CEETT) 1,858,233 1,650,143
Segment net profit (HK$’000) DEFERRN BT oT) 997,636 777,214
Hazardous and solid waste treatment BEREEEE

The Group is principally engaged in the safe treatment and
integrated utilisation of wastes including general industrial solid
hazardous wastes and infectious animal
the Group conducts the disposal

incineration, landfill, physicochemical treatment and integrated

wastes, carcasses.

Currently, by way of
utilisation.

The Group is a leading industry player in the hazardous waste
treatment business, with capabilities for safely disposing of 44 out
of 46 categories of hazardous wastes listed in the National
Catalog of Hazardous Wastes. During the year under review, the
Group continued to explore the potential of the general industrial
solid waste electricity and heat cogeneration business. The Group
is well-positioned to fully meet various requirements of customers
on the back of its solid technical strengths and ability to provide
one-stop services.

AEBTENE-RITXERE EREY - WL
BYENLZ2REMNGENA - BATRANEE
TRAERRE  HE MEREMMRANMAE -

AEENCEREXRGEITEFUNRAIGE -
Az 2R E(ERBREN A A 46 BT
B44%E - W EERFE NARBIZTE — AR TXE R
REMEEXBEERES - HENRME 7 R —uh
AWRBENSAEET2EmESREFPTL -



Management Discussion and Analysis

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 51 hazardous
and solid waste treatment projects, distributed variously in 8
provinces and autonomous regions in China, which were mainly
located in Jiangsu Province, Shandong Province, Anhui Province,
Hubei
commanded a total investment of approximately RMB11.658
billion and an aggregate annual processing designed capacity of
approximately 2,466,000 tonnes.

Province, Zhejiang Province, etc. Such projects

During the year under review, the Group had 43 hazardous and
solid waste treatment projects that were in operation or

completed construction. For detoxification treatment,
approximately 360,922 tonnes of hazardous and solid waste were
treated in total, representing a decrease of 10% compared to
2022. For integrated 87,890 tonnes of

hazardous and solid waste were treated, representing an increase

resource utilisation,

of 174% compared to 2022, and approximately 21,436 tonnes of
recycled products were sold, representing an increase of 78%
compared to 2022. There were 3 hazardous and solid waste
treatment projects under construction with an aggregate annual
hazardous waste processing designed capacity of approximately

226,500 tonnes.

During the year under review, the Group’s hazardous and solid
waste treatment projects recorded loss before interest,
(“LBITDA”)
HK$428,162,000, representing an increase of 184% compared to

taxes,
depreciation and amortisation of approximately
2022. Hazardous and solid waste treatment projects recorded net
loss of approximately HK$752,752,000, representing a 3,040%
increase in loss compared to 2022. The increase in loss was
mainly due to the continued decline in the volume and price of
domestic hazardous and solid waste treatment market and the
continuous operating losses of some projects of the Company,
which led to the impairment losses on intangible assets, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
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Major operating and financial data of the hazardous and solid
waste treatment segment for 2023 are summarised as follows:

“EFREREERED M T BEL RN
BEEBHENT

Hazardous and solid waste treatment BTEREEEEEB

projects
Hazardous and solid waste processing EREREERES ()
volume (fonnes)
— Detoxification treatment — EELREE 360,922 399,047
— Integrated resource utilisation — BREGEEFNHE 87,890 32,089
Sales volume of recycled products (tonnes) — ER(LAIBERSEE (1) 21,436 12,058
On-grid electricity (MIWh) EREE OKRE) 22,069 6,362
Volume of steam supplied (tonnes) FAMEE () 677,272 8,146
EBITDA/(LBITDA) (HK$'000) BRAE - BIE - TER
RN (FH8)
(CEETT) (428,162) 488,557
Segment net loss (HK$'000) D ERFEE (B For) (752,752) (23,973)

Environmental remediation

The Group’s environmental remediation business covers mainly the
restoration of industrial contaminated sites, restoration of
contaminated farmland, ecological restoration for mines and
landfills, treatment of industrial gas emission, integrated treatment
of oil sludge, treatment of river and lake sediments and industrial
sludge, construction and operation of wetland parks, environmental
stewardship services and anti-seepage at landfill sites.

REEE

AEENRREEEFEIERET R SRGHE
B SREMEBE BLUMRBSEREBE T
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In connection with qualifications, as of 31 December 2023, the
environmental remediation companies under the Group held the
following accreditations: First-grade Professional Contracting
Quialification for Environmental Protection Projects, Second-Grade
Public Works, Third-Grade

Environmental

General Contractor for Municipal

General Contractor for Construction Works,
Engineering EPO License (Class B) (for pollution remediation and
prevention of water pollution), Environmental Pollution Control
License (Class A) (remediation of contaminated sites) in Jiangsu
(Class B)

in Jiangsu Province,

Province, Environmental Pollution Control License
(contaminated water body remediation)
General Contractor for Environmental Pollution Control License
(First Class) (remediation of contaminated sites) in Jiangsu
Province and General Contractor for Environmental Pollution

Control License (Second Class) (contaminated water body
remediation) in Jiangsu Province. It had also obtained an “AAA”
corporate credit rating given by a credit rating agency, as well as
ISO9001, OHSAS18001 1ISO14001
accreditations. In addition, the Group holds the China National
(CNAS)
qualification accreditation certificate which qualifies it to issue test
data and results to third parties as valid proof for certification

purposes.

and management system

Accreditation Services for Conformity Assessment

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had 17 environmental
remediation projects under implementation, which were mainly
located in Jiangsu Province, Anhui Province, Zhejiang Province
and Hubei Province respectively, with a total contract amount of
approximately RMB708 million. There was also 1 project in the
preparatory stage, with a total contract amount of approximately
RMB78 million.

During the year under review, the Group’s environmental
remediation projects contributed EBITDA of approximately
HK$29,960,000, representing an increase of 177% compared to
2022. Environmental remediation projects recorded net profit of
approximately HK$9,473,000, representing an increase of 224%
compared to the loss contribution for 2022. The increase in profit
was mainly attributable to pandemic control measures in force
during last year which affected the progress of project execution
and process of new project tenders.

EEHE HE-TE-_=F+-_A=+—H &
SEETRBEEAFRCAFERRIEBEERAD
— R THRARIREAB_H BEIEHET
BAB=R REIBRAZEILRCTREE
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Major financial data of the environmental remediation segment for
2023 are summarised as follows:

R -FRREEN NI EVBRIEREN

™

Environmental remediation projects RIEBEER

EBITDA (HK$'000)

BRAE - HIE - FER

BIERAN CEEFor) 29,960 10,831
Segment net profit/(loss) (HK$'000) DEFRF,(EE)
BB TFT) 9,473 (7,641)
Solar energy and wind power KXRBERRE

Apart from the County-wide Advancement Solar Project in Feng
County, as of 31 December 2023, the Group has 21 operating
and completed solar energy projects and 2 wind power projects
in operation distributed in Jiangsu Province, Anhui Province,
Shanxi Province, Hong Kong and Germany, respectively, involving
a total investment of approximately RMB1.45 billion and providing
an aggregate power generation designed capacity of 132.82 MW.
The Group is responsible for building, managing and operating
these projects and selling electricity generated to local power grid
companies.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s County-wide Solar Energy
Advancement Project in Feng County included 17 subsidiary
projects with a total investment of approximately RMB132 million
and an aggregate power generation designed capacity of 19.96
MW, of which 9 projects with an aggregate power generation
designed capacity of 18.23 MW were in operation, 1 project with
an aggregate power generation designed capacity of 100 kW
were under construction and 7 projects with an aggregate power
generation designed capacity of 1.63 MW were under
preparation.

REFEABRHEERBIN BE_T_=F
T-A=1t—8  XEEHB21EELNEKT
ITHRAREEEEAREAELHRAETIER 5
BIDMRITEHE LHE WAE FERE
CFRRIRE RN ARB1456ET - AR E
BEBATERIZRE2KE - AEEBEEE &
BREERLIRR YKENETHHERALRF -

HE-_ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—8 AEBFEFL
SARREGHHEBERE17EFIER - Z25EE
B RBEZEBOARE132(87 0 BRTEEER
WAE19.96KE - HFOFEBEEZAESE « B:%
TS EREAE18.23KE - 1EHEE ERNERR
B BT EEREAE100T R > 7EEE ER
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During the year under review, the Group’s solar energy and wind
power projects sold approximately 296,845 MWh of electricity,
representing a 16% increase compared to 2022. The projects
contributed EBITDA of approximately HK$188,338,000,
representing a 10% increase compared to 2022. Solar energy and
wind power projects contributed net profit of approximately
HK$80,315,000, representing a 29% increase compared to 2022.
This was mainly attributable to a lower fault rate for wind power
equipment during the year under review as compared to last
year.

Major operating and financial data of the solar energy and wind
power segment for 2023 are summarised as follows:
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REBEFEAN  AEENAREERRAEERD
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Solar energy and wind power projects KRBEERREREER
On-grid electricity (MIWh) FREE CKEE) 296,845 254,909
EBITDA (HK$'000) BRAE - BiE - TER

BRI BA CEEToT) 188,338 171,450
Segment net profit (HK$'000) D EBFRF) B Fr) 80,315 62,332
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Business prospects

In 2024, the Chinese government will persist in the keynote of
seeking progress in stability, ensuring stability through progress
and establishing new orders before removing old ones,
strengthening countercyclical and cross-cycle adjustment in its
macro-policies, and the domestic economy will be stabilising and
steering towards positive development, despite various challenges
facing the world economy and escalating conflicts in a number of
areas. In retrospect of 2023, the society and the economy
returned to normality and low-carbon green transformation was
gaining pace, as China made clear its objective to drive
qualitative economic development through green development,
taking the building of ecological civilisation to a new level. The
nation welcomed successive
ecological

Environmental

important milestones for its

environment sector: the National Ecological
Protection Conference was convened with the
systematic planning of “Six Major Tasks” in the full advancement
of the building of a Beautiful China; at the third meeting of the
Central Comprehensively Deepening Reforms Commission, the
Opinion on the Full Advancement of the Building of a Beautiful
China was considered and approved, confirming the goal of
building a Beautiful China should basically be achieved by 2035,
whereupon fundamental improvements in the ecological
environment will materialise through solid actions that tackle the
roots as well as symptoms of environmental problems; the
Measures for the Administration of Voluntary Greenhouse Gas
Emission Reduction Trades (Trial) were jointly promulgated by the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC and the State
Administration for Market Regulation, signifying the official
relaunch of the greenhouse gas voluntary emission reduction
trading system. In future, the environmental protection industry will
be focused on key areas such as new energy, new materials and

carbon reduction on an ongoing effort to enrich the industry.

RBERE
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In view of various uncertainties in the macro-economic landscape
and intense industry competition, the Group will actively seize
opportunities presented by national strategies and changes in the
industry and continue to develop new businesses to enrich its
business categories with a strong focus on clean energy. On top
of its integrated biomass utilisation business, the Group will
coordinate the waste-to-energy projects within the system and
develop new businesses such as distributed solar power, energy
storage and virtual power plant. The Group will construct a range
with the aid of digital
technologies and develop a nationwide green electricity trading

of “Zero-carbon Industry Parks”

platform. Meanwhile, the Group will also conduct active
investigation of high-quality biomass utilisation, such as biomass
gasification, biomass preparation of green methanol, among
others, to facilitate the transformation of the biomass plants in the
long term into a leading operator of green energy and Zero-
carbon Industry Parks and the largest biomass green electricity

trade operator in China.

The Group will continue to focus on its existing hazardous and
solid waste treatment projects, enabling more effective utilisation
of existing resources to increase project efficiency by adopting
measures to enhance the coordination and coupling ability of the
existing projects and improve quality and efficiency. The Group
will further enhance our project servicing capability to complement
upstream enterprises in the regions we serve with sound services,
while monitoring opportunities for recycling relating to the
extension of local industries, with a view to delivering greater
value for upstream enterprises. Our focus will be on new
technologies and business forms that offer strong synergy and
relevance to our existing businesses, such as ash recycling,
integrated utilisation of waste salt, waste mineral oil and
integrated utilisation of waste emulsified liquid, in an ongoing
effort to deepen integrated utilisation. Meanwhile, the Group will
coordinate the ash recycling business within the system to pursue
large-scale development of the ash recycling business, with the
aim of growing into a leading enterprise in industrial hazardous

and solid waste treatment in China.
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The Group will focus on the waste-to-energy projects within the
system, making intensive effort to identify resources available from
the locations of the waste-to-energy projects while focusing on
the expansion of its existing landfill restoration service, on the
basis of which, new energy business engineering projects relating
to solar energy and energy storage, among others, will be
developed. The Group aims to develop its environmental
remediation segment into a leading provider of environmental
remediation services in the domestic landfill business sector and

an integrated engineering enterprise.

Year 2024 marks the 75th anniversary of the founding of the
PRC. It is a critical year for the accomplishment of the goals and
missions for the “14th Five-Year Plan (“FYP”)”, as well as a year
in which the nation will start to plan for the key modernisation
targets and missions of the “15th FYP”. In ongoing adherence to
the corporate vision of “Create Better Investment Value and
Undertake More Social Responsibility”, the Group will actively roll
out and plan for integrated energy development with a forward-
looking perspective, working incessantly to contribute more

towards China’s ecological civilisation with the Everbright power.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial position

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total assets amounted to
approximately HK$39,757,424,000 (31 2022:
HK$39,156,376,000) with net assets amounting to approximately
HK$12,356,339,000 (31 December 2022: HK$13,534,285,000).
Net asset value per share attributable to equity shareholders of

December

the Company was HK$5.46, a decrease of 9% as compared to
HK$5.99 per share as at the end of 2022. As at 31 December
2023, the gearing ratio (total liabilities over total assets) of the
Group was 68.92%, an increase of 3.48 percentage point as
compared to that of 65.44% as at the end of 2022. The current
111.90%,
percentage point as compared to that of 137.31% as at the end
of 2022.

ratio of the Group was a decrease of 25.41
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Financial resources

The Group adopts a prudent approach on cash and financial
management to ensure proper risk control and lower the costs of
funds. It finances its operations primarily with internally generated
cash flow, proceeds from the issuance of medium-term notes and
bank loans. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and
bank balances of approximately HK$2,378,783,000, an increase
of approximately HK$375,490,000 as compared to
HK$2,003,293,000 at the end of 2022. Most of the Group’s cash
and bank balances were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi.

Indebtedness

The Group endeavours to develop a diverse range of financing
options and increasing banking facilities to reserve funds for the
development of its environmental protection business. As at 31
December 2023,
approximately HK$23,131,760,000, an increase of approximately
HK$2,395,235,000 as compared to HK$20,736,525,000 as at the
end of 2022. The borrowings included secured interest-bearing

the Group had outstanding borrowings of

borrowings of approximately HK$9,119,715,000 (31 December
2022: HK$8,654,292,000) and unsecured interest-bearing
borrowings of approximately HK$14,012,045,000 (31 December
2022: HK$12,082,233,000). The borrowings of the Group were
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars, representing
81% and 19% of the total respectively. The majority of the
Group’s borrowings were subject to floating rates. As at 31
December 2023, the Group had banking facilities of
approximately HK$24,910,746,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$25,342,733,000), of which approximately HK$6,884,254,000
(31 December 2022: HK$8,545,654,000) was unutilised. The tenor
of banking facilities ranged from 1 year to 18 years.
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Foreign exchange risks

The Company’s financial statements are denominated in Hong

Kong dollars, which is also the functional currency of the
Company. The Group’s investments made outside Hong Kong
(including Mainland China) may incur foreign exchange risks. The
Group’s operations have been predominantly based in Mainland
China, which makes up over 95% of its total investments and
revenue. The majority of the Group’s assets, borrowings and
major transactions are denominated in Renminbi, forming basically
a natural hedging effect. The Group closely manages its foreign
exchange risk through the optimal allocation of borrowings in
different currencies, moderate control of borrowings in non-base

currencies, and adoption of appropriate financial instruments.

Pledge of assets

Certain banking facilities of the Group were secured by certain
revenue rights, contract assets, intangible assets and receivables
in connection with the Group’s service concession arrangements,
bank deposits, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and equity interest of a subsidiary of the Group. As at 31
December 2023, the aggregate net book value of assets pledged
amounted to approximately HK$17,239,332,000 (31 December
2022: HK$19,430,554,000).

Commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had purchase commitments
of approximately HK$108,723,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$295,360,000) under the construction contracts and capital
commitments relating to capital injection in a joint venture of
approximately HK$27,195,000 (31 2022:
HK$27,935,000).

December

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (31 December 2022: Nil).

Tax relief and exemption

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s shares.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Service concession arrangements

The Group entered into Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”) and Build-
Operate-Own (“BOQ”) arrangements in respect of its projects.

The Group concluded that all the BOT arrangements and certain
BOO arrangements are service concession arrangements under
Hong Kong (International Financial
Committee) (“HK(IFRIC)”)

government controls and regulates the services that the Group

Reporting Interpretations

Interpretation 12, because the local

must provide with the infrastructure at a pre-determined service

charge. In respect of BOT arrangements, upon expiry of

concession right agreement, the infrastructure has to be

transferred to the local government at nil consideration.

Infrastructure for BOO arrangements is used in the service

concession arrangements for its entire or substantial useful life.
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The following chart sets forth a summary of the accounting
treatment for service concession arrangements and non-service
concession arrangements under Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”):

Projects with
guaranteed
revenue stream
HREURE N
BE

Projects fulfiling all of (1),
(2) and (3)
MREN) QR
EMIEE

QEER

CRITERIA %

(1) The grantor of the project

controls or regulates what
services we must provide with
the infrastructure, to whom we
must provide the service, and
at what price
HEMRREAZSREE RN
WAERERREZ RS - RS
HRARRBER

(2) The grantor of the project controls,

through ownership, beneficial
entittement or otherwise, any
significant residual interest in the
infrastructure at the end of the
service concession arrangement
or the infrastructure is used in the
service concession arrangement
for its entire useful life

HEB W ERFEAERBEFFLE
R EEE WA RE - BB
HiE - Eamdamsk H A%
B2 2 & AT ATz -
k% E 2B RIRS AT SRR
PR ERAFHAER

(3) The infrastructure is constructed

or acquired from a third party
for the purpose of the service
concession arrangement or
is an existing infrastructure of
the grantor of the project to
which we are given access
for the purpose of the service
concession arrangement

PR EL 3R Eh R BR S R R A
ZHEE) B M RR S B E =T
B HEZARMEENER
ABBEBEE - AR IR
TSR & T HER B R
LA

-

Projects with
non-guaranteed
revenue stream
BREWTH
BE

—

Other projects
HipER

Construction phase
ERREER

Statement of profit — construction revenue recognised

or loss

Bk

Statement of
financial position

MRS =

Cash flow
RemE

B RS s

— construction costs charged
EHBRRERAE

— finance income recognised

ERRM KA

- the consideration receivable for the
construction service is recognised as service
concession assets, which is an interest
bearing contract asset
T 32 46 AR 7% B FE UK (B HE R
NIRBEATREREE

- finance income receivable is classified as
service concession assets

R S MA D BB AT A E

— payment for construction costs is classified
under operating activities
BERAXNRASBELEEEET

- no cash flow effect for construction revenue
and finance income
HEERam R BRALERSTEY

R BANEE

Operation phase

EEER

— operation revenue (service fee received/
receivables less partial settlement of the
service concession assets recognised during
the construction phase) recognised
B RS & s (R R R B TR AR
BRARBRBEFCEREERER)

— finance income recognised

BHERMBKA

— service concession assets will be settled by
allocation of service fees received during the
operation phase
BRR 745 o ST A 4 4 K ZE G R OE B BRI R
BEREN

— service fee received is classified under
operating activities

BURBEERSBELEEFHET

3 SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENT
BR A 45 FF AR E R

SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENT
B A 45 R AT A 2 B

Construction phase
R B

Statement of profit — construction revenue recognised

or loss

BaR

Statement of
financial position

BN R

Cash flow

B E
— construction costs charged

BB EK A

receivable for the
recognised as

- the consideration
construction service is
intangible assets

RERERBOEEREBERIRBIVEAE

— payment for construction costs is classified
under investing activities
BEKAX NSRS BREREEHRET

- no cash flow effect for construction revenue
HEghanrEReREVE

Operation phase

BERR

— operation revenue (service fee received/
receivable) recognised
HERAE S ezt (B U TEMRTS B A)
— amortisation charge of intangible assets

BVAERHER

— intangible assets are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful life

T B E DATRGTHE A F PR IR L AR SR AR 5

— service fee received is classified under
operating activities

BEURBERSBEELEEHAT

NON-SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENT
3 B A 45 R AT A 2 B

Construction phase

BB

Statement of profit — nil
4=

or loss

BaR

Statement of
financial position

BATERR

Cash flow

— construction costs are capitalised as
construction in progress and classified under
property, plant and equipment
BERAERMERERIRIYSREDE
B R RBET

— payment for construction costs is classified
under investing activities

BEKAXNFRDBEERAEHRT

Operation phase

B

— operation revenue (service fee received/
receivable) recognised
ERREE s (Bl BRREEA)

— depreciation charge of property, plant and
equipment

¥ BERRENEER

— upon completion of the construction,
construction in progress is reclassified to the
relevant categories under property, plant and
equipment

BRERER  CEREEFOEEVE K
B RREEBERT

cost of the infrastructure is depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life

ERKAARHEAFREERELRE

is classified under

— service fee received
operating activities

BEURBERSBELEEHAT



As of 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 159 projects
had completed construction or commenced operation and 29
projects under construction, in which 54 integrated biomass
utilisation projects and 39 hazardous and solid waste treatment
projects are accounted for as service concession arrangements.
Most of the integrated biomass utilisation projects and some of
the hazardous and solid waste treatment projects are accounted
for as service concession arrangements. The construction
contracts for the biomass portion of our integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy projects and some of our hazardous and solid
waste treatment projects are recorded under “intangible assets”,
while the construction contracts for the waste-to-energy portion of
our integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects and some of
our hazardous and solid waste treatment projects are recorded
under “service concession assets”.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the construction
revenue recorded under intangible assets and service concession
assets for
arrangements during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022.

projects accounted for as service concession

Construction revenue recorded as additions to:
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INTERNAL MANAGEMENT

Strengthening corporate management is the cornerstone that
ensures efficient, healthy and sustainable development of an
enterprise. The Group has always upheld a “People-oriented,
Pragmatic, Creative and Systematic” management philosophy, as
it continues to develop and improve its management system and
mechanism with a special emphasis on fostering a corporate
management culture that encourages participation by all
employees, so as to enhance management awareness and

effectively raise its management standards.

In a bid to enhance the enterprise’s ability to generate benefit and
efficiency, the Group has robustly advanced the informatisation of
operations and management and extended the boundaries of
management to enhance the standardisation, sophistication and
systematisation of operational
information technology. Cost management awareness has been
strengthened and a long-term mechanism has been established,

management with the aid of

whilst cost reduction and efficiency enhancement initiatives have
been vigorously promoted. The Group continued to fortify its line
of defense against risks, as risk assessment was enhanced while
risk appetites were optimised, while management responsibilities
for safe production were ascertained to reinforce the bottomline
for safe production and compliant emissions, in order to improve
the level of informatisation in safe production as well as the
efficiency and magnitude of risk management.

During the year under review, the Group held meetings of the
Management Committee (the “Management Committee”) on a
monthly basis to conduct reviews on project investment,
preparation, construction and operation. It played its part as the
investment project review committee which effectively reviews
project investments and construction plans according to stringent
standards.
Committee actively deliberated on corporate strategies for

transformation and development and discuss important tasks of

In the meantime, members of the Management

the enterprise in a collective effort to drive the stable

development of the Group.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group strongly believes that staff represent the most
precious assets of the Company. With a strong emphasis on
opportunities for staff growth and development, the Group is
committed to fostering an environment in which all staff could
thrive with their strengths. The Group has also continued to
optimise human resources management, setting out clear
objectives for all business units to build, identify and groom
back-up teams and actively train and recruit technical and
management personnel for its new businesses. The respective
scopes of authority of the project companies, regional offices,
business management centres and headquarters in business
operation, human resources and appraisal were subject to
comprehensive streamlining as part of the effort to drive internal
management efficiency and human resource optimisation in
persistent adherence to the management philosophy of “target-
oriented operation and results-oriented staff appointment”.

The Group will continue to retain high-calibre staff and optimise
its mechanism for staff selection and appointment, enhancing
internal recommendation as well as in-house training while
stepping up with efforts to retain core personnel and broadening
the channels for staff selection and appointment to develop a
sound and diversified human resources management system. The
Group is also committed to the building of a workplace
characterised by diversity, inclusivity and mutual respect at work
for all employees and advocates the safeguarding of such
workplace through a relevant mechanism, under which everyone
is entitled to equal opportunities within the system and their job
positions. The Company also believes that the availability of
diverse talents is closely associated with corporate development,
and has been vigorously procuring talents from diverse
backgrounds and striving to foster a harmonious, inclusive and
diverse workplace for staff of different genders from different
ethnic, cultural or professional backgrounds. The Group provides
different types of training to identify staff potential on an ongoing
basis, with a special emphasis on enabling staff to grow with the
Company and share the benefits of its achievements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had an aggregate of 3,569
employees in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Total staff cost for
the year ended 31 December 2023 was HK$664,774,000 (31
December 2022: HK$693,956,000). Employees are remunerated
according to their qualifications, experiences, job nature and
performance, with reference to market conditions. Apart from the
discretionary performance bonus, the Group also provides staff
with other benefits such as medical insurance and mandatory
provident fund.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

When the Company commences its operations, it is always
subject to a lot of uncertainties in the process of achieving its
goals, from the setting of such goals to determining strategies
and the breakdown and implementation of such strategies. From
such point of view, the process of business operation is
essentially a process of risk management. The Group has always
placed a strong emphasis on risk management. During the year
under review, on the back of a comprehensive internal control
and risk management regime, the Group highlighted the
forward-looking qualities and effectiveness of risk control with
more attention on details. In the course of risk identification and
assessment, the Company based on the sections and areas in
which uncertainties could have an adverse impact on the
accomplishment of its goals, the relevant risks were categorised
according to the classification of the Company’s internal
functions. Feasible and effective risk mitigation measures were
implemented by improving the internal environment, enhancing
dissemination of information and conducting specific inspections,
among others, to address material risks which had been identified
and evaluated. Meanwhile, the effectiveness of risk control was
assessed on a regular basis and deficiencies were rectified in a
timely manner. Key risks associated with the development of the
Group’s environmental protection business during the year under
review included trade receivables, policy changes, strategic
transformation and market competition, production capacity
management, environmental compliance and safety
management, human resources and cost control, meanwhile,
special attention was paid to fraud risk. The Group has
incorporated ESG-related risks into the Company’s risk
management regime, and relevant details were allocated to major
risk categories to facilitate risk control based on the sections and
areas in which the accomplishment of corporate goals could be
affected. The Company places ongoing focus on global climate
change, in particular contingency plans and reasonable response
measures to address risks which might result from extreme
weather, actively participated in the national policies and
implementation measures for “carbon reduction” and “carbon
peak”, and making advanced arrangements and response
measures catering to higher mandatory emission standards for
enterprises that might be announced by the nation. Staff
development was facilitated by creating job opportunities and
incorporating the concepts of inclusivity and equality in the Staff
Handbook and human resources regime. In conjunction with the
Company’s business, it was sought to increase the income of
local farmers through the purchase and secondary processing of
straws, thereby facilitating rural revitalisation in genuine fulfiiment
of the Company’s social responsibility. For details of the impact of
climate change on the Company, please refer to the section
headed “Addressing Climate Change” in the 2023 Sustainability
Report of the Company, which will be uploaded to the respective
websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEX”)
and the Company by the end of April.
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The risk of trade receivables refers to the risk of incurring bad
debt losses that would affect the Company’s profit and solvency
owing to the failure to collect trade receivables in a timely
manner. With a strong emphasis on trade receivable
management, the Group has announced and implemented the
Measures for the Management of Trade Receivables and
conducts regular analyses on the overall profile of trade
receivables, on the basis of which specific call targets and plans
have been formulated to ensure reasonable trade receivable
turnover periods and the effective implementation of a mechanism
for collection. Appraisals of trade receivable collection have also
been conducted to effectively implement the clear-up of trade
receivables. Regular analysis reports on trade receivable
collection, including reports on ageing management and analysis
management, have been prepared. Cross-checking with clients
has been conducted on a quarterly basis to facilitate examination
of trade receivables. Regarding commercial customers, continuous
improvements to customer credit check have been made and a
management model has gradually been formed for screening prior
to granting credit, supervision during the granting process, and
designated tracking after granting. Flexibility in credit policies and
call strategies are afforded in relation to different customers and
instant adjustments have been made to reduce the probability of
bad debt. Where necessary, legal means are employed to assure
the collection of trade receivables. We also actively register such
debts with local governments with a view to recovering our trade
receivables under the auspices of relevant national policies. The
Company has consistently placed a strong emphasis on the
payout of national tariff subsidies and has actively liaised with
relevant authorities to gain insight into the latest policy direction
and procure payout of national tariff subsidies as soon as
practicable.

connection with national tariff subsidies that cannot be received in

In the meantime, plans have been made in
full in the short term. On the one hand, we seek to increase
operating cash flow from the projects to maintain secure liquidity
through our own earnings. On the other hand, the Company
seeks to broaden our financing channels and means to enhance
its financing ability and increase its cash reserve to address the
requirements of new business development. Meanwhile we are
also investigating ways to be engaged in financial products in
order to cash in on trade receivables as soon as practicable
through financial means.
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The risk of policy changes refers to the risk of failure to

respond to adjustments in national policies, tightened
requirements in environmental emissions and changes in business
models in a timely and effective manner resulting in an adverse
impact on the business of the Group. The Group has been
closely monitoring adjustments to national environmental policies
and has been actively involved in advancing national strategies
and macro-policies in tandem with the requirements of national
development strategies and environmental policies and prudent
investment principles, making adjustments to its development
approach in response to changes in environmental policies. The
Group has also furnished advice and suggestions to relevant
policy-making authorities through industry associations and expert
teams, in a bid to ensure that the actual conditions and needs of
the industry would be taken into consideration by the nation in its
policy formulation. The Group has conducted in-depth and
detailed analysis on national industrial development strategies and
made pre-emptive moves in project deployment to explore new
business frontiers in response to national macro-control measures
and specific policies on the environmental industry. The Group
seizes development opportunities by employing innovative
business models, in order to accomplish the stated objective of
sustainable development. The Company closely monitors policies
on the carbon market and their changes whilst enhancing data
quality management, in order to prepare itself for carbon audit

and ultra-low emission upgrades.
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The risk associated with strategic transformation and
market competition refers to the inability to validly analyse and
reasonably estimate the extent of market clarity and industrial
development trends, or the inability to identify new business
investment / engage in new business development / commence
investment at the right timing owing to errors in market research.
The inability to formulate development strategies and explore new
businesses for the Company in a timely manner in response to
the trends of climate change could result in the Company’s
missing out on business opportunities. Inadequacies in financial
feasibility estimates or unreasonable setting of operating
conditions and boundary conditions during the stage of business
development could result in inaccurate estimates of financial
indicators and return rates, thereby affecting the financial income
of the Company, inability to arrive at an effective
assessment of technical feasibility could affect the Company’s
overall investment or financial income. The Group has refrained
from unwarranted expansion, investment with insignificant profit
return and low price competition and has optimised its project
evaluation system and procedure with the establishment of the
investment project review committee, which conducts examination
on investment project risks to enhance the quality of investment
project evaluation and strengthen risk management prior to
investment in projects. The Group places a strong emphasis on
building partnerships and engaging in friendly information sharing
with leading fellow enterprises in the industry to closely monitor
movements and trends in the industry. Market information is
generated on a regular basis to facilitate comprehensive
monitoring and analysis of competitors, market status, market
investment information, national policies and regulations, status of
industry development, frontier developments in technology and
organisational management, among others. Internal information
such as the regular monthly report on market development
information and the annual industry analysis report and national
market investment guide are prepared. Relevant competition
strategies are formulated on a regular basis according to market
trends. Regular meetings are held for project companies to
facilitate information-sharing and put together different ideas.
Reference materials in the forms of minutes, documents and
special-topic publications are provided to relevant departments for
studying and to the management as reference for
decision-making. The Company has further incorporated
sustainability principles into its corporate development strategy to
guide investment and development with the sustainability strategy,
whilst closely monitoring new developments in the low-carbon
and circular economy sectors.

or the
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The risk associated with production capacity management
refers to the inability of projects to operate at their design
capacity owing to inadequacies in the ability to design, construct
and operate projects, or inadequate research or the selection of
sites in regions subject to greater pressure in terms of certain
types of resources resulting in rising costs for resource acquisition
or insufficient supply, which could affect investment returns. The
Company continues to enhance information collection and

increase the volume of information collection, storage and
allocation during the stages of project development, design,
construction and operation, especially information regarding the
tenders and price-bidding of medium to large waste-generating
enterprises, in order to maximise the core client base for the
projects and safeguard the stable production and long-term
development of the projects. The Company has upgraded its
project technologies and competence in materials research and
development as well as increased technological input to gradually
enhance its ability to handle sophisticated materials, so as to
broaden the scope for

technical competence. The Group has also continued to promote

utilising project capacities through

the experience of advanced projects to enhance the standard of
project construction and operation, while driving technological
innovation and motivating staff vigour to lower operating cost and
increase market competitiveness by improving our operating
efficiency, thereby ensuring the full utilisation of project capacity.
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The risk associated with environmental compliance and
safety management can be distinguished into the risk
associated with environmental compliance and the risk associated
with safety management. The risk associated with environmental
compliance refers to the risk of exceeding environmental emission
limits, safety incidents and adverse external conditions resulting in
an adverse impact on project construction and operation. Such
risks involve ESG-related elements, such as governments at
various levels tightening emission standard requirements owing to
environmental and climate change, resulting in rising costs. The
risk of safety management refers to the risk of safety liability
incidents occurring as a result of deficiencies in the safety
management regime, imperfections in the safety management
system and ineffective implementation of safety management
measures. It also refers to the inability to address extreme
weather (such as torrential rain, flood and heat wave, etc) in a
proper manner and the exposure of staff working under extreme
cold / hot conditions resulting in the loss of property and injury or
fatality of staff. The Group has persisted in work design
optimisation, stringent quality control over project construction
and efficiency upgrade for equipment in a bid to enhance project
management standards. The Group has also exercised stringent
control over emission indicators. The Group has consistently
procured the project companies to commence requisite
technological upgrades and has developed a centralised
environmental information platform and appointed qualified
third-party inspection bodies to conduct environmental monitoring
according to plans. The Group has continued to disclose the
environmental emission data of its waste-to-energy projects in a
proactive move to subject itself to the supervision of the general
public. The Group has upheld the principle of “safety comes first
in development” and continued to improve, as well as resolutely
and consistently implement, its safety management regime in
fulfillment of its responsibility in safety management. We have
continued to advance the development of the dual prevention
mechanism comprising tiered safety risk control and hazard
inspection and treatment to stringently implement the Company’s
safety and environmental management system and procure due
supervision, inspection and rectification. We have organised the
preparation of emergency plans in response to high temperature,
torrential rain and flood and the conduct of annual emergency
drills at all projects. The Group has conducted itself in strict
accordance with the environment, safety, occupational health and
social responsibility (“ESHS”) management regime with consistent
implementation of the “Standard Operating Procedure” (SOP) and
formulation of contingency plans for accidents. Safety inspections
within the system have been conducted monthly and quarterly to
identify and eliminate safety hazards and avoid safety liability
incidents. The Group has also conducted numerous sessions of
safety training for the learning of safety management knowledge
and enhancement of safety risk awareness, with a view to
curbing any potential risks at source and improving its safety
management standards. Property and liability insurances have
been purchased based on the specific conditions of individual
projects to transfer the risks as necessary.
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The risk associated with human resources refers to the
insufficiency of existing staff backup capacity or establishment for
important functions and positions, or inability to recruit sufficient
management and technical personnel (especially the recruitment
of technology team leaders) and experienced staff, or improper
staff appointment and placement or the departure or change of
personnel at certain key positions and inability to locate suitable
replacements in a short time, or decisions to select and promote
personnel being affected by factors such as family duties, gender
or race, resulting in the suspension and slowdown of work that
affects the fulfiment of the Company’s strategic and operating
goals. The Group closely monitors market developments such as
national and local policies and laws and regulations, market
demand, competition and market resources while formulating
corporate systems and making amendments to relevant plans to
provide more favourable assurance through the system for the
selection, training and retention of staff. Stronger support was
rendered to staff recruitment, such as investigating recruitment
needs, conducting accurate analyses and adopting the right
measures to solve difficulties in recruitment, in order to ensure the
timely and effective recruitment of talents with the right calibre,
thereby assuring the normal production and operation of the
Company. To facilitate retention of incumbent staff, training
programmes are organised alongside a variety of team
development activities. We enhance staff sense of belonging as
well as staff unity and solidarity by showing our concern for their
well-being in various aspects. The Company has established and
consistently implemented an employment system underpinned by
the principle of equality to eliminate any discrimination in
employment and improve job opportunities for females. We
adhere to the policy of diversity in our recruitment.
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The risk associated with cost control refers to investment
overruns for projects owing to inadequate control over the
execution of work budgets, or rising costs owing to rising prices
for the acquisition of raw materials prices or inadequacies in
operating ability. The Group has made ongoing efforts to enhance
standardisation of work sites by consistently substantiating its
suppliers’ list to enable selection of high-calibre partners while
exercising reasonable control over budgets and cost estimation.
During the year, the Group enhanced depth and quality of the
feasibility research report to closely integrate with the design
tasks, so as to increase the accuracy of budget estimations. The
mutual furnishing of information between the equipment
manufacturers and the design institutes has been expedited, while
the information supply sequence among various equipment was
internally clarified to facilitate the streamlining and implementation
of the accountability system for incorporation into the appraisal.
The Company has been actively expanding the scope of suppliers
and enhanced communication with them. Suppliers are selected
through competitive means such as open tendering to reduce
work cost estimates and the cost of raw material procurement. A
specialised operational technical team has been established to
solve operational deficiencies in a timely manner, with a view to
achieving cost reduction by enhancing operational standards and
maintaining long-term, stable and continuous operation.

The risk of fraud refers to loss incurred by the Company as a
result of deliberate fabrications by the Company’s employees to
gain from the Company’s properties by fraud, or as a result of
credulousness towards fake matters. The Group has always put a
strong emphasis on the prevention of fraud-related risks and has
organised precautionary education sessions and sharing of legal
cases to enable employees to clearly understand the serious legal
consequences of committing fraud, so as to reduce the possibility
of fraud by making employees subjectively discouraged from
committing such act, In the meantime, standardised processes
are being rigorously implemented at the Company such that all
activities of the Company are subject to stringent supervision to
avoid loss arising from loopholes in the systems or procedures,
such that even if employees were deceived by third parties, no
damage will be easily caused to the Company from an objective
point of view.
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The Group has incorporated ESG-related risks into the risk
management regime of the Company. Following the process of
risk identification and assessment, such risks are included in the
aforesaid scope of major risk control. For example, in the control
of risks associated with strategic transformation and market
competition, the Group focused on sustainability and concerned
with new developments in the low-carbon and circular economy
sectors, with a view to driving the Company’s strategic
transformation and enhancing its market competitiveness. The
Group is also concerned with the impact of global climate change
and extreme weather on the announcement of new national
policies and act in advance to address risks associated with
policy change. To prevent environmental safety risks caused by
extreme weather, the Group has actively formulated and
implemented emergency plans and regular drills, as well as taken
out insurance for such amount and at such timing as required.
The Group has established and stringently implemented an
employment system underpinned by equality, adopted recruitment
measures conducive to diversity, increased job opportunities for
females and enhanced care and assistance for staff to foster a
sound context for human resources. In connection with
ESG-related risk management, the Group has improved the
Company’s risk management standard, and our practicable
control measures have effectively reduced the possibility of
relevant risks materialising and would minimise any loss if such
risks do materialise.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MANAGEMENT

The Group has continued to make improvements to its ESHS
management system, driving ongoing upgrades in the external as
well as internal management of environment, safety and
occupational health, among others, and improving systematic,
regulated and delicacy management to maximise control over
relevant risks and eliminate management deficiencies.

In 2023, the Group was focused on the objective of “safe
production and compliant emission” as it persisted in the
principles of “control at source, preemptive prevention and
systematic treatment”. In connection with safety management, our
work was focused on risk management and implemented on the
basis of leadership abilities in safety matters and safety culture
through improving competence as well as
supervision and inspection work. The standard of inherent safety
has been improved with the benefit of protective measures
facilitated by new technologies and augmented “digital-intelligent”
engineering technology. Regarding environmental management,
national and local directives, policies, laws, regulations and
standards pertinent to environmental protection have been
acquired and implemented in a timely manner, while ongoing
efforts have been made to enhance process supervision and
preemptive warning and procure rigorous implementation of
responsibilities and measures.

initiatives for

The performance of the operations and environmental services of
the Group’s projects are gauged in strict adherence to relevant
standards and requirements of their respective environmental
impact assessment reports, taking into account the expectations
of the neighboring communities. Major laws, regulations and
standards applicable to the Group’s projects include the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Standard for
Pollution Control on the Municipal Solid Waste Incineration
(GB18485—2014), Directive 2010/75/EU and its relevant Annexes/
Amendments, the Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Thermal
Power Plants (GB13223-2011), the Standard for Pollution Control
on Hazardous Waste Landfills (GB18598-2019) and the Standard
for Pollution Control on Hazardous Waste Incineration (GB18484—
2020), among others. No breach of the said laws and regulations
and environmental protection standards resulting in significant loss
for and impact to the Group was recorded in 2023.
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TtEERRS

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group believes that maintaining sound and high standards of
corporate governance is not only a key element in safeguarding
the interest of the Shareholders but also creating long term value
for all relevant stakeholders by enhancing the corporate value,
accountability and transparency of the Group.

The Group has constantly reinforced its internal control, risk
prevention and management, corporate governance through a set
of rules and regulations. The Group strives to inculcate the
corporate governance, risk management and sustainable
development concept into the Company’s operation and business
for cultivating the strong backup to the breakthrough

development of the Company’s business.

The Group understands that corporate governance and ESG
performance is a good reflection of the management capability of
a company, including its performance in dealing with
risks or impacts. Good corporate

is not only a prerequisite for the effective

environmental and social
governance
management of ESG issues, but also provides the cornerstone
needed to manage environmental and social risks, so as to
ensure that accountability is undertaken and fulfilled seriously by
the senior management of a company. The Board emphasises in
creating long-term sustainable growth for Shareholders and

delivering long-term value to all stakeholders.

The Board has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules as the
code for corporate governance practices of the Company. The
Company had complied with all the applicable code provisions set
out in Part 2 of the CG Code during the year of 2023, except for
the following deviation with the reason explained below:
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CODE PROVISION F.2.2 OF PART 2 OF THE CG (¥ E AR E — o FRHEN E
CODE F.2.21%

Code Provision F.2.2 of Part 2 of the CG Code stipulates that the ({(PZEEASTRINE — 2D 2 TGS EF.2. 2168
chairman of the board should attend the annual general meeting. F @ ZEEZ@TFFELERRBAFEFAG EFST
Mr. HUANG Haiging, the chairman of the Board, was unable to FESBELEREMEERELE T -_=ZFH
attend the AGM held on 23 May 2023 (the “2023 AGM”) due to A Z+=BREITZBRRAFAE ([ZT=_=FRK
his other business engagement. Mr. LO Kam Fan, the Executive HREFAE]) RITEERMFAEERSLL
Director and Chief Financial Officer, was appointed to chair the HEZEEFIH T -_="FREFFAE -

2023 AGM.

o

Composition and nomination

HERR KRR

Audit and risk oversight
ERLAREE

O

Leadership and independence

EE B RIBM
o

ﬂ ﬂ Remuneration
Responsibilities o

B

@ AN EI;;;%;;%OARD @

Corporate culture Shareholders’ rights and AGM

NGNS AR AR A FERE
Road map to achieve an effective Board
EESRESEENEEE
1. CORPORATE CULTURE 1. 2Rt
Everbright Greentech has all along been adhering to the RRGERR - BEFRAEEERIRER - £
corporate mission of “Devoted to Ecology and Environment EXBEFRHINCEERMEEEZIRE
for a Beautiful China” and the corporate vision of “Creating BE REEZHEeRECINCERES @ B
Better Investment Value and Undertaking More Social TEBE BRE - BFE BalF - BE
Responsibility”, and practising the core values of corporate G BOE - -BEH - BEETHNZLEE
with sentiments, quality, characteristics, innovation, bottom o

line, reputation, vitality and responsibility.
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Everbright Greentech has formally adopted the Everbright
Group Culture (the “Everbright Culture”) as the corporate
culture of the Company, which has been formally
disseminated to all employees. Staff is the valuable asset of
the Company. In order to collect opinions from employees
at the headquarters and project companies, the Company’s
headquarters together with CEEGL organized anonymous
employee’s opinion surveys, covering the system
management of the Company, staff welfare and training,
etc. During the year, the Group also completed inspections
on administrative and human resources of more than 40
project companies, which included questionnaires, and
extensive exchanges with the management, middle-level and
staff representatives of project companies, etc. In addition,
CEEGL held a seminar for grassroots employees at its Hong
Kong headquarters, on which the representatives of
grassroots employees at the Company’s Hong Kong
headquarters actively offered views and suggestions on the
Company’s restructuring and development, cost reduction
and efficiency enhancement and corporate culture based on
their department work, job positions and personal growth.
The management would listen to their views and
suggestions to reconsider or adjust its operational and
management thinking to formulate management regimes
and systems which are compatible with its corporate
development, so as to promote the spirit of the Everbright
Culture. Employees may also make formal reports to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee through various
whistleblowing channels. The Board acknowledges that a
healthy corporate culture is the core of sound governance
and that the Everbright Culture is a corporate culture that
will assist the Company in its pursuit of success. As an
environmental protection enterprise, the Company’s
business is closely related to the development and
promotion of ESG. The formal and well-established
sustainability strategies and objectives, together with various
financial incentives for promoting the development of the
Company’s business, safety, technology and staff, not only
provide the Company a clear direction, but also fulfil the
Everbright Culture pragmatically.

RAZBRRE EARA L AEE XL
(AR DERARREEXL X E
EXTETFTRRBETL -BEIDNARANE
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RARRFEEEEMEFERE TEHKE -
ARAmEBEEBNEEE TRRES M
TE - ABIRAMEAKE - BEARER
TR BRAIRN - ECETEEBEEES
B - EEERRBREFNER i 85
ZELAABRBELEREERE  HENSERA
AERNEENERBR  HEEIXAE
B BIMAIEASRERRENEZNR
REREREZE@EARBKR -EF2RA
EEMNEEXEEREEANZL - TR
AR AL 7] i B AR BB SRECTh B 1
XL - tER—REREE - ARFNER
HIRE - HEgMEANERAMEERSHE
B EXS AN FERRRKER
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Corporate Culture

1 344

% Home Culture
KEXE

To foster at Everbright Greentech a cradle
for growth, a support for the pursuit of
dreams and a shelter for rest for every
employee in Everbright Greentech, a
“Heartwarming Home” based on the ideal
of “One Everbright”.

EARGERERBFENAEERERAS
RERIEE - B2NIH - BRENBE - U
[—EXRIRER - BEDREFE] -

% Sunshine Culture
f& e 324k

To build a sunshine workplace ecosystem
underpinned by an ethos of mutual
appreciation and for bearance that provides
robust support as Everbright Greentech
takes on new challenges.

BRASERENE HERTNBHME -
BRI ERE - BERFERFRDER
BRI A E

% Culture of Undertaking
’EXL

To quest for “First-rate Quality and
Excellence” with a venturous spirit and
forge first-rate enterprises, products and
management.

MBI = — Bk E MBS - PR
O BEIREE . —RERNORER -

% Business Culture
SEXt

To drive corporate development on the
basis of modern business culture and
ethics to ensure that Everbright Greentech
becomes a well-trusted and respected
enterprise in market competition as well as
cooperation.

SRR EEAMERR B DERR
FEIAFEBRRETSHFRAFPRAER
B - BAERHEMDRE -
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Sustainability Strategy

AR R

Safe Production

REEE

1. Optimising the safety management regime
TERREERAR

2. Reducing the risk of accident and work injury
FEEIN R TERE R

Green Recycling

FBER

1. Advancing pollution and carbon reduction
HEAER) 5 P Ak T4

2. Increasing the consolidated resource
utilisation rate
REERGEETAE

3. Tracking developments in the circular

economy
BHMBIRC R M

Stable Supply

REMHE

1. Optimising supply-chain management
TEEHEHEER

2. Optimising feedstock mechanism
e WORHE

3. Controlling cost efficiency

PRI AN R an

Technological Development

BREBRE

1. Advancing technological innovation
HEER AT

2. Enhancing existing project technologies
FRFER A H B Bl

3. Driving informatisation-based
transformation

BREMCER

Employee Development

BT®E

1. Fostering culture of diversity of the Group
BEAREEZ T

2. Facilitating development of employees
potential
ERETERE

3. Enhancing appeal to talents
#5g A K55
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The specific indicators or measures proposed to assess and
monitor the promotion of each corporate culture are set out
in the Company’s 2023 Sustainability Report, such report
will be published at the same time as the posting of this
Annual Report and will be uploaded on the “CSR” column
of the Company’s website homepage and on the website of
HKEX.

By promoting the Everbright Culture, the Company
managed to offset approximately 2,105,000 tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent emissions in 2023. The Company
believes that effective response to ESG and economic
challenges is the foundation for the long-term success of a
company. It directly enables the Company to transform its
business, to build up an environment, resources, energy,
climate four-in-one carbon neutral comprehensive service
provider, and to achieve excellent and long-term financial
performance that are in line with the national long-term plan
of Dual Carbon strategy.

Board Meetings

During the year of 2023, the Board held 4 meetings. In
addition to Board meetings, the Chairman held 1 meeting
with Independent Non-executive Directors without the
presence of Executive Directors and Non-executive
Directors. The Board has considered, approved, reviewed
and/or formulated the matters summarised below, including
but not limited to:

° Financial results of the Company;

° Reports and recommendations from the Board
committees;

° Announcements/reports for publication, including
release of interim and annual report and sustainability
report;

° Declaration of interim dividend;

° Proposals regarding the Directors’ emoluments
proposed at the 2023 AGM;

ERIERERSEEXVLESBERNOA
BESIERCIENARAR T _=F
AREERMEN  ZWMEBRTIBEARF
HERE T W EHEARFPHEETA
[MEEE] WP -

REWIEAUE  RZTZ=F - ARFA]
FRIIKEH T — AT E EHF 492,105,000
Mg o RRRRA - AREHERE HERE
AMEERBREERENINER &
BEMREARBEEREBEL - TEK
R—FXRR AR BR REMOAEZ—
B2 MVt AR A IRFS LB R - BIHEFS
REMNMBRE - BEKFT THOTEH]E
B REMRILBRTT

ExEE3

R-ZB-_=ZFER EFTEHRTTI4RE
& BREFEERI  TREFIIIFNTE
ERMTIRRTESIIFRTESRENS
#oERRCHYE  HUE - R SGE
MWEIE - BT (BHRETRR)

s  AKRARHHERE

o EIRFHIEE

s RIZF_=ZFERRAFAETEZR
MEFNE 22



Re-election of Directors at the 2023 AGM,;

The effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and
risk management systems for the year of 2023;

The Board evaluation result of 2022;

Profit warning announcement;

Application for registration with the National Association
of Financial Market Institutional Investors in the PRC
and proposed issuance of multiple types of debt
financing instruments;

Issuance of first tranche and second tranche of 2023
Green Medium-term Notes;

Connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions;

The implementation and effectiveness of the policies in
the Shareholders Communication Policy;

Adoption of the new Articles of Association of the
Company;

Adoption of the Environmental, Social and Governance
(ESG) Data Management Measures of the Company;

Adoption of the Nature-related Policy;

Investment transactions and equity transfers;

The adequacy of the Company’s relevant resources,
staff qualifications and experience, and training
programmes received by staff and budgets in
accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions
and the Company’s ESG performance and reporting;
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° Any possible improprieties raised out through the
Whistleblowing Policy; and

° Training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management.

At least 14 days’ notice prior to the date of regular Board
meetings is given to all Directors and an agenda together
with Board papers are sent to all Directors no less than 3
days before the date of meeting. All Directors are given
opportunity to include in the agenda any other matter that
they would like to discuss in the meeting. With respect to
the Board committee meetings, reasonable prior notice is
given to all committee members. All Directors and Board
committee members are urged to attend the Board
meetings and Board committee meetings in person. For the
Directors and committee members who are unable to
attend the meeting in person, participation through
electronic means will be arranged and available.

Should a Director have a potential conflict of interest in a
matter being considered in the Board meeting, he/she will
be abstained from voting. Independent Non-executive
Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at
meetings dealing with such conflict of interest issues.

When approving a connected transaction, apart from the
fairness of the agreement terms, the Independent
Non-executive Directors also consider the commercial
rationale and the benefits brought by the proposed
transaction to the business of the Group.

o EB(EREESIE)RLNEMER
TEER: R
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Attendance Records of Meetings and Trainings of CEC=FARPREEHEEERIE
Directors of the Company in 2023 70 8%

The attendance records of each Director at the meetings of TXHENESEEHE_T - =-F+= A
the Board, Audit and Risk Management Committee, —t+t—BIFERESTE ELNERE
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and the BLZE8®  FHEEw  REEZETEE
AGM during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out h%ﬂiﬁ@%ﬁfaﬂﬁ :

below:

Board Committees Meetings Attendance

HEESZEEE:;
Audit and Risk
Management Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors Meeting" Meeting" Meeting Meeting™ AGM®
ExEe ERRERER FHEES REEES RRBF
ESHR 80 ZEEER 280 280 REgn
HUANG Haiging 2/4 C 1/1 C 0/1
=5
QIAN Xiaodong 4/4 M 0/0 M 1/1
2R
LO Kam Fan 4/4 M 1/1
ZHU Fugang 4/4 M 1/1
K48
GUO Ying 1/4 M 1/1
EIE
SONG Jian 4/4 M 1/1
RAIR
CHOW Siu Lui 4/4 M 3/3 C 0/0 M 11 M 1/1
;Z
Philip TSAO 4/4 M 3/3 M 0/0 C 11 M 1/1
BRE
YAN Houmin 3/4 M 3/3 M 0/0 M 11 M 1/1
BER
Remarks: BT
Board and Board Committees Membership: EFEEREFLZEEKE
C — Chairman C— x%
M — Member M — K8
Note: ik

(1) Number of meetings attended/held. (1) HE/BITEHRRE-
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During the meetings, Independent Non-executive Directors,
based on their respective expertise and experience as well
as the perspectives of minority Shareholders, actively
brought out valuable opinions and queries in order to allow
the Board to have comprehensive analysis and decisions on
each matter. According to the Board evaluation results in
2023, it was recognised that the Directors had been able to
seek external independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances to assist them in the performance of their
duties as reasonably required, had made significant
contribution to the Board by actively participating in the
Board and committees meetings and had provided
independent, constructive and well-founded opinions.

To keep the knowledge and skills of the Board members
up-to-date and to ensure effective guidance, direction and
monitoring of the Company’s affairs, according to the Board
evaluation results in 2022, on behalf of the Board, the
Company Secretary has arranged practical training with the
title of “Digital Intelligence Technology to Facilitate the
Construction and Operation of Virtual Power Plants on the
Cloud” offered to the Directors by the power industry of
Alibaba Cloud, and also arranged to provide the Board with
training on the subject of business ethics for listed
companies prepared by Hong Kong Business Ethics
Development Centre, which is set up by the Independent
Commission Against Corruption of Hong Kong (“ICAC”).
Apart from the above, the Directors have also read the
consultation document on climate disclosure under the ESG
framework of the HKEx and watched the short video of the
webinar on “Impact of International Financial Reporting
Sustainability Disclosure Standards on Listed Companies
and Recommendations for Action” jointly organised by the
specialised ESG committee of China Association for Public
Companies and Emst & Young Hua Ming LLP (Special
General Partnership). They have also read regulatory or legal
updates and other materials pertinent to Directors’ duties
and responsibilities, including the Independent Non-
executive Directors: An Introduction to Roles and
Responsibilities published by HKEx in November 2023. To
meet the expectations and practical needs of the Directors,
the Company Secretary has obtained the views of the
Directors through a questionnaire and has consolidated their
views, which will be progressively advanced as appropriate.

EEFL BUFATESRESANE
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REEEEAMENR BRSEZFGHY
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Records of training received by each existing Board
member in 2023 are summarised below:

Name of Directors EENA
HUANG Haiging =85
QIAN Xiaodong SRBE R
LO Kam Fan =7 3
ZHU Fugang KR
GUO Ying CiIg |
SONG Jian KRR
CHOW Siu Lui EN
Philip TSAO BRE
YAN Houmin BER

Remarks:

A — Attending seminar(s)/forum(s) and/or giving talk(s).
B — Reading materials.

C — Attending corporate event(s)/visit(s).

Taking an Active Interest in the Company’s Affair

Other than attending the Board meetings, committee
meetings and AGM, the Directors also take an active
interest in the Company’s affairs and obtain a general
understanding of its business. The Executive Directors
frequently visit the project companies and personally
scrutinise their operations and internal controls.

Communication is critical to good governance. The valuable
recommendations contributed by each Board committee
have received serious attention by the Board and the Board
takes proactive actions to put the recommendations in
place. All the 3 Independent Non-executive Directors made
practical recommendations in facilitating the Board to focus
on ESG-related risks and opportunities. In the 2023 Board
evaluation, 3 Independent Non-executive Directors made
practical and critical opinions on how to assist the Board in
taking more climate-related action more quickly.
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In January 2024, Mr. CHOW Siu Lui,
Non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit and

Independent

Risk Management Committee, and Prof. YAN Houmin,
Independent Non-executive Director and the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee since 9 February 2024, visited the
Company’s Lianshui Biomass Electricity and Heat
Cogeneration project in Jiangsu Province, as well as the
King’s Luck, the Company’s first “Zero-carbon Industry
Park”. The two Directors had an in-depth understanding of
the operation and business development of the project and
made several comments, including the collection and
application of ESG data, as well as the dissemination of the
results of the project company’s ESG work, etc.

In line with the legal and regulatory development and
investor’'s expectations, the Company has established a
regulatory framework for sustainable development. The
Sustainability Committee with terms of reference is chaired
by the Chief Executive Officer with 3 Independent
Non-executive Directors as members. Members of the
committee have direct access to the latest development in
the Company’s operations and talent cultivation in the
meeting. From the perspective of sustainable development,
each Independent Non-executive Director, with their
knowledge and experience, can provide the management of
the Company with more pertinent and directional advice to
help the Company manage risks and capture opportunities.
In 2023, the Sustainability Committee reviewed the 2022
Sustainability Report and discussed the latest information on
ESG disclosure requirements and progress on the Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”), and
also considered and accepted the Nature-related Policy.

According to the assessment of the Nomination Committee,
our Directors are able to devote sufficient time and effort to
perform their duties, despite some of them are holding
multiple directorship positions or important tasks in
universities.
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Policies and Procedures

The Company adopted and implemented a series of policies
and procedures to ensure the good corporate governance
is maintained, including but not limited to Risk Management
Policy, Policy and Procedures on Disclosure of Inside
Information, Whistleblowing Policy and Shareholders
Communication Policy. Those policies and procedures are
reviewed and monitored periodically.

Policy and Procedures on Disclosure of Inside
Information

To enhance the awareness of the specified procedures of
handling inside information and the importance of
compliance with the regulations of insider dealing, the
Board has formally adopted the Policy and Procedures on
Disclosure of Inside Information which contains the
guidelines to the Directors and the relevant employees,
including certain employees of the Company, certain
directors or employees of its subsidiaries (the “Relevant
Employees”) to ensure that the inside information of the
Company is to be disseminated to the public in an equal
and timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations. To establish a formal reporting procedure of
material information concerning the business, finance and
operations of the Group by developing a monitoring system
and procedures, including the requirements for Relevant
Employees to complete a Potential Transaction and Inside
Information Reporting Form to identify and evaluate material
information or materials and reporting it to the
management, so that such information can be reported to
headquarters promptly. Chief Executive Officer, in the
assistance of the finance management department and
company secretarial department, determines whether such
information constitutes inside information within the meaning
of Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong (“SFO”) and
whether disclosure requirements are needed to be fulfilled.
External advisers may be engaged throughout the process
if needed.

Such policy, together with the enforcement actions taken by
the Securities and Futures Commission relating to insider
dealing, were circulated to the Relevant Employees from
time to time.
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Compliance with Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its
code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.
Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors
regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code and all
Directors confirmed that they complied with the provisions
of the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Written guidelines were established for the Relevant
Employees, in respect of their dealing in the Company’s
securities.

Whistleblowing Policy

In order to maintain business integrity and promote a
healthy working culture, a fair and effective Whistleblowing
Policy, complementing with a confidential handling
mechanism, is adopted. The scope and purpose of the
Whistleblowing Policy is stated in the Company’s website at
https://www.ebgreentech.com/en/about/ewp.php.

As stated in the Whistleblowing Policy, the Company
prohibits the disclosure of identity of the whistleblower
without consent, unless otherwise specified by law. Case(s)
can be submitted, with name or without name, by post,
addressed to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong or office in Shenzhen, which are currently
located respectively at Room 3602, 36/F., Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong or West Wing,
27/F, Oriental Xintiandi Plaza, No. 1003 Shennan Avenue,
Futian District, Shenzhen, China, or by email (email address:
report@ebgreentech.com), for the attention of Audit and
Risk Management Committee and Chief Executive Officer.
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A well-defined whistleblowing and reporting mechanism can
increase the trustfulness of the whistleblower and the
whistleblower protection is being enhanced through effective
awareness-rising, communication, and training. The
whistleblowing channel can be accessed on the Company’s
website, Staff Handbook, intranet, sustainability report and
annual report. An induction briefing to new joiners be
conducted for providing clear explanation on their rights and
obligations when disclosing wrongdoing. The Group is
committed to protecting the privacy of whistleblowers and
providing a reporting mechanism for whistleblowers or those
involved in the investigation of whistleblowing cases to
protect them from harmful acts such as harassment,
intimidation, bullying or unreasonable negative performance.

All whistleblowing cases and the investigation results will be
discussed at the Audit and Risk Management Committee
meetings and report the same to the Board on semi-annual
basis. During 2023, there was 1 case reported through the
whistleblowing channels. No cases were refused to be
reported. Upon investigation, such a case was unfounded
and did not involve any misconduct, fraudulent activities or
malpractices concerning the Group and therefore no further
action was required.

Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy

Staff Handbook and Code of Corporate Conduct (Trial) of
the Company provide that all employees are strictly
prohibited to accept or offer bribes from anyone while
handling Company’s affairs, and should stay vigilant against
corruption and report any cases in accordance with the
Whistleblowing Policy in a timely manner if they become
aware of or reasonably suspect that individuals or
enterprises engaged in business transactions with the
Group which might involved in corruption. Moreover, staff
should surrender gifts or souvenirs provided by individuals
or enterprises engaged in business transactions with the
Group, and should refuse any unreasonable hospitality to
avoid compromising their business judgement.
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The Company has established a compliance department to
strengthen the implementation and maintain the
effectiveness of the system of anti-corruption laws and
regulations according to internal policies, to pay close
attention to the key areas of hidden integrity risks, and to
facilitate the supervision and education in a steady and
orderly manner. During the year, to implement the internal
anti-bribery and anti-corruption principles, the Company
provided a short training video on business ethics prepared
by the ICAC for all Directors to watch. In addition, an
Ethical Management Guide for Managers prepared by the
ICAC was issued to the employees in Hong Kong and
Mainland China who mainly handle transactions for their
perusal.

RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for formulating business policies
and strategies, directing and supervising management of the
Group, adopting and monitoring internal business and
management control, approving and monitoring annual
budgets and business plans, reviewing operational and
financial performance, reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s systems of corporate governance, ESG, internal
control, and risk management. It oversees the task of
making decisions in the best interest of the Company and
maximising the financial performance of the Company. With
the assistance of each Board committee, the Company has
effectively monitored every management system, formulated
clear and forward-looking strategies, promoted the
Everbright Culture by example, and actively advanced
business transformation and seized the business
opportunities for rapid development under the national Dual
Carbon policy.
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The Board has delegated the daily operations and the
execution of policies and strategies developed by the Board
by formulating and implementing of annual work plans and
medium-term development plans for the Group to the
Management Committee. The Company formalised the
functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to
Management Committee, including but not limited to, the
Management Committee has no authority to approve any
mergers and acquisitions and non-recurring business
projects. Management Committee holds meeting every
month for discussing and reviewing the investment
proposals, key personnel matters and appraisals, project
schedules, budget executions, etc. Management Committee
has been actively implementing the strategies and targets
issued by the Board, practising the Everbright Culture and
passing it on to the staff of all departments; pragmatically
carrying out the governance of the management system and
controlling the ESG of the operation of each project.

The Board has established 3 Board committees, namely
Audit and Risk Management Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, to oversee the
particular aspect of the Company’s affairs. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties. The Board plays a guiding and
monitoring role through the assistance of each Board
committee.

The Board acknowledges that it should take leadership for
and accountability in promoting a top-down culture to
ensure ESG considerations (including the risks and
opportunities for the Company arising from climate change)
are part of the business decision-making process. The
comprehensive sustainability governance structure of the
Company ensures the smooth implementation of sustainable
development. Details of the same will be stated in the 2023
Sustainability Report of the Company.
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The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient
insurance coverage on Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions taken against them arising out of corporate
activities. The Directors may seek independent professional
advice at the Company’s expenses in carrying out their
duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information in relation to the Group’s businesses and affairs
as well as unrestricted access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary, who is responsible for providing
Directors with board papers and related materials. The
Company provides monthly updates to the Board members
on the Company’s performance and business position to
enable them to make a balanced and understandable
assessments on the Company’s performance, position, and
prospect.

Board Evaluation

The Board recognizes that a formal, objective and open
assessment on a continuous basis can enhance the
effectiveness of governance structure of the Company.
Through the annual board evaluation exercise, each Director
can share his/her opinions and concerns to the Company,
which enhances Directors’ accountability. The evaluation
also enhances the continuing improvement and development
of the Board and the Board committees by reflecting on
their respective performance during the vyear, in turns
improving board effectiveness and maximising its strengths.
The Company Secretary acts as a bridge between the
Board and the management of the Company, delivers the
Board’s opinions and concerns to the management, which
in turn can take appropriate actions and report to the
Board.
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During the year under review, the Board conducted its
assessment through a questionnaire with latest information
provided on the HKEx website under “Board Diversity &
Inclusion in Focus”, which took into account 5 key board
performance and corporate governance areas, including the
structure and composition of the Board and Board
committees, performance of the Board and Board
committees, independent views, communication with
stakeholders and professional development, and also
included options for ESG decision-making and the
progressing of climate-related actions, allowing each Board
member to rate relevant items in different areas. The
Company Secretary conducted statistics on the evaluation
results which concluded that the self-evaluation of the
Board was at a mid-to-high satisfying level, and had
reported the evaluation results to the Nomination Committee
and the Board.

LEADERSHIP AND INDEPENDENCE

During the year under review, Mr. HUANG Haiging serves as
the Chairman of the Board, and Mr. QIAN Xiaodong is the
then Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
responsibilities between the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer is clearly divided to ensure a balance
of power and authority and to reinforce their independence
and accountability.

On 9 February 2024, Mr. QIAN Xiaodong resigned as the
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company and was replaced by Mr. ZHU Fugang, the
Executive Director.

Mr. HUANG Haiging, being the Chairman, is responsible for
providing leadership to the Board and ensuring that the
Board functions effectively; that Directors receive in a timely
manner adequate information which is complete and reliable
and that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at Board meetings. The Chairman also encourages Directors
to participate actively in and to make a full contribution to
the Board so that the Board acts in the best interest of the
Company.
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Mr. QIAN Xiaodong, being the then Chief Executive Officer,
was responsible for the daily operations of the Company,
execution of business policies, strategies, objectives and
plans as formulated and adopted by the Board and leading
the management of the Company. Mr. ZHU Fugang shall be
responsible for the aforesaid duties with effect from
9 February 2024.

In compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed 3 Independent Non-executive
Directors, one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications in accounting and financial management. The
Company has received notice from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors and confirmed their respective
independence during the year 2023 and considers them to
be independent in accordance with the guidelines for
assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Nomination Committee has reviewed and
concluded that there is no business or other relationships
with the Group or management that are likely to affect, or
could affect their independence.

On 9 February 2024, Mr. Philip TSAO, an Independent
Non-executive Director, resigned as an Independent
Non-executive Director due to his plan to focus on his
position in the bank and was replaced by Mr. LI Huagiang.
Mr. LI Huagiang has confirmed to the Company his
independence in accordance with the guidelines for
assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the Company also considers Mr. LI Huagiang to
be independent.
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Directors have disclosed to the Company the number and
nature of office held in Hong Kong and overseas listed
companies and organisations, and their other significant
commitments. Biographical details of the Directors are set
out on pages 108 to 115 of this annual report.

The Company has maintained an updated list of its
Directors identifying their roles and functions on websites of
the Company and HKEx. Independent Non-executive
Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications that disclose the names of Directors of the
Company.

Independent Views

The Company firmly recognises that the independence of
the Board is critical to sound corporate governance. The
governance framework of the Company includes relevant
mechanisms to ensure a strong element of independence
on the Board, thereby enhancing its effectiveness. The
Company has a sufficient number of 3 Independent Non-
executive Directors (accounting for one-third of the Board
members) on the Board. They have been actively
participating in the Board and committee meetings,
contributing their skills, expertise and diverse backgrounds
and qualifications. The Directors may seek external
independent professional advice, where appropriate, to
assist them in performing their duties, as reasonably
requested. The independent, constructive and informed
views of the Directors contribute positively to the
formulation of the Company’s strategies and policies. The
Board is also being updated on the Company’s operations
and financial position through monthly management
updates. The Company Secretary arranges annual Board
evaluations to review the implementation and effectiveness
of the above mechanisms.
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COMPOSITION AND NOMINATION

As at 31 December 2023, the Board consisted of 9
members, including:

Mr. HUANG Haiqing (Non-executive Director and Chairman)
Mr. QIAN Xiaodong (Executive Director and

Chief Executive Officer)’
Mr. LO Kam Fan (Executive Director and

Chief Financial Officer)®
Mr. ZHU Fugang (Executive Director and Vice President)?
Ms. GUO Ying (Non-executive Director)?
Mr. SONG Jian (Non-executive Director)
Mr. CHOW Siu Lui (Independent Non-executive Director)
Mr. Philip TSAO (Independent Non-executive Director)*
Prof. YAN Houmin (Independent Non-executive Director)

Notes:

1. Mr. QIAN Xiaodong resigned as an Executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer with effect from 9 February 2024.

2. Mr. ZHU Fugang was re-designated as an Executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 9 February
2024.

3. Ms. GUO Ying resigned as a Non-executive Director with

effect from 29 February 2024.

4. Mr. Philip TSAO resigned as an Independent Non-executive
Director with effect from 9 February 2024.

5. Mr. LI Huagiang was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director with effect from 9 February 2024.

6. Subsequent to 15 March 2024 and before the Latest
Practicable Date, certain changes to the Directors have taken
place. Please refer to page 1 of this annual report.

None of the members of the Board has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship(s)) among one another.
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All Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the
Company for a specific term. Each of the Non-executive
Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of 2 years and/or around 2 years. Under the Articles
of Association, the term of service as a Director is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election. The Board is
empowered to appoint any person as a director to fill the
casual vacancy on or as an additional director of the Board.
According to the Board Diversity Policy and Nomination
Policy, the Board considers a candidate’s gender,
experience, skill and knowledge and competency and ability
to fulfill duty of care and diligence and fiduciary duties and
recommendation by the Nomination Committee (if any).

Mr. LI Huagiang was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 9 February 2024. He obtained a legal
advice from a firm of solicitors on 5 February 2024 and
confirmed his understanding of the obligations as a Director
pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules.

In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 108(b) of the Articles
of Association, Mr. HUANG Haiqing, Mr. ZHU Fugang and
Mr. SONG Jian, are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of
Association, Mr. LI Huagiang shall hold office only until the
forthcoming AGM and shall be eligible and offer himself for
re-election.
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Board Diversity

The Board believes that the ratio between Executive
Directors, Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-
executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient checks and balances that safeguard the interests
of Shareholders and the Group and recognised the
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. During the year,
with the assistance of the Nomination Committee, the
Board reviewed and confirmed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. Conforming to
the international trend on board diversity, a female Director
was appointed. However, Ms. GUO Ying, the only female
Director, resigned as Non-executive Director due to
reaching the age of retirement on 29 February 2024. During
the period from 29 February 2024 to 31 March 2024Net,
there was no female Director. The Board also believes that
the views and participations of the Independent Non-
executive Directors in the Board and committee meetings
provides independent judgment on the issues relating to
strategy, performance, conflict of interest and management
process to ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are
considered and safeguarded.

Note: Subsequent to 15 March 2024 and before the Latest Practicable

Date, certain changes to the Directors have taken place. Please
refer to page 1 of this annual report.
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The Directors come from diverse background with varied
expertise in finance and business fields. All Directors,
including Independent Non-executive Directors, have given
sufficient time and effort to the affairs of the Group.
Independent Non-executive Directors have provided
professional advices to the Board with their diversified
expertise and experience. In close adherence to national
strategies and seize opportunities for development
presented by Dual Carbon. Nomination Committee has
identified skills and experiences being the measurable
objectives that should be contained in the Board and the
relevant assessment was conducted:

Measurable

objectives

to the Board HUANG QIAN Lo
EZEWHER Qualities required Haiging  Xiaodong'  Kam Fan?*
- FERNEEAS EEE BER ERD
Leadership skil Outstanding leadership qualities and the abllity to v v

and experience identify and develop the talents of other employees.

FETHALR Hands-on understanding of the Company, projects,

strategies and risk management, as well as know-
how in driving reform and growth.
BEFANEERE HRFBANERAGET
078 - HARE RE  EEABREEFERE
§ UHEMTRSRENER -

As the Company measures its operational and v v
strategic performance by reference to financial
goals, understanding finance and the financial
reporting process, and accurate financial reporting is
of paramount importance to the Company's
success. It is also essential to understand that the
climate change risk will directly resuft in financial
risk.
ERERAE2LHKABREELEENERE
o BRSBRNERRRRREROMBREY
RERANKNZBEE - TRAREEREE
EoHHBRRNERER

Leadership in the environmental industry. v

ERRTEEREDMN -

Financial skil and
experience

A REEER

Industry
experience

eI

ZHU

Fugang
KRR
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Directors
i £
GUO SONG
Ying? Jian
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CHOwW Philip YAN L
Siu Lui TSAO! Houmin  Huagiang®
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Measurable
objectives

to the Board
EZOWiEE
-1

Marketing
experience

EHER

Government
experience

HRAR

Corporate
governance
experience
PEERER

Knowledge on
sustainability and
corporate
responsibility
HARELRE
PEEENDE

Risk
management
experience
RRERER

Qualities required
FERNRBEAR

Understanding the sustainable development trends
and seize opportunities presented by national
environmental policies on reduction of carbon
emission to explore new business. Achieving the
Company's business growth through product
optimisation and development of new businesses.
Paying special attention to the development of
overseas markets in order to diversify future
development.

TRUHELRES  LERRBRAFABHE
RAMES - BRI ERAREMEBRERE
RAFBIER - RERARSELER - BRI
BITIBMER -

Experience in liaison with the government. The
environmental business is subject to stringent
regulation and under the direct impact of
governmental behaviour and socio-economic trends.
REERMHEAR - RREFRIRRER 18
ERIBRTAMELEELNTE -
Supporting and providing recommendations on the
system of Board and management accountability to
enhance transparency, with the uttimate aim of
safeguarding Shareholders’ interests, and creating
long-term value for all relevant stakeholders.
XERHESENEREMANRERE LN
BE - RERRARAREER  LAMEERERD
EEERBRE-

Possessing expertise and know-how for climate
related topics, enhancing Board supervision over
sustainable development and ensuring the
achievement of strategies and delivery of long-term
shareholders and stakeholders’ value under a
responsible sustainable business model.
HERERARABENABREY NEEEE
HUREERNEE URREARENTHER
BEAPERERAARR R HAE EREEE -
Supervising risk exposures and opportunities of the
Company from the perspective of the Board
(including ESG-related risks and opportunities).
EEZENHARLE EEANAEBNERNE
B(BERE HERERREERAKS) -
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Measurable

objectives

to the Board HUANG QIAN LO
f£3-Ehs- ¢ Qualities required Haiging  Xiaodong'  Kam Fan
g FERNEEAR 'SR HER ERE
Talent Conducive to the Company's effort to attract, v v

management motivate and retain valuable and talented staff to

AER ensure the continuous supply of talents during the

implementation of the Company's strategies. Having
a good understanding of the implications of
“diversity and inclusivity" and dedicated to the
promotion of employee diversity, especially gender
diverstty.

BHRARARS - HBNEEEBERET 8
81 NERKERAAARKNBRTHERY
AT -HISTRABINESRE-EHRA BOE
BESSIL  KRIRMAIS T -

Notes:

1. Resigned on 9 February 2024.

2. Resigned on 29 February 2024.
3. Appointed on 9 February 2024.

4. Subsequent to 15 March 2024 and before the Latest
Practicable Date, certain changes to the Directors have taken
place. Please refer to page 1 of this annual report.

Nomination Committee

During the year 2023 and as at the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee comprised Mr. HUANG Haiging
(chairman), the Chairman of the Board, and Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHOW Siu Lui, Prof.
YAN Houmin, Mr. Philip TSAO (resigned on 9 February
2024) and Mr. LI Huagiang (appointed on 9 February
2024). Details of the committee’s membership and
members’ attendance records during 2023 are set out on
page 63 of this report.
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The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
include, among others, reviewing the structure, size and
composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board, making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategies, reviewing and reporting the board
diversity to the Board and considering the need for
identifying suitable persons to become directors and made
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships. The terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee are published on the
websites of both the Company and HKEX.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, 1 Nomination
Committee meeting was held. The Nomination Committee
has reviewed the structure, size, composition (including
skills, knowledge and experience) and performance of the
Board and the qualification and experience of each of the
Directors according to the Board Diversity Policy and the
Nomination Policy. The Nomination Committee has
considered the independence of each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors and assessed the qualification and
experience of the Directors to be retired and entitled to be
re-elected at the AGM. During the year, the Nomination
Committee has also reviewed the appointment contracts
between the Company and Mr. SONG Jian, the Non-
executive Director, Mr. HUANG Haiging, Chairman of the
Board and the Non-executive Director, Ms. GUO Ying, the
then Non-executive Director, Mr. CHOW Siu Lui and Prof.
YAN Houmin, the Independent Non-executive Directors, and
Mr. Philip TSAO, the then Independent Non-executive
Director. The aforesaid approved matters and review results
were recommended to the Board for consideration.

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, length of service, skills
and/or professional experience. Other than the above
factors, the Company will also consider factors based on its
own business model and specific needs from time to time.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidate(s) will bring to the
Board.
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In consideration with the strategies and objectives of the
Company, the Nomination Committee takes a prime role on
board recruitment, including the appointment, re-
appointment or/and redesignation of the Director(s), to
ensure the Board possesses a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirement
of the business of the Company with a special focus on
female directors with the appropriate skills or knowledge.
When considering a candidate nominated for directorship or
a director’'s proposed re-appointment, the Nomination
Committee will make reference to certain selection criteria,
such as potential time commitment for the Board/
committees responsibilities, reputation for integrity,
accomplishment and experience in environmental industry,
independence of the candidate and governmental or
geopolitical expertise. The Board had 9 members, including
1 female director, with a male-to-female ratio of 8:1.
However, during the period from 29 February 2024 to 31
March 2024Nt there was no female Director. The
Company will endeavour to achieve a board with at least
20% female directors by 2028, provided that in making
such appointments, the Directors (i) are satisfied with the
qualifications and experience of the candidates concerned
after a reasonable review process based on the above
criteria; and (i) discharge their fiduciary duties, so as to act
for the interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

Nomination Committee reviews annually the structure, size
and diversity of the Board, external agencies for collecting
impartial opinion in the nomination procedure may be
engaged if necessary. The Board, having the ultimate
responsibility for selection and appointment of Director(s),
will contemplate the recommendations from the Nomination
Committee when considering candidate(s) to be appointed
or re-appointed as Director(s).

Note: Subsequent to 15 March 2024 and before the Latest Practicable

Date, certain changes to the Directors have taken place. Please
refer to page 1 of this annual report.
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The Company recognises the importance of Board KRB FRAESSEITEMNEZNE - U
succession planning to ensure optimal continuity and that MRESSAEGETEMNTEENL KEREA
the Board is composed of members with proper and BEENEBEEMNZERRE  EHER
relevant expertise and skills to govern and strengthen the ERREZERERNRAR  RARTEERNER
Company effectively. To empower the basis of talent pool of BT - BEEREARENORER -
potential candidates, the Company continues to develop a BERUER 8- RIEI - BFEEg
broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced BEENEREE BISKEEABNES
employees and that, in time, their skills will prepare them for B 7% o

the positions of senior management and directorship, by a
series of training courses.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee RAHZEBR  REZECEEREEZ
had reviewed the gender diversity of the staff (including T+ A=tT—HLEFELEI(®
senior management) for the year ended 31 December FEaMEEE) MMERZ Tt - £ TayM5
2023. The gender diversity of the workforce is as below: ZalbmT -
Total staff headcount: 3,569 BIT4%: 3,569A
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As of 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 3,569
employees, including 749 female employees and 2,820
male employees, and approximately 21% of the employees
are female. In the Group’s future development, it will
continue to uphold the corporate culture of gender equality
and diversified development, and stay focus to the rights
and interests of female employees in employee recruitment,
appointment and promotion to ensure diversified
development of the enterprise.

There are 657 middle and senior employees in the Group,
including 79 female employees and 578 male employees,
with 12% of the employees are female. This reflects that
there is still room for female diversified development in the
middle and senior management of the Group and there is
still potential to promote female employees to the middle
and senior management. In future, on one hand, the Group
will strengthen the recruitment of female middle and senior
management personnel, and adopts a multi-channel, multi-
tiered and all-round approach to actively identify, discover
and recruit female personnel who possess certain
development potential to join the middle and senior
management. On the other hand, the Group will step up its
efforts in the training and promotion of female managers
through various means such as invitation, secondment, job
rotation and exchange to nourish female management
talents in all respects and promote female talents into the
management team in a timely manner. In doing so, the
Group offers long-term development opportunities for female
employees, and fuel potential successors to the middle and
senior management of the Group and the Board.

HE-_Z-_=%F+-A=+—H0 Kx&£H
HEBETE,569%  HFZMWEE T749% -
FHETI28208 AMEITHLENR
21% o NEBERRNBERFP - BEBRR
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The Group will actively promote the gradual realization of
the goals of having at least 20% of female directors on the
Board, the proportion of female middle and senior
employees to be increased to 14% and the proportion of all
female employees to be increased to 25% by 2028.
Females bear dual responsibilities of career and family and
have more considerations in choosing certain positions. The
Group is engaged in the environmental protection industry,
project production operation and engineering construction in
which the main types of positions require higher physical
strength and energy, and also require job rotation, and
therefore the package has yet to attract more women to
join, hence, increasing the proportion of all female
employees is also a challenge that the Group is currently
facing. The Group will actively develop and facilitate
diversity policies, including gender diversity by, among
others, providing appropriate training for female employees,
improving various professional skills, tapping their own
potentials, establishing corresponding supporting systems to
enable female employees to take care of their families and
secure employment and help female employees tackling
challenges such as childbirth in the workplace.

Everbright Greentech is committed to fostering a workplace
characterised by diversity, inclusivity and mutual respect for
all employees, regardless of their age, gender, family status,
disability, race, ethnicity, nationality, religion or politics. The
Company will not tolerate employees using any physical or
verbal harassment, bullying or other regulation violations to
discriminate against any person on the ground of the above
factors. The Group advocates to safeguard this by a
mechanism, under which everyone enjoys equal
opportunities in terms of job positions. The Company also
believes that the availability of diverse talents is closely
associated with corporate development. Hence it is
vigorously procuring talents from diverse backgrounds and
strives to foster a harmonious, inclusive and diverse
workplace for staff of different genders from different ethnic,
cultural or professional backgrounds.
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Company Secretary

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman of the Board
in preparation of the agenda for the Board meetings and
Board committee meetings and ensures that all applicable
rules and regulations regarding the meetings are followed.
She also acts as the secretary to the 3 Board committees
and Sustainability Committee. She prepares and keeps
detailed minutes of each Board meeting, Board committee
meeting and Sustainability Committee meeting. Within a
reasonable time after each meeting, the draft minutes are
circulated to all Directors or committee members for
comments and the final and approved version of minutes is
sent to all Directors or committee members for their
records. Board committees, including the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee, all follow the applicable principles,
practices and procedures adopted in Board meetings. The
Company Secretary is also responsible for organising Board
trainings for all Directors and circulating to all Directors
materials relating to the Directors’ jobs and duties for their
review.

Ms. CHOW Wing Man possesses professional qualification
and extensive experience in discharging her duties as the
Company Secretary of the Company and she is an
employee of the Company and directly reports to the Chief
Executive Officer.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company Secretary of the
Company has undertaken 15 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
As a key adviser on corporate governance and other
regulatory compliance matters, Ms. CHOW Wing Man keeps
up-to-date with the regulatory, legal and ESG developments
relevant to the Company that she serves.
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AUDIT AND RISK OVERSIGHT

Audit and Risk Management Committee and
Accountability

During the year 2023 and as at the date of this report, the
Audit and Risk Management Committee comprised
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHOW Siu
Lui (chairman), Prof. YAN Houmin, Mr. Philip TSAO
(resigned on 9 February 2024) and Mr. LI Huagiang
(appointed on 9 February 2024). Details of the committee’s
membership and members’ attendance records during 2023
are set out on page 63 of this report.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is primarily
responsible for, including but not limited to, providing an
independent review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, overseeing the audit process,
reviewing the completeness, accuracy, clarity and fairness of
the Company’s financial statements, considering the scope,
approach and nature of both internal and external audits,
reviewing and monitoring connected transactions and
performing other duties and responsibilities as may be
assigned by the Board from time to time, etc. The terms of
reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee are
published on the websites of both the Company and HKEXx.
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The Audit and Risk Management Committee held 3
meetings in 2023 and all minutes were kept by the
Company Secretary. The Audit and Risk Management
Committee has reviewed with the management and the
external auditor of the Company, including but not limited to
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, significant audit matters such as significant
accounting estimates and judgmental areas and external
auditor’s audit plan, and has reviewed and discussed the
Group’s financial reporting matters, including review of the
audited financial results for the year ended 31 December
2022 and the unaudited interim financial results for the six
months ended 30 June 2023. The Audit and Risk
Management Committee has also approved the
remuneration and the terms of engagement of the external
auditors, and recommended the respective re-election to the
Board. In order to ensure the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control functions of the Company,
the committee reviewed, discussed and monitored the
works of risk management and internal audit in 2023 and
their plans for 2024. Further, it has reviewed the
compliance of continuing connected transactions; the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function; and the
investigation results of the whistleblowing cases reported
through the whistleblowing channels; approval of the
amendment of the Company’s Whistleblowing Policy; and
non-audit services. During the year, the Audit and Risk
Management Committee has also reviewed and approved
the Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
Data Management Measures, the progress of the TCFD,
and the quality control and results of the 2023 ESG Data.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee reported that
there was no material uncertainty that casts doubt on the
Company’s going concern ability. The aforesaid review
results were proposed to the Board for review.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, Ernst & Young, the
external auditor, received the following remuneration from
the Group in connection with the provision of audit and

non-audit services to the Group:
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2023 2022
—ZE_= =T

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Annual audit services FEETRE 2,750 2,700

Interim review services R HA 2R B AR 7S 300 300
Other services, includes tax service, etc. HEMARTS - BIREME

PR 7% % 541 2,448

3,591 5,448

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparation of the financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2023 which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at
that date and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the
year then ended and are properly prepared on the going
concern basis in accordance with the applicable statutory
requirements and accounting standards.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” contained in
this annual report.

Dividend Policy

Adhering to the principle of sharing the fruit of our success
with our Shareholders, the Board has adopted Dividend
Policy. Subject to certain factors, including but not limited
to, general business conditions and strategies of the
Company and the Company’s financial results and capital
requirements, the dividend payout ratio is approximately
20%.
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Risk Management and Internal Control 2B B B % A P B 4

The process of achieving the Company’s strategic and ARABBELEERERBERFERXR
operational goals is subject to a large number of ETHEEMENFE  HERABERH &4
uncertainties. In this regard, the process of the Company’s AL BIEth E HEREERNBIE - K
operation is also a process of risk management. The Group SE—EBEEREREREEANIPEE - TX
always places emphasis on risk management and internal Ml AEERREERZSGNEERFE

control. The main features of the risk management system
of the Group are summarised as follows:

l.  Risk Management Objective, Mission and Risk — EEBEEEEAIE - (L KEE L
Preferences
The risk management objective of the Group is to REE LMRBEA QD B BEE F 48 & B 12
ensure the realisation of the Company’s strategic and MNERELRBRERBZ H2HEAX
operational goals through carrying out risk N A EES B IR I E B AR 1%5@57}
management works in terms of participating in the R E BRI L E R
formulation and decomposition of the Company’s REFTERRERRREIREIE-

strategic goals and ensuring the achievement of
financial and non-financial operational goals.

The Group takes the principle of “Overall Compliance, REBNI2EER  B5F &ML
Minimise Weaknesses, Manage Uncertainties and THETUHER BEXEELERIE
Optimise Performance based Management” as its ARBEENFED -

mission of risk management.

The risk management is guided by the EL[S@EEED/{ZK%IEPEHH%%WHE%
medium-to-long term strategic goals of the Group. Em - BBREZNTISAREMNEEDY
The Group formulates its own risk appetites BTEE BEEEE K- LI
reasonably by focusing on six dimensions including BRES -BE OAAINE#E
“Investment, Finance, Engineering Construction, AEFTETEFRARRLY BBV EE
Operation, Reputation and Human Resources” through EEEEMBERES(CREEEEA
reliable market expansion and prudent operation EABR EE(E - TENE/L A BB IE B 8 B 3
management. The Group set up quantitative early M RARBEEZEETE S

warning values and limit values in line with financial
and non-financial indicators and constantly optimise
the effectiveness of internal control to enhance risk
resistance and management control capabilities.



1.

Risk Governance Structure

The risk management framework of the Group is
based on the following “Three Lines of Defense”
model:

Board

The Board shall be responsible for the evaluation and
determination of the nature and level of risk to which
it is exposed, and to achieve the strategic business
targets of the Group. It shall also ensure the
establishment and maintenance of proper and
effective risk management and internal control
systems by the Group.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee shall
assume the role of supervising the overall risk
management structure of the Group and provide
advice to the Board on risk-related matters of the
Group.

First Line of Defense

In respect of the first line of defense, each of the
business centre, the project companies, command
authority and project departments of the Group, being
the officers for risk management, shall ensure the
effective implementation of risk control measures
based on the relevant systems and requirements of
risk management of the Company, supervise relevant
risks which involve in every business operations,
collect and report the risk incident in a timely manner.
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Second Line of Defense

The risk management department, being the second
line of defense, shall, based on the Board’s appetite,
identify and assess relevant risks and conduct
necessary monitoring, execute appropriate supervision
to ensure effective and efficient control of activities of
all departments internally or between different
departments, as well as evaluate and provide regular
report to the Audit and Risk Management Committee.
Each functional department at headquarters jointly
deals with the risk incidents reported from the first line
of defense and the comments from the Audit and Risk
Management Committee with the risk management
department.

Third Line of Defense

For the third line of defense, the internal audit
department shall carry out an internal audit every year
and ensure the effectiveness of the first and the
second lines of defense. The internal audit
department shall provide to the Audit and Risk
Management Committee and the Board an
independent assurance as to the sufficiency and
effectiveness of the internal control of the Group.

Risks (including ESG-related Risks) Management
Process

The Board of the Company has formulated with due
care a risk management system policy and risk
tolerance levels through the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, while the management
identifies and ranks major risks according to sources
of risks, scope of influence, incidents and their
potential impacts. Risks identified have been
categorised into trade receivables, policy changes,
strategic transformation and market competition,
capacity management, environmental compliance and
safety management, human resources and cost
control. Discussion in relation to the management
policies and procedures for the respective principal
risk categories exposed to the Group, the material
impact that may have occurred or may occur in
future, and the corresponding mitigation measures is
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set out in the section headed “PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES” in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 44 to 52 of this annual report. The
Group’s risks are classified according to their impact
and probability of occurrence. The ranking shall be
based on the level of remaining risk. The level of
remaining risk refers to the score value of the existing
risk after taking into account all monitoring measures
currently in force. The assessment of risk analysis
results aims at determining whether the risks identified
are within our default risk appetite and risk tolerance
level. Based on such risk assessment, the risks could
be transferred, eliminated or effectively controlled
through risk mitigation measures formulated. During
the year under review, the changes in the severity of
the Company’s principal risks are as follows:
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Change in
principal risks

(Higher/unchanged/ FTEREEL
lower) (LEF #&F / TH)

Principal risks

Trade receivables JE WLBR 51 Higher £

Policy changes RS Lower NS

Strategic transformation and B & 83 AU B T 35 52 5 Higher A
market competition

Capacity management ERER Lower T B&

Environmental compliance REERELZEEIR Higher A
and safety management

Human resources ANER Higher A

Cost control PR AN 42 ) Higher EF
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V.

ESG-related Risks

The Group takes an active interest in the impact of
climate change on the Company and has arranged
external consultants to conduct scenario analyses
which focused on physical and transition risks to
understand the risks and opportunities brought about
by climate change to the Company. For details of the
impact of climate change on the Group, please refer
to the section headed “Addressing Climate Change” in
the Company’s 2023 Sustainability Report.

The Group has incorporated ESG-related risks into the
risk management regime of the Company. Following
risk identification and assessment, the Group has
incorporated relevant risks into the control areas of
aforesaid principal risks, such as focusing on
sustainable development and new trends in the
sectors of low-carbon and circular economy in
strategic transformation and market competition risk
control, so as to facilitate the Company’s strategic
transformation and enhance market competitiveness;
paying attention to the impacts of global climate
change and extreme weather on the new policies
launched by the State, so as to cope with the risks of
policy changes in advance; preventing environmental
safety risks caused by extreme weather phenomena,
actively formulating and implementing contingency
plans and conducting regular drills, and securing
adequate and timely insurance coverage; creating a
sound human resources environment by establishing
and stringently enforcing an equal employment
system, implementing diversified recruitment measures,
enhancing employment opportunities for females, and
increasing the care and assistance for employees. The
control of ESG-related risks has enhanced the
Company’s risk management standard, and more
practical control measures have also effectively
reduced the possibility of related risks and minimised
losses in the event of a risk incident.
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Risk Control and Report

Each risk-bearing unit submits a report to the risk
management department every quarter in respect of
the implementation of risk control measures and the
effectiveness of risk control, and at the same time
collects risk events in the report. Based on the
contents reported by various project companies and
functional departments, the risk management
department will prepare Risk and Internal Control
Report and submit the same to the management of
the Company. The management of the Company will
understand the status of risk management in a timely
manner according to the report and optimise risk
control measures. The Audit and Risk Management
Committee provides assistance to the Board for
maintaining and monitoring the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of
Everbright Greentech. The risk management
department and internal audit department will
semiannually provide conclusive report to the Audit
and Risk Management Committee in respect of the
risk management and internal control aspects of the
Company, and adopt the risk management and
internal control plan for the next year. In addition, the
Board reviews principal risks taken by Everbright
Greentech annually. The risk management department
of the Company submits the Risk and Internal Control
Report to the Audit and Risk Management Committee
on a quarterly basis. The Company also reviews the
effectiveness of its risk management and internal
control systems in a timely manner through the above
procedures, identifies deficiencies timely and improves
them constantly.

The Board and the Audit and Risk Management
Committee have conducted reviews on the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions, and
they considered all of the above were adequate.
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78

Internal Audlit

Everbright Greentech has established the internal audit
department which shall directly report to the Audit and
Risk Management Committee. Undertaking a key role
to provide assurance to the Board of proper
maintenance and operation of the internal control
system by the management, the internal audit
department prepares internal audit report to the Audit
and Risk Management Committee and the Board for
the review of the sufficiency and effectiveness of the
internal audit functionalities. The internal audit
department also performs audit work in respect of
ESG data. Any matter proposed in the internal audit
report shall be dealt with by the management in a
timely manner. The Audit and Risk Management
Committee and the Board are satisfied with the
sufficiency of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group.

Risks Management Culture

Risk management culture, as an important component
of corporate culture, plays an important role in risk
management. The Group endeavours to cultivate and
shape a good risk management culture, establish a
correct risk management philosophy, enhance
employees’ awareness of risk management, and strive
to integrate risk management awareness and tools
into the daily management process. The Company has
gradually formed the risk management concept of
“top-down coordination and joint management”.
Through good communication and timely exchange of
information, risk management and business
development are organically integrated and mutually
promoted to create a favourable atmosphere of risk
management culture at all levels of the Company.
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VIll.  Annual Confirmation

The risk management and internal control systems of
the Group are designed to provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss, as well as to manage rather than eliminate
entirely the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. They take up an important role in risk
management, which is critical to achieving business
objectives. Through the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, the Board has reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, and
considered that they were effective and sufficient
during the vyear. The management has provided
confirmation as to the effectiveness of the systems for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to the Audit and
Risk Management Committee (and the Board).

REMUNERATION
Remuneration Committee

During the year 2023 and as at the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee comprised Mr. Philip TSAO (the
then chairman, resigned on 9 February 2024), an
Independent Non-executive Director, Prof. YAN Houmin
(chairman, changed from committee member to chairman
on 9 February 2024), an Independent Non-executive
Director, Mr. QIAN Xiaodong (resigned on 9 February 2024),
the then Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer, Mr.
ZHU Fugang (appointed on 9 February 2024), the Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer, and Independent Non-
executive Directors Mr. CHOW Siu Lui and Mr. LI Huagiang
(appointed on 9 February 2024). Details of the committee’s
membership and members’ attendance records during 2023
are set out on page 63 of this report.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
were published on the websites of both the Company and
HKEx, which set out the duties of the Remuneration
Committee, including determining, with delegated
responsibilities, the remuneration packages of the individual
Executive Directors and senior management, etc.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee did not hold any meeting, but it has considered
the remuneration packages of Executive Directors, members
of senior management, by way of written resolutions with
reference to the objects and objectives of the Company.
The above approved matters and the review results have
been submitted to the Board for consideration.

Remuneration Policy

A reasonable and comprehensive remuneration package is
one of the measures in attracting, retaining and motivating
experienced people of high calibre. The Company takes into
consideration a number of factors in determining
remuneration package of all level of staffs of the Company
(including Executive Directors and members of senior
management of the Company), including but not limited to
their job duties and responsibilities, performances, updated
salary index launched by independent human resource
agency and the financial and operational performances of
the Company. The remuneration of the Executive Directors
and members of the senior management of the Company
consists of fixed remuneration, double pay and performance
bonus, of which fixed remuneration includes basic salary
and cash allowance.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 December
2023 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$)

$1,000,000 to $2,000,000
$2,000,001 to $3,000,000

FEEE (BT
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Number of
persons

AB

1,000,0007t £2,000,0007T 3
2,000,001 7T £ 3,000,0007T 0

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the
5 highest paid employees as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in
notes 9 and 10 to the financial statements, respectively.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND AGM
Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining
effective  communication with the Shareholders and the
investors and also recognises the value of providing current
and relevant information to the Shareholders and the
investors.
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the Shareholders
Communication Policy. During the vyear, the Board has

The Company has adopted

reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholder Communication Policy. In view of the contents
of the policy, work arrangements and the results of the
Board’s evaluation below, the Board considers that the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders
Communication Policy is unquestionable. The provisions
contained in such policy aim to ensure that Shareholders
and investors have timely access to comprehensive and
consistent information about the Company (including its
financial and operational performance, business plans and
strategies, significant developments, corporate governance
and corporate structure, etc.), to enhance Shareholders’
understanding and awareness of the Company and to
enable them to exercise their rights in an informed manner.
Such policy sets out the means of contact for Shareholders
and investors to express their views and terms to protect
the privacy of its Shareholders.

The Company has all along been publishing annual reports,
interim reports, circulars and results announcements in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and
posting them on the websites of both the Company and
HKEx. The Company’s website contains information
regarding the Group’s business and projects, environmental
information and green finance information, etc., and also
issues press releases containing contact details of investor
relations from time to time. The corporate communication is
available on the “Investor Relations” section of the home
page of the Company’s website. In addition, the AGM held
each year serves as a bridge between the Board and its
independent Shareholders, who can raise questions directly
to the Directors. For investors, our investor relations team
facilitates communication with investors through participating
in the strategy sessions with major brokerages, having
individual one-on-one meetings and project site visits.
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Shareholder Relations

The Company understands the importance of maintaining
effective mutual communication with its Shareholders and
values every opportunity to communicate with them.

The AGM and site visit proceedings have been well
prepared to ensure that the Company will follow corporate
governance practices and Shareholders’ rights are
preserved.

The 2023 AGM was held on 23 May 2023, the Chief
Financial Officer chaired the AGM and the chairman (or their
delegates) of each Board committee attended the meeting
to ensure Shareholders’ views are communicated to the
Board. Auditor of the Company was available to answer any
queries that Shareholders may raise.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, any one
or more members holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company on a one vote per share basis
(“EGM Requisitionists”) shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition sent to the Board or the Secretary of the
Company, to require an EGM to be called by the Board and
to request the addition of a resolution to the agenda of the
EGM for the transaction of any business or resolution
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition.

The EGM Requisitionists can deposit the written request at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong,
which is currently located at Room 3602, 36/F., Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. The EGM
Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the objects of
the EGM, and such request must be signed by all the EGM
Requisitionists, and may consist of several documents in like
form, each signed by one or more of the EGM
Requisitionists.
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The share registrar will verify the EGM Requisitionists’
particulars in the EGM Requisitionists’ request. Promptly
after confirmation from the share registrar that the EGM
Requisitionists’ request is in order, the Company Secretary
will arrange the Board to convene an EGM by serving
sufficient notice to all the registered Shareholders in
accordance with all the relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements. On the contrary, if the EGM Requisitionists’
request is verified not in order, the EGM Requisitionists will
be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an EGM will
not be convened as requested.

If such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting within 21 days, the EGM Requisitionists’ himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the EGM Requisitionists by
reason of the Board’s failure to duly convene an EGM shall
be reimbursed to the EGM Requisitionists by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
General Meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose
new resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law. However, Shareholders are
requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles of Association
for proposing a resolution at an EGM. The requirements
and procedures are set out above. Pursuant to Article 113
of the Articles of Association, no person other than a
Director retiring at a meeting, shall, unless recommended by
the Board for election, be eligible for election as a Director
at any general meeting unless a notice in writing of the
intention to propose that person for election as a Director
and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be
elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registration office. The period for lodgment of the above
notices required under the Articles of Association shall
commence not earlier than the day after the despatch of
the notice of relevant general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of
the relevant general meeting, and the minimum length of the
period during which such notices to the Company may be
given will be at least 7 days. The written notice must state,
among others, that person’s biographical details as required
by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules. The procedures for
Shareholders to propose a person for election as Director is
posted on the Company’s website.
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Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries
to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the investor
relations whose contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations

China Everbright Greentech Limited

Room 3602, 36/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2433 6546

Email: ir@ebgreentech.com

Significant Changes in the Company’s
Constitutional Documents

A special resolution was passed by the Shareholders at the
AGM held on 23 May 2023 to adopt the Second Amended
and Restated Articles of Association of the Company with
amendments which, among other things, (i) reflect the latest
amendments to Appendix A1 to the Listing Rules
concerning the core shareholder protection standards; (i)
bring the existing articles of association in line with the
applicable laws of the Cayman lIslands; and (i) make some
housekeeping amendments.

Save as disclosed above, no other changes have been
made to the Second Amended and Restated Articles of
Association of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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China Everbright Greentech Limited
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEAE

Mr. HUANG Haiqing

aged 59, is a Non-executive Director and the Chairman of the
Board and the Nomination Committee. He is also the executive
director and the chairman of the board and the chairman of the
nomination committee and the member of the remuneration
committee of CEEGL (stock code: 0257.HK, a listed intermediate
holding company of the Company). Mr. HUANG is currently a
director of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, an
indirect controlling shareholder of the Company. He holds a
doctoral degree in Economics from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics. Mr. HUANG is currently a member of the
Strategic Advisory Committee and postgraduate tutor of the PBC
School of Finance of Tsinghua University, and he is also a senior
economist. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. HUANG had served as
executive director and president of China Everbright Holdings
Company Limited, member of CPC committee and secretary of
the discipline committee (executive vice president level) of China
Everbright Bank Company Limited (the shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock
codes: 6818.HK and 601818.SH). He also served as division
chief level officer of Hainan Provincial Branch of Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China Limited, deputy general manager of
Pudong Branch of Bank of Shanghai, and vice mayor of Xi'an
City. Mr. HUANG joined the Board in June 2022.

Mr. ZHU Fugang

aged 44, is an Executive Director, the Chief Executive Officer, the
chairman of Sustainability Committee and a member of
Remuneration Committee. Mr. ZHU currently serves as general
manager of Everbright Greentech Environmental Protection Clean
Energy Administrative Centre, general manager of a subsidiary,
namely EB Greentech Technology Services (Jiangsu) Limited, and
a director of numerous subsidiaries and certain joint ventures and
associated companies of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he
served as president of eco-recycling sector in CEEGL, vice
president of each of Everbright Environmental Protection (China)
Company Limited and Everbright Envirotech (China) Limited,
wholly-owned subsidiaries of CEEGL, and general manager of
each of Everbright Environmental Energy (Changzhou) Co., Ltd,
Everbright Environmental Energy (Nanjing) Limited and Everbright
Environmental Testing (Nanjing) Company Limited, wholly-owned
subsidiaries of CEEGL. Mr. ZHU holds a Master's degree in
Business Administration and Doctoral degree in Engineering from
Southeast University and at the same time qualified as a senior
engineer. Mr. ZHU joined the Group in September 2019 and
joined the Board in December 2022.
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Directors and Senior Management EERSREEAE

Mr. LO Kam FanNote

aged 49, is an Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer.
Mr. LO also serves as a director of numerous subsidiaries and
certain joint venture companies of the Group. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. LO held senior positions at a number of listed
companies on the Stock Exchange, including financial controller of
Shenzhen International Holdings Limited (stock code: 0152.HK),
financial controller and company secretary of Eco-Tek Holdings
Limited 8169.HK),
company secretary, respectively, of Wai Chun Bio-Technology
Limited (stock code: 0660.HK), Wai Chun Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1018.HK) and Sinopharm Tech Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8156.HK). Mr. LO obtained an honour diploma in
Accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University and a Master’s

(stock code: chief financial officer and

degree in Finance from Curtin University of Technology Australia.
He is a fellow member of the HKICPA. As at the date of this
report, he beneficially owns 150,000 shares of the Company
together with his spouse and he is deemed to be interested in
50,000 shares of the Company through his spouse; and also
beneficially owns 281 shares of CEEGL together with his spouse
and he is deemed to be interested in 5,760 shares of CEEGL
through his spouse within the meaning of the Part XV of the SFO.
Mr. LO joined the Company in November 2015 and joined the
Board in June 2019.

Note: Subsequent to 15 March 2024 and before the Latest Practicable
Date, certain changes to the Directors have taken place. Please
refer to page 1 of this annual report.
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China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Directors and Senior Management EERSREEAE

Mr. SONG Jian

aged 54, SONG holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Economics from Renmin University of China.

is a Non-executive Director. Mr.

He joined CEEGL in 2007 and currently takes a position of the
general manager of operation and safety and environmental
management department of CEEGL and was a director of
Everbright Brilliant Greenergy and Lighting (Shenzhen) Limited (a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of CEEGL), the general manager of
strategic development department of CEEGL and the chief
executive officer of Everbright Ecological Resources (Shenzhen)
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL). Prior to joining
CEEGL, Mr. SONG had worked in China Light
International Engineering Co., Ltd. As at the date of this report,
Mr. SONG is deemed to be interested in 3,000 shares of the
Company through his spouse, and he is also deemed to be
interested in 7,851 shares of CEEGL through his spouse within
the meaning of the Part XV of the SFO. Mr. SONG joined the
Board in June 2019.

Industry
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Directors and Senior Management EERSREEAE

Mr. CHOW Siu Lui

aged 63, is an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman
of Audit and Risk Management Committee and a member of each
of Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Sustainability Committee. Mr. CHOW is currently an independent
non-executive director of each of Genertec Universal Medical
(stock code: 2666.HK), Futong

Technology Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 0465.HK),

Group Company Limited

China Tobacco International (HK) Company Limited (stock code:
6055.HK) and AGTech Holdings Limited (stock code: 8279.HK),
the shares of all of the above companies are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of each
of Shanghai Dazhong Public Utilities (Group) Co., Ltd.* (stock
code: 1635.HK), Fullshare Holdings Limited (stock code: 0607.
HK), NWS Holdings Limited (stock code: 0659.HK), Shi Shi
Services Limited (stock code: 8181.HK)
Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited (stock code: 6833.HK), and a

and Sinco

non-executive director of Renrui Human Resources Technology
Holdings Limited (stock code: 6919.HK), the shares of all of the
above companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. He was also
an independent non-executive director of Global Cord Blood
Corporation (listed on the New York Stock Exchange, Symbol:
CO). Additionally, he was a partner of VMS
(HK) Limited,
Development Strategies Advisory Panel of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and a member of its
Registration and Practice Committee of the HKICPA. Mr. CHOW
was also the chairman of the audit committee and a council

Investment Group
a partner in KPMG and chairman of the Mainland

member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute. Mr.
CHOW obtained the Professional Diploma in Accountancy from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is qualified as a fellow
member of the HKICPA and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Mr. CHOW joined the Board in May 2017.

*

For identification purpose only
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China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Directors and Senior Management EERSREEAE

Prof. YAN Houmin

aged 69, is an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of
Nomination Committee, Audit and Risk Management Committee
and Sustainability Committee. Prof. YAN is Chair Professor of
Management Sciences at City University of Hong Kong (“CityU”)
where he directs International PPP China Center of Excellence of
the Unite Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE).
Prof. YAN
Financial Technologies Limited. He was the Dean of the College

is also a director of Laboratory for Al-Powered

of Business from January 2013 to June 2020. Prior to joining
CityU, Prof. YAN was a Professor at the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. He was the program director for the Executive
Master for Logistics and Supply Chain Management, and he was
the executive director of Center for Supply Chain and Logistics
Optimization, Li & Fung Logistics and Supply Chain Institute, the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He was the associate director
and science advisor for the Hong Kong Government R&D Center
for Logistics and Supply Chain Management Enabling
Technologies. He was also a tenured Associate Professor at the
School of Management, University of Texas at Dallas. Prof. YAN'’s
main research areas are stochastic models, simulations, and
supply chain  management. He has published extensively in
top-tier international journals and has been awarded the Best
Paper Prizes by professional societies such as the Production
and Operations Management Society (POMs) in 2004 and
Institute of Industrial Engineers (IIE) in 2005 and 2012. He
consults a number of international and local enterprises. Prof.
YAN received his Bachelor's degree and Master’'s degree in
Electrical Engineering from the Department of Automation in
Tsinghua University in the PRC and his Doctor of Philosophy
degree from the University of Toronto in Canada. Prof. YAN
joined the Board in May 2017.
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Mr. LI Huaqiang

aged 65, is an Independent Non-executive Director, a member of
each of Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, Audit
and Risk Management Committee and Sustainability Committee.
Mr. LI is currently an independent non-executive director of
Huabang Technology Holdings Limited (the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3638.HK), the external
director of Hunan Xiangtou Holdings Group Co., Ltd. and Hunan
Energy Investment Group Co., Ltd., an independent director of
Chinalco Advanced Manufacturing Co., Ltd., Sun Life Everbright
Asset Management Company Limited, First-Trust Fund
Management Co., Ltd. and Xiandaitouzi Co., Ltd. (the shares of
which are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code:
000900.S2). Mr. Ll
Government Peking University, a master’s instructor at the Central
University of Finance and Economics and an entrepreneurship
instructor at the Innovation and Entrepreneurship Center of Global

is also a researcher at the School of

University Student of Peking University. He served as a member
of the Asset Securitization Expert Committee of the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, the vice president of the Securities Association
of Zhejiang and a director of the Shanghai Securities Association.
He also served in a large state-owned metallurgical enterprise
successively as a secretary of the Communist Youth League
Committee, deputy branch factory director and general manager,
a deputy general manager of the investment banking headquarter
of Guosen Securities Company Limited, the chairman of the board
of directors and the president of Founder Securities Company
Limited, the vice president of Huaxi Securities Company Limited,
a director and the president of Chinalin Securities Company
Limited, the head of capital market department of non-banking
department, the head of the First Division of Securities and
Second Division of Securities of Central Huijin Investment Ltd., a
non-executive director of China Investment Securities Company
Limited,
director of China Everbright Group Limited, an indirect controlling
shareholder of the Company, and a non-executive director of
China Everbright Bank Company Limited (the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock codes: 6818.HK and 601818.SH). Mr. LI holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Metal Materials Engineering from University of Science
and Technology Beijing, a Master’s degree in Master of Business

the vice chairman of China Securities Co., Ltd., a

Administration from Business School of Central South University
and a Master's degree in Executive Master of Business
Administration from Guanghua School of Management of Peking
University. Mr. LI joined the Board in February 2024.
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China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Directors and Senior Management EERSREEAE

Mr. WANG DianerNete

Mr. WANG is the Vice President of the Company. Mr. WANG
joined China Everbright Group since November 2006. Mr. WANG
currently serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Mr. WANG has previously served as the deputy general manager
of Everbright Environmental Energy (Yixing) Limited, the deputy
general director of engineering of Jinan WTE Project, the general
director of engineering of Dangshan project, the general manager
of each of Everbright Alternative Energy (Dangshan) Company
Limited,
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy (Zhenjiang) Limited and Everbright

Limited, Everbright Environmental Energy (Zhenjiang)
Photovoltaic Energy (Huaining) Limited. Mr. WANG completed the
legal studies program at Anhui University in the PRC and the
Power Plant and Electricity System program at Shanghai
University of Electric Power in the PRC and is a senior engineer.
Mr. WANG joined the Group in January 2016.

Mr. ZHANG Jianping

Mr. ZHANG is the Chief Investment Officer and the general
manager of its solid waste management centre of the Company.
Mr. ZHANG currently serves as a director of various subsidiaries,
a joint venture and an associated company of the Group. Before
joining the Group, he was the deputy director of Suzhou
Environmental Sanitation Administration Agency. Mr. ZHANG has
served sequentially as the vice chairman of Everbright
(Suzhou) Limited, the standing

representative of the Nanjing Representative Office of CEEGL, the

Environmental Energy
general manager of each of Everbright Environmental Energy
Limited, Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou)
Limited and Everbright Environmental (Suzhou) Solid Waste
ZHANG graduated from Nanjing
Engineering Institute (currently known as Southeast University),

(Nanjing)

Treatment Limited. Mr.

majoring in Environmental Engineering and holds the title of senior
engineer, Mr. ZHANG joined the Group in April 2016.

Note: Subsequent to 15 March 2024 and before the Latest Practicable
Date, certain changes to the Directors have taken place. Please
refer to page 1 of this annual report.
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Directors and Senior Management EERSREBE AR

Ms. CHOW Wing Man

Ms. CHOW is the Company Secretary of the Company. She is a
fellow member of both HKCGI and The Chartered Governance
Institute. She has over 15 years of experience in the fields of
CHOW holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Laws from the University of London and a

company secretarial and compliance. Ms.
Master's degree in Finance (Corporate Finance) from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. She is also a Certified Environmental,
Social and Governance Analyst (CESGA®) awarded by The
European Federation of Financial Analysts Societies (EFFAS). Ms.
CHOW joined the Group in July 2017.
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China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Report of the Directors
EEEgRE

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 which
are to be presented at the AGM to be held at Salon | & I,
Mezzanine Floor, Grand Hyatt Hong Kong, 1 Harbour Road, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong on Tuesday, 14 May 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 40 to the financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the year.

Business review of the Group during the year, particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the year ended 31 December 2023 (if any), an analysis of
the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are provided from pages 16 to 43 of this annual
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are set out on pages 44 to 52 of this
annual report. Also, the financial risk management of the Group

can be found in note 38 to the financial statements.

Relationship with key stakeholders

The Group is committed to sustainable operations taking into

account the interests of employees, customers, suppliers,
business partners, government authorities and other community
stakeholders, and has built different channels to strive for better

quality in communication.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

(Continued)

Relationship with key stakeholders (Continued)

Employees
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TEXBREFHOEE(E)

EERSOENBR ()

As at 31 December 2023, the Group hired over 3,500 employees in Hong Kong and
Mainland China and is committed to building a workplace characterised by inclusivity, unity
and equality, regardless of age, gender, family status, disability, race ethnicity and
nationality. The Group believe that all employees should be respected and given the same
opportunities to showcase their skills and talents. To encourage employees suggestions for
the Group’s development, the Everbright e-Message APP has been set up where all
employees could tell the Group how they feel and what they need and furnish suggestions
at any time.
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The Group regards customers as one of its most important stakeholder groups and is
actively engaged in the development of close and long-term relationships with its customers.
Over the years, the Group has assisted the local governments of various regions to improve
local living environments and create job opportunities, winning the approval of governments
at various levels. In the meantime, the Group seek customers’ feedback through different
channels in an effort to maximise the potential effect of customer services, ensuring
customer satisfaction for the effectiveness of hazardous waste disposal. During the year
under review, the largest customer and 5 largest customers in aggregate of the Group
accounted for 26% and 59%, respectively, of the Group’s total turnover.
FEEREFPARKEZNFNEL — BREZFEVRE  EBYNBE - ZFXK  A&H
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW FTEEBRNEKDOEE(E)

Relationship with key stakeholders (Continued) HEREOENBR(E)

-

-

partners

—— -

~

@ Government and

regulatory
authorities

- -

@ Suppliers and business The Group has always conducted itself in a fair and equitable manner in its transactions with

suppliers and business partners in compliance with the most exacting ethical and
professional codes. Currently, the Group is engaged in cooperation with suppliers in cities
where its projects are located. Meanwhile, the Group have also extended the scope of our
suppliers and enhanced communication with them to further lower our operating costs and
manage supply-chain risks. During the year under review, the largest supplier and 5 largest
suppliers in aggregate of the Group accounted for 1% and 4%, respectively, of the Group’s
total purchase amount.
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During the year under review, the Group has a close cooperation with local governments
with timely reports to competent authorities governing relevant sectors on the progress of
project preparation and construction, as well as updating the status of completion of project
investment budget as required. The Group also receives government authorities at various
levels for on-site inspection, understand their views and suggestions for project planning and
the process of construction and operation, while advocating the environmental benefits for
people’s livelihood and positive lessons of the project.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW FTEEBRNEKDOE(E)
(Continued)

Relationship with key stakeholders (Continued) SRS ENRER (&)

Local communities The Group has been maintaining harmonious relationships with local communities with
(=¥ sincerity and openness. Residents of the community are invited to take part in project
Lo T T T~ investigation and hearing sessions prior to project construction so that the Group could

4
4

N sufficiently solicit their opinions on project construction. Moreover, in accordance with the

O

,I HJ \\ working requirements set out in China Everbright Group Implementation Opinion on Assisting
'\ ,' Counties Designated for Aid to Reinforce Achievements in Eliminating Poverty and Ongoing
‘\O /’ Advancement of Rural Vitalisation, the Group has been actively fulfilling co-development of

\\ ’,’ the villages and the enterprises in an effort to implement defined assistance programmes
T and measures through business development, giving priority to the creation of job
opportunities for local residents, in order to drive environmental improvements and industrial
upgrades in neighbouring areas. With the commissioning of the project and the
establishment, improvement and expansion of the biomass collection, storage and
transportation regime, the Group has effectively formulated a strategy underpinned by “extra
income for farmers, development for the enterprise and benefit for all”, directly or indirectly
driving economic growth for the villages and helping local residents to lift themselves from
poverty. In 2023, the integrated biomass utilisation projects of the Group directly and/or
indirectly provided over 42,128 job positions, contributing to approximately RMB2,370 million
of additional income for more than 5.30 million farmers.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

Environmental policy and performance

As a professional environmental protection service provider in
China, the Group is committed to delivering greater investment
value to various stakeholders and undertaking greater social
responsibility in fulflment of its corporate mission of being
“Devoted to Ecology and Environment for a Beautiful China”.
Against this backdrop, the Group is profoundly aware of the
importance of low-carbon green development, and has
established an environmental management department for the
supervision of relevant matters to ensure that the entire life cycle
of project operation has been taken into full consideration in our
internal policies and relevant management plans. At present,
material policies such as Protection of the Ecological Environment
Policy, Waste Management Policy, Water Resource Management
Policy, Energy Management Policy and ESG Policy have been
formulated by the Group to lay down detailed management rules
for different environmental aspects, such as discharge and
emission, energy consumption and climate change. In 2023, the
Group formulated and published the Nature-related Policy with the
aim of enhancing awareness for the protection of Nature and
concern for natural capital on the part of staff at all level of the
Group. Among them, the Protection of the Ecological Environment
Policy has made comprehensive and clear regulations on various
aspects such as environmental management organizations and
their responsibilities, environmental protection management of new
construction, reconstruction and expansion projects,
environmental protection management of projects in operation,
waste water and rainwater management, exhaust gas
management, solid waste management, noise management,
environmental information management, environmental risk
management, environmental ledger management and
corresponding inspection and assessment. Such policy is highly
systematic, complete and operable, and plays a decisive role in
improving the environmental management regime and enhancing
the Group’s environmental management level. To ensure effective
implementation of our policies, each project company has
established a safety and environmental management committee
branch, with the general manager of the project as the first
person in charge of safety and environmental management, who
is fully responsible for safety and environmental management
work. Dedicated personnel have been instituted to conduct
regular tests on the environmental indicators of exhaust gas,
wastewater, solid waste and noise, etc. The brief discussion on
the Group’s environmental performance are set out on page 53 of
this annual report and the details of our environmental
performance will be presented in the 2023 Sustainability Report.
During the year under review, the Group consistently applied
standardised operational models, formulated contingency plans
and conducted inspection over actual implementation in persistent
adherence to its environmental management regime, making
effective rectifications in respect of issues identified.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

Compliance with laws and regulations having a
material impact on the Group

The Group acts in strict accordance with laws and regulations of
the operating locations which may have a material impact on its
operations, conducts its business with integrity and subject itself
to the supervision of government, social groups and the public.
To this end, the Group has formulated the Regulations for the
Administration of Legal Affairs and developed a regime for the
administration of legal affairs which is centrally administered by
the risk management department and consistently implemented
by the subsidiaries.

With reference to laws and regulations relating to the environment
and operations, the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China might have a material impact on the Group’s
business. Such law is aimed at protecting and improving the
environmental, preventing pollution and other public hazards,
safeguarding public health, advancing the building of ecological
civilisation, and facilitating sustainable economic and social
development. Competent environmental authorities could order
enterprises which have committed violations of environmental
regulations, such as exceeding benchmarks and total volumes for
emission, to curb production, suspend production for rectification
or close down the operation. The Group has instituted a number
of internal policies and procedures and ensures prudent
management through regular reviews, training and examination. In

2023, there were no cases of significant violation of such law.

On the corporate level, the Group complies with the requirements
under the companies ordinances in the Cayman Islands, Hong
Kong and the PRC, the Listing Rules and the SFO for, among
other things, the disclosure of information and corporate
governance, and the Group has adopted the Model Code as set

out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continueq)

Compliance with laws and regulations having a
material impact on the Group (Continued)

For the discussion on the Company’s commitment to high
standards of corporate governance and the Board’s responsibility
for compliance with statutory obligations, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report set out on pages 56 to 105 of this
annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 154
and 155 of this annual report respectively.

The Board does not propose the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). Together with the
interim dividend of HK2.5 cents (2022: HK3.6 cents) per ordinary
share paid in October 2023, the total distribution of dividend by
the Company for the year of 2023 will be HK2.5 cents (2022:
HK3.6 cents) per ordinary share.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A financial summary of the Group for the last 5 financial years is
set out on pages 299 and 300. This summary does not form part
of the audited financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 39 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HK$2,418,559,000. Details
of distributable reserve of the Company are set out in note 39 to
the financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

There is no charitable donations made by the Group during the
year.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 25 to the financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers
of the Group respectively during this financial year is as follows:
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The largest customer BEREF 26%
Five largest customers in aggregate AAREF A 59%
The largest supplier AR 1%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate ARBEEEE 4%

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

DEBENTURES

Except as detailed in note 26 to the financial statements, the
Group has not issued any other debenture during the year.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year
and subsisted at the end of the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

HUANG Haiqing™* (Chairman)
QIAN Xiaodong* (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 9 February 2024)
ZHU Fugang* (Chief Executive Officer)
(re-designated as Chief Executive Officer on 9 February 2024)
LO Kam Fan** (Chief Financial Officer)
GUO Ying**
(resigned on 29 February 2024)
SONG Jian**
CHOW Siu Lui***
Philip TSAO***
(resigned on 9 February 2024)
YAN Houmin***
LI Huagiang*™*
(appointed on 9 February 2024)

Executive Director

Non-executive Director

Independent Non-executive Director

# Subsequent to 15 March 2024 and before the Latest Practicable
Date, certain changes to the Directors have taken place. Please
refer to page 1 of this annual report.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
LI Huagiang shall hold office only until the forthcoming AGM and
shall be eligible and offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 108(b) of the Articles of
HUANG Haiging, Mr.
Mr. SONG Jian will retire from office as Directors by rotation and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.

Association, Mr. ZHU Fugang and

The Company has received notice from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors and confirmed their respective
independence during the year 2023, and as at the date of this

report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 108 to 115 of this annual
report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, subsequent to the
date of the 2022 annual report, the changes in information of the
Directors as notified to the Company are set out below:

— Mr. CHOW Siu Lui, the Independent Non-executive Director,
resigned as an independent non-executive director of Global
Cord Blood Corporation (listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, Symbol: CO) with effect from 22 September
2022.

— Mr. CHOW Siu Lui, the Independent Non-executive Director,
resigned as a non-executive director of Renrui Human
Resources Technology Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 6919.HK) with effect
from 19 April 2023.

— Ms. GUO Ying, the Non-executive Director, resigned as the
general manager of audit department of CEEGL with effect
from 5 May 2023.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES
(Continued)

Mr. QIAN Xiaodong resigned as an Executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer, the chairman of the
Sustainability Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 9 February 2024.

Mr. Philip TSAO resigned as an Independent Non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of each of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Sustainability Committee with effect from 9 February 2024.

Mr. ZHU Fugang, the Executive Director and the vice
president of the Company, was re-designated as an
Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer and was
appointed as the chairman of the Sustainability Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect
from 9 February 2024.

Mr. LI Huagiang was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Sustainability Committee
with effect from 9 February 2024.

Prof. YAN Houmin was appointed as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 9 February 2024.

Ms. GUO Ying resigned as a Non-executive Director with
effect from 29 February 2024.

Mr. LI Huagiang, the Independent Non executive Director,
was appointed as the external director of Hunan Energy
Investment Group Co., Ltd. with effect from 11 March
2024.

Save as disclosed above, other changes in directors’ information

in respect of the period as at the date of this report, which are

required to be disclosed pursuant to the requirement of Rule

13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out in the section of

“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The term of service as a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the provisions of the
Articles of Association.

Each of the Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-
executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for a term of 2 years and/or around 2 years.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one vyear
other

without payment of compensation, than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the sections “Connected Transactions”,
“Continuing Connected Transactions” below and Related Party
Transactions as set out in note 35 to the financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director or any entities connected with the Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

Mr. HUANG Haiging served as executive director of CEEGL
during the year under review and up to the date of this report.
Mr. QIAN Xiaodong served as executive director of CEEGL during
the year under review and up to his resignation as an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer on 9 February 2024.
CEEGL is a listed intermediate holding company of the Company
and is principally engaged in renewable energy business. CEEGL
may be in competition with the Group. However, the Board is
independent of the board of CEEGL and none of the above
Directors can control the Board, the Group is therefore capable of
carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length
from the businesses of these entities. Furthermore, the Company
implements various corporate governance measures to ensure the
independence between CEEGL and the Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors are considered to
have interests in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ emoluments are subject to the recommendations
of the Remuneration Committee. The emoluments are determined
with
performances and the results of the Group. No Director is

reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and

involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
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TTHRABRA 2D -~
B MBS AR

The Directors and the chief executive of the Company who held RIE(EF M EEPI)E2EREBATFEFZ
office as at 31 December 2023 and their respective close BHENARNGETBITHABERIARZLMAT

associates had the following interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company, its
holding company, subsidiaries or other associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) at that date as
recorded in the register of directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long position in shares of the Company

HEBEr N E-=F+-_A=+—HAEE
LEERARAZEETHRAERBEESBCE
BB ARZBAEARQR  HIERAR - WEBA
Bk EH M A EE (TE R(EHFRBEKRDNE
xw%Zhﬁ RN MESFTES 2T
KRB FRIBIZETRENGARR BRI

T“E& REIWT

REQXRARDZHFR

Approximate
percentage of
total issued
shares
Number of (note (iv))
shares held HE &7,
(shares) BmE
Capacity Nature of interest  FT#5 & {H 2K B SR
Name of Director ZEHH S BaitE (B%) (BE3EGv)
QIAN Xiaodong BN Beneficial owner Personal 242,000 0.0117%
(note (i) (FiF3E() EmBEEA & A
LO Kam Fan E R E) Interests held jointly with another ~ Family interest 200,000 0.0096%
(note (v)) (P37 person/Interest of spouse (note (ii))
V) BE—AERFE 2D TB Rk ()
2w
SONG Jian KR Interest of spouse Family interest 3,000 0.0001%
iR (note (ii)
Rk e (T EE (i)
Notes: B 5E
0] Mr. QIAN Xiaodong resigned as an Executive Director and the Chief () BT PUF - ANBIE - BRI EFENT

Executive Officer with effect from 9 February 2024. EERTBAH -
(i)~ Mr. LO Kam Fan beneficially owns 150,000 shares of the Company (i) ERBL4-EEREXRFESEE AR A
together with his spouse and is deemed to be interested in 50,000 150,000% f& 19 K i i@ A @Eﬁ%?ﬁ%ﬁﬂf%ﬁ$ﬁﬁ

shares of the Company through his spouse.

(iif) All those shares are beneficially owned by Mr. SONG Jian’s spouse.

50, OOOHQH%%Z’PE@ °

iy FBZEROBERBLEZEBESHES -

vy R-Z-_=F+-"A=1+—H ARFREHTK

(iv) As at 31 December 2023, the number of shares of the Company in
1»E B 4/2,066,078,000 % °

issue was 2,066,078,000 shares.

MoZ-MFE=A+HAAREREERATAY

(v) Subsequent to 15 March 2024 and before the Latest Practicable  (v)
2R BERREETEY  B2EAFHRE1H -

Date, certain changes to the Directors have taken place. Please
refer to page 1 of this annual report.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE SEEZENTETRAERAE B, -
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, MM EEAEERLARE (&)
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(Continueqd)
Long position in shares of CEEGL, a listed RAEQXB ETHFNERAAXRAKBRERS Z
intermediate holding company of the Company e

Approximate
percentage of
total issued
shares
Number of (note(viii))
shares held (5B &7 {H
(shares) BE
Capacity Nature of interest FTis Rt m 2 BAOBEST
Name of Director EEfA S s (9] (B 2 (vii))
LO Kam Fan (note (ix) E 5538 (Ff7E(ix)) Interests held jointly Family interest (note (vi) 6,041 0.0001%
with another K ik (PR3 (vi))
person/Interest of
spouse
HE— ALRFEL
T P X
SONG Jian R Interest of spouse  Family interest 7,851 0.0001%
Y= 2 (note (vii))
N EAGIE)
Notes: Bt 5

(v  Mr. LO Kam Fan beneficially owns 281 shares of CEEGL together  (vi)  [E#pZ)scA EER B LR T R HEA X AIRIE281

with his spouse and is deemed to be interested in 5,760 shares of AR A% 17 B2 375 48 L B (5 48 A% 1E HE B X RIR 385,760
CEEGL through his spouse. MRS 2 #E %5 -

(vii)  All those shares are beneficially owned by Mr. SONG Jian’s spouse. (Vi) FiBZSERMEARGEEZEEERES -

(vii)  As at 31 December 2023, the number of shares of CEEGL in issue  (vii) R-Z-=F+-A=+—H XARBECDET
was 6,142,975,292 shares. &1 & B £A6,142,975,292 4% °

(x)  Subsequent to 15 March 2024 and before the Latest Practicable (x) R-Z-_NME=A+HBENEEEKRAI{TEH
Date, certain changes to the Directors have taken place. Please A BEEEAETEY  B2EAFREIE -
refer to page 1 of this annual report.



INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which are
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other than a
Director or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or
short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE RIE(FEH LEIEEHI)E FIHE 2 IR
UNDER THE SFO (Continued) RiEm (&)
Long position in shares of the Company AR Z2HER

Name of
substantial shareholder

China Everbright Green

PEEAREERARAF

Capacity
H1p

Beneficial owner

Nature of interest
Rt

Long position in ordinary

shares held and

approximate percentage

of total issued shares
(note (6))

BB AR
HEBRTRNBHZ
BOAD
(M5E(6))

1,440,000,000

Holdings Limited ([HAGZEER]) ExEAA 69.70%
(“CE Green Holdings”) (M=)
(note (1))
CEEGL (note (1)) FRRE (H (1) Interest of controlled  Corporate interest 1,440,000,000
_corporation NGIE- 69.70%
e NSl oF -
China Everbright Holdings FEK REBBR AT Interest of controlled  Corporate interest 1,462,912,986
Company Limited (TAREE] (M) corporation UNGIE- 25 70.81%

(“CE Hong Kong”)
(note (2))

Guildford Limited (“Guildford”)
(note (2))

China Everbright Group
(note (2))

Central Huijin Investment Ltd.
(“Huijin”)

Guildford Limited ([ Guildford )
(M &E@)

PR AKE (HEQ)

PRESREFREALT
(TEZ )

REH AR ER

Interest of controlled
corporation
XS A MRS

Interest of controlled
corporation

ERzL NGl 3

Interest of controlled
corporation
B NG )2

Corporate interest
NGIL: 323

Corporate interest
NGIE S

Corporate interest
NGIL: 323

1,461,706,369
70.75%

1,462,912,986
70.81%

1,462,912,986
(note (3)) (B ZE(@3))
70.81%

100,550,000
(note (4) (HIZE(4))
4.87%




INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO (Continued)

Long position in shares of the Company (Continued)
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RIBECEZF LB GO BT B E 2K
R (&)
KA RG 2R (&)

Long position in ordinary
shares held and
approximate percentage
of total issued shares
(note (6))

IR ERRERE R

HEBETRNEHZ

Name of Capacity Nature of interest BHB DL

substantial shareholder TEREAT 17 BEaftE GER)

Ningbo Ningdian Investment EREERELEERAA Beneficial owner — 122,127,000
Development Co., Ltd. ([BR=EE])(HEE) EREEA 5.91%
(“NB Ningdian”) (note (5)

Ningbo Energy Group Co., EREREERNERAA Interest of controlled  Corporate interest 174,922,000
Ltd. (“NB Energy”) (M= ek ) (fEx(s) corporation ArlER 8.47%
(note (5)) REHIA AR

Ningbo Development & BRHERESEERAA Interest of controlled ~ Corporate interest 174,922,000
Investment Group Co., = GEDIGER) corporation NEER 8.47%

Ltd. (“NB Development”)
(note (5))

REHARMER

Notes:

CE Green Holdings is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL, which
is in turn controlled 43.08% by CE Hong Kong, through its direct
wholly-owned subsidiaries. Accordingly, CEEGL and CE Hong Kong
are deemed to be interested in the 1,440,000,000 shares held by
CE Green Holdings.

China Everbright Group holds 100% of the issued shares of CE Hong
Kong. CE Hong Kong holds (1) 100% of the issued shares of
Guildford; and (2) 100% of the issued shares of Everbright
Investment & Management Limited (“EIM”), respectively. Out of the
1,462,912,986 shares, 1,440,000,000 shares are held by CE Green
Holdings and 21,706,369 shares are held by Guildford. The
remaining 1,206,617 shares are held by EIM. Accordingly, China
Everbright Group and CE Hong Kong are deemed to be interested
in those shares held by CE Green Holdings, Guildford and EIM
respectively.

Huijin is indirectly wholly-owned by the State Council of the PRC
and holds 63.16% equity interests of China Everbright Group. It is
deemed to be interested in the 1,462,912,986 shares indirectly
held by China Everbright Group.

Huijin is also deemed to be interested in 100,550,000 shares held
by its associated companies and a non-wholly owned subsidiary.

CEX

(1) RRFBERANCKBRENZEWBAF Mkt
ABREAXABTESEREEEZEAWB A RLEH
43.08% ° EI - S ABRBE R A AETBWR AR
e K 4R 8 15 B 45 B /9 1,440,000,000 % A% 17 &
BRER -

(@ AFAEIAKREEFBHREB100% D FHITRMD
YK EE D B A (1)Guildford  100% B 3 17 %
B RQEREEEERERAR([AREEE
3 1) 100% B 31T %D ° 1£1,462,912,986% I 15
#  F1,440,000,0008% B 15 F % K&k @15 45
A 1221,706,369% i 1 B Guildford¥s & - H #
1,206,617 RH BB X RIEEEERE - &
b FEEREBE R A REBHER B RITEL
KER IR ~ Guildford X X AR EERFFFA 2
R IEE RS -

(3 EhmTEEKRMEZERES  THEPE)
ANEEB316%MHE - EW R ARPE I KER
PSR A 21,462,912, 986 A% A% (0 Fh i A %5 -

@) ESTEGEASBEBBEARIRIEZEWNBEAR
100,550,000 8% i 17 R #E B FE =S o
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO (Continued)

Long position in shares of the Company (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

5) NB Development holds 45.90% of the issued shares of NB Energy.
NB Energy holds (1) 100% of the issued shares of NB Ningdian;
(2) 100% of the issued shares of Ningbo BSLS Trade Co., Ltd.
(“NBBSLS”); and (3) 100% of the issued shares of Lvneng
Investment & Development Co., Limited (“Lvneng Investment”),
respectively. Out of the 174,922,000 shares, 122,127,000 shares
are held by NB Ningdian; 20,019,000 shares are held by NBBSLS;
and 32,776,000 shares are held by Lvneng Investment.
Accordingly, NB Development and NB Energy are deemed to be
interested in those shares held by NB Ningdian, NBBSLS and
Lvneng Investment respectively.

(6) As at 31 December 2023, the number of shares of the Company in
issue was 2,066,078,000 shares.

Apart from the foregoing, as at 31 December 2023, the
Company had not been notified of any other interests by
prescribed notices which were required to be recorded in the

register kept under section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur
in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. There is appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
of the Group.

RIBCEZ M ERDI)D AT R E 2R
Rt (&)

FRTBRGB2HR ()
M (4

(65) EIRBIEESEEINEERA5.00% T BITRN - =
WEERD B3 A (1) EREE100%E /TR D
QBFEBLTESBRAR (2K EBLH])
100% B &7 + RQ)EFEREERABR QA
([#78238 & 1) 100% B 21T (D ° 1£174,922,000
BERE D e - 122,127, 00085 B 1) |1 2808k B+
A 520,019,000 AHERE BLEHIFEF &
32,776,000 & 1D AR EE IR B =R Ut - 2K
FBEREFRERINEERES S5 B4
Mg EMBE RO P HAER -

6) M-ZE-=F+-"A=+—08 AQRAZETRK
& B A&2,066,078,000 4% °

brEaiEN  RZZTEZ=F+=-_HA=+—H =&
AR EEETAMNBA KRR TMEtmER
B AMKRBCES BB GG #3366 BFE
= - ny 111 A AN ID

BIEAEH
RER - BET IR ERDEESBARTR
BHRIAEADBDER 2 SERTHOAHL o

T /R R B (R K

RESRMAAT  SLEFHERURAAE
EREREATRBET R AR A EE
MESREE 2 A BARAS - ARRAEHA
SHMEEREABERBOBEZEEREAM
EETRR -



MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Material related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year are set out in note 35 to the financial statements
include transactions that constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Group as defined in the Listing Rules, the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Lease of the premise

On 6 May 2022, China Everbright Greentech Management
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a new agreement with China Everbright International
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL, in relation to
subletting the commercial unit at Unit 3602 of 36th Floor, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for a term of
3 years commencing from 18 May 2022 to 17 May 2025 (both
days inclusive) at a monthly rent of HK$194,400 (exclusive of
rates, management fee, water, electricity, gas and other utility
charges payable to independent third parties not connected with
the Company in respect of the use of the premises during the

lease term).

Following the adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 16 Leases issued by the HKICPA with effect from
1 January 2019, the Company recognised this transaction as an
asset representing its right to use the leased asset, regarded as
an acquisition of asset under the definition of transaction set out
in Rule 14.04(1)(a) of the Listing Rules. Since the highest of all
applicable percentage ratios set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing
Rules is more than 0.1% but less than 5%, this transaction is
subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but
exempt from circular and the independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Deposit and loan services

On 15 December 2022, the Company entered into a new deposit

services master agreement and a new loan services master

agreement (collectively, the “New Services Master Agreements”)

with  China Everbright Group. Pursuant to the New Services

Master Agreements, China Everbright Group will, through its

associate, China Everbright Bank Company Limited (“CE Bank”),

provide deposit and loan services to the Group for a term of 3

years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

(@)

Pursuant to the new deposit services master agreement,
China Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank to provide
deposit services to the Group (including current and fixed
term deposit) in accordance with rules and regulations
prescribed by the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) and/or
other relevant rules and regulations within or outside the
PRC. The deposit services to be provided by CE Bank shall
be on normal commercial terms and no less favourable than
the terms available to the Group from independent third
parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the maximum
daily closing balance of the Group’s deposits (including
interests accrued thereon) placed in CE Bank amounted to
approximately HK$123,302,000. This amount did not
exceed the annual cap of HK$130,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

+ 5=
4

ERX S

FREERERS

LA —
N
-

- —F+-A+HEH ARBEPEEK

SR NFERRGBHBELNERRS L HE
(FBIFRBEHHE]D - BEBEFREBBZ -

B REESEBEBEAPBYRIETRNDE
FRA R ([ ARRIT]) MRS B IRETF R R EHR
B BAZEZ=F—A—HARBE_ZT-_AFt+=
A=+—81 " A#=%F-

REBEFHFFRGRIHZE - PEXKEES
RESXARITREFEARRT ([FEA
RIBITDITEZ R R R,/ B3R
MEIRINE AR BE AR R AR B - [ AR E
REFFRSG (BFEEHRERFR) X
RRTHREHRZFRRE TR —REE K
FIEE - BEGATERAREEELE
=TT AR -

REBEEZZE_=F+_A=+—HIEFE -
AEEBEBRRARRTZESTAGERE
# (BIEEFERTFIR) BAE 123,302,000
Tot2BEIB/BEBEE T -_=F+=
A=+t BLEFEZFERBEBE
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Deposit and loan services (Continued)

(0)

The new loan services master agreement shall be on a non-
exclusive basis and the Company is at liberty to obtain loan
services from other third parties. Pursuant to the new loan
services master agreement, China Everbright Group shall
procure CE Bank to provide loans to the Group (including
revolving credit facility and fixed term loan) in accordance
with rules and regulations prescribed by the PBOC and/or
other relevant rules and regulations within or outside the
PRC. The loans services to be provided by CE Bank shall
be on normal commercial terms and no less favourable than
the terms available to the Group from independent third
parties.

Since CE Bank and the Group have a long-term relationship
of cooperation, CE Bank has a better understanding of the
operations and development of the Group and is in a better
position to serve the financial arrangements of the Group. It
is also expected that it will be cost-efficient, expedient and
beneficial for the Group to receive deposit and loan services
from CE Bank. In addition, CE Bank is regulated by China
Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission and is
subject to the rules and requirements of such regulatory
authority, thus reducing risks to the Group in receiving
financial services from CE Bank.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the maximum
daily closing balance of the Group’s loans (excluding loans
which do not require security over the assets of the Group)
provided by CE Bank amounted to zero. This amount did
not exceed the annual cap of HK$130,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continueq)

Purchases of equipment

On 15 December 2022, Everbright Greentech Management
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* (“Everbright Greentech Management
Shenzhen”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a new equipment purchase master agreement with
(Changzhou)
Company Limited* (“EB Environmental Changzhou”), an indirect

Everbright Environmental Technology Equipment

wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL, in respect of the purchase of
the equipment and related services from EB Environmental
Changzhou for a term of 3 years from 1 January 2023 to

31 December 2025.

The new equipment purchase master agreement enables the
Group to procure the equipment and related services from EB
Environmental Changzhou which has been a technologically

competent and reliable supplier of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the amounts payable
to EB Environmental Changzhou under the new equipment
purchase master agreement amounted to approximately
RMB22,918,000. The amount did not exceed the annual cap of

RMB100,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023.

*

For identification purpose only
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Purchases of steam

On 15 December 2022, EB Greentech Cogeneration (Sugian)
Limited* (“EB Greentech Cogeneration Sugian”), an indirect
wholly- owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a steam
purchase master agreement with EB Environmental Energy
(Sugian) Company Limited* (“EB Environmental Energy Sugian”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL, in respect of the
purchase of steam from EB Environmental Energy Sugian for a

term of 3 years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

EB Greentech Cogeneration Sugian is a supplier of steam in
Sugian, Jiangsu, the PRC. EB Greentech Cogeneration Sugian
entered into the steam purchase master agreement with EB
Environmental Energy Sugian to continue the purchase of steam
from EB Environmental Energy Sugian under emergency
situations, so as to ensure its uninterrupted supply of heat to

customers.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the amounts payable
to EB Environmental Energy Sugian under the steam purchase
master agreement amounted to approximately RMB13,866,000.
The amount did not exceed the annual cap of RMB60,000,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

*

For identification purpose only
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continueq)

Employee healthcare protection services

On 15 December 2022, the Company entered into an employee
healthcare protection services master agreement with China
Everbright Group. Pursuant to the employee healthcare protection
services master agreement, China Everbright Group shall procure
its associates (including but not limited to Sun Life Everbright Life
Insurance Co., Ltd.* (“Sun Life Everbright”) and its associates) to
provide employee healthcare protection services to the Group for

a term of 3 years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

The Company values the health and safety of employees. Apart
from participating in social insurance programs as required, the
Company also takes part in the medical insurance and healthcare
protection scheme, to further improve the sense of belonging of
and healthcare

the employees and to refine the medical

protection system.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the amounts payable
to Sun Life Everbright under the employee healthcare protection
services master agreement amounted to approximately
RMB25,129,000. The amount did not exceed the annual cap of
RMB32,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023.

*

For identification purpose only
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Underwriting and advisory services

On 15 December 2022, the Company entered into underwriting
and advisory services master agreement with China Everbright
Group, pursuant to which, China Everbright Group shall procure
its associates (including but not limited to Everbright Securities
Company Limited (China Everbright Group being its controlling
“EB Securities”) and

underwriting and advisory services to the Group for a term of 3

shareholder, its associates) to provide

years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

EB Securities (an associate of CE Group) and its associates
which provide underwriting and advisory services are major
underwriters in the PRC securities market, and they have
extensive underwriting experience and strong sales and
investment capacities. Taking reference from the underwriting
services rendered by EB Securities for the Groups’ previous
issuance of asset-backed notes and term notes, the Group
expects that EB Securities and its associates, acting as the
underwriters of the Group, will greatly benefit the issuance, sale
and pricing of the Group, and facilitate the completion of the
issuance plans of bonds and securities of the Group in the

forthcoming years.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the amounts payable
to EB Securities under the underwriting and advisory service
master agreement amounted to approximately RMB3,300,000.
The amount did not exceed the annual cap of RMB9,424,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

China Everbright Group is a controlling shareholder of CEEGL, the
controlling shareholder of the Company. Therefore, each of China
Everbright Group and its associates, including CE Bank, CEEGL,
Sun Life Everbright, EB Securities, and their associates, is a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. In particular, EB Environmental Changzhou and EB
Environmental Energy Sugian are indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of CEEGL. Therefore, each of EB Environmental
Changzhou and EB Environmental Energy Sugian is also a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under
each of the New Services Master Agreements, the new
equipment purchase master agreement, the steam purchase
master agreement, the employee healthcare protection services
master agreement, and the underwriting and advisory services
master agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the New Services Master Agreements, the new
equipment purchase master agreement, the steam purchase
master agreement, the employee healthcare protection services
master agreement and the underwriting and advisory services
master agreement were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 15 December 2022.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed these
continuing connected transactions in respect of deposit and loan
services, purchase of equipment, purchase of steam, employee
healthcare protection services and underwriting and advisory
services (collectively, the “2023 Continuing Connected
Transactions”) and confirmed that 2023 Continuing Connected
Transactions were:

° entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

° conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

° in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on
the Group’s 2023 Continuing Connected Transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the HKICPA. Emst & Young has issued an
unmodified letter containing the findings and conclusions in
respect of the 2023 Continuing Connected Transactions disclosed
above by the Group in accordance with rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the 2023 Continuing Connected Transactions.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any connected
transactions which were subject to the reporting requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Company operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the ORSO Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the Group’s MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at 10% and 5% of the employees’
relevant income, respectively.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the
retirement schemes operated by the local authorities. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll to these schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is the
required contributions under the schemes. The Group’s total
contributions to these schemes charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2023 amounted to HK$58,763,000.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal
Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report”

corporate governance practices adopted by the

contained in this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, the Board confirms
that the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required by the Listing Rules during the year under review.

AUDITORNete

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
audited by Ernst & Young.

By order of the Board

China Everbright Greentech Limited
HUANG Haiqing

Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 March 2024

Note: Subsequent to 15 March 2024 and before the Latest Practicable
Date, change of the auditor of the Company has been proposed.
Please refer to page 1 of this annual report.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA
EVERBRIGHT GREENTECH LIMITED

Ernst & Young

979 King’s Road,

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Everbright Greentech Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 154 to 298, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023,
consolidated statement of comprehensive

the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
statements,

the consolidated financial including material

accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

27/F, One Taikoo Place

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Audiitor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our

audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BMARBFLPUNAEESRBERELEE

Recognition of construction revenue from service concession arrangements

XK EIRFEHF AR S 1 T 2 B W i TR AR

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
recognised revenue arising from construction services under the
terms of service concession agreements of approximately
HK$661 million, which is measured based on the Group’s
estimation of the fair value of construction services and the
progress of construction work completed during the year for
each project.

BHE-_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE E5ECBRBERES
RS SRR R R RIS RIS E £ WA KB H56.61187T » itk
IRE EEEHURBEEFANEERBAAENRE THRESE
TiREERMEETMmaTE -

Significant judgement and estimation are required to determine
() the fair value of construction services which involves
estimation of the total construction costs and the gross profit
margin of each project and (i) the completion status of
construction work for the year.
BEOSREABSEBERZERRNRENENZERBE A ALENR
(i) 5 3R & T2 Se RGN 19 75 1F B K B R (5t »

The Group engaged an independent valuer and independent
surveyors to assess the fair value of construction services and
the progress of construction work up to the year-end date,
respectively.

EXEEZRE - 2B MEMRBASMD R EEEFLEB
IEWRERBN AR EREETRAERE

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 5 to the
financial statements.

MR BRSNS IRR M35

Our audit procedures, included, amongst others,

B EZEFEE (T ERE) -

() evaluating the objectivity, competence and
independence of the independent valuer and
surveyors;

SR TE L (AR A SR E FER T - B TaE
KB

(i) involving our internal valuation specialists to
assess the bases and key assumptions used
in the valuation of construction services with
reference to observable market data and
comparable companies;

B RBEMANAIBEEERL2E B RN IS
BRAIA RN AR ERERB G ETRE R
HERBREBR

(i

=

checking the underlying data used in the
construction progress reports to construction
agreements and invoices; and

B R E W E TR B RS R
MEBEE R

(iv

=

understanding management’s process in
estimating budgeted costs and cost to
completion for incomplete projects.
THREAEERARRTIEE AT IKAL
ERIE ©
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Key audit matter

BREXER

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BEMREGPUAEEAEBERERSE

Provision for expected credit losses on contract assets and debtors

BRIEER B ) TE R 15 BE1R AT

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of contract
assets and debtors amounted to approximately HK$9,628
million and HK$7,854 million, respectively, net of provision for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) of approximately HK$199
million.

MRZEZ_=ZF+_A=+—H &HNEAEKEVERNEREE
DRI BABE6.281B T kA K T8.54B T - MK TBEEEEEIE
(ITEEAEEEBE]) BHELEE1.09 T

Management performed impairment assessment of debtors and
contract assets without significant financing component under
the simplified approach whereas contract assets with significant
financing component under the general approach.
EREREMEENZHBEEAMERSNEREREEL
BEETRENG MBE-—REEHZHAEEARENS
&R EEETRERME -

Significant management judgements and estimations are
involved in the assessment of ECLs after considering historical
settlement pattern, ageing profiles, credit rating of debtors, and
forecast economic conditions. The Group has engaged an
independent valuer to assist in the calculation of ECLs.
RERBEGERR - RRIBEN - BEEANERFRLARLE
MAiE - REEEBERMETERNEREEHE Mt E5E
ERE—RBIGEMBAERRAEEERE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 21 and 22 to the
financial statements.

AR BN SRR ES 21 %22 ¢

Our audit procedures included, amongst others,
BMNEZETFEE(EPaR)

() obtaining an understanding of management’s
basis in determining ECLs;
THREREETAREERENEE

(i) evaluating management’s basis of estimation
of loss rates by checking ageing profiles and
historical settlement patterns on sample basis;
FRmEREREBALBEAERR G
EIRENERRMENEE

(i

=

assessing the competence, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer; and
SN ERM B ERE S REERE Y
MR

(iv

=

involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us to evaluate the methodology of ECLs
calculation and the key parameters used with
reference to external available data sources.
B RBANAEEEER B R AT EESRE
BEEFEN T EAR2Z N B EE KRR
CRANERE2E -
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How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EPREEPNNEEERBRERSIE

Impairment of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

BIEEE WF BERREREHEEELR

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of intangible
assets (“IA”), property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) and right-
of-use assets (“ROU assets”) amounted to approximately
HK$12,820 million, HK$4,580 million and HK$530 million,
respectively.

MRZZE_=F+_A=+—1H BEEE(EEEE] W%
Wi K&t ([% - BEREE]) MMERAREEE (HREEE]
BEREED R "B HE128.2018 T - # ¥ 45.8018 7T B #56.30
BT °

Management performs impairment assessment on IA, PPE and
ROU assets when an indication of impairment exists.
Impairment losses on IA, PPE and ROU assets of
approximately HK$656 million in aggregate has been recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to reduce the carrying
amounts of certain |A, PPE and ROU assets to their
recoverable amounts which is the higher of the fair value less
cost of disposal (“FVLCD”) and value in use (“VIU”).

%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%%'a@F%ﬁﬁﬁﬁé WME - BER&RER
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AT RAEREERAK]) REREER(EREE] PHRSE -

Management determined the recoverable amounts of the
relevant cash generating units (“CGUs”) as at 31 December
2023 to which these assets were allocated based on VIU.
Significant judgements and estimations are involved in the
assessments of the recoverable amount of the relevant CGUs
including assumptions on revenue growth rates, operating costs
and discount rates.

EREREEREEEEREEEMPEE AR eEEEN
((ReEFEU)R_E_=F+_HA=+— E%TW@éﬁo
HBAE ¢ E S BT W E SRR & EAH R EE
REAWNGERE  ZERAREBRENRE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 14, 15 and 17 to
the financial statements.

HEEESHN Y ERERMZES 14 15K%17 ¢

Our audit procedures included, amongst others,

BPWBEZERFEE (EHhEeR)

(0

(i

=

(iv

=

understanding and evaluating the Group’s
procedures in identification of impairment
indicators and determination of the relevant
CGUs;

TEEFE BEEERSIRETRLEEER
ReELBEMNEF

assessing impairment losses is made with
reference to the recoverable amounts of the
relevant CGUs being determined based on the
higher of FVLCD and VIU;
2EZHBREGELEMC (IRBAABRLEE
KAREREEFOHRSEET) N AIKDEE
BT AR ER

evaluating key assumptions and parameters
used in assessing VIU with reference to
historical data and market information;

2ER L HERTISEMTERTAERAER
P AR BRE R

involving our internal valuation specialists to
evaluate valuation methodologies and discount
rates used by benchmarking to comparable
companies and normal market practice; and
B RBEMAHRNBEEZRFEEECRHHTE
LB A R ERIEE TS E G P A B E A KR
BRIRE R

performing sensitivity analyses on key inputs
used.

BHE AR ABURETBRE DN -

/

\
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
Report, other than the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

included in the Annual

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit and Risk
Management Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

F RS ey H it B Ft

BERAEFAHEAMENER - AMBER BT
ERNFRANER  ETEEGEAVBRR LR
Iz ZBED @R E o

BPUGEMBREZBEAL TREEMER -
BT A EZEEMERNBREATEAZRES

o ©

BARRMEGAMBHRERNEZ  RANETR
BEREMER  FEUERES ZEHEMENIS
B AP BHRRARMAERLBESMAETNIT
MEFEEAEBEREUFFEEAHRRL - &
REMEHITZITHE  HRABSEMBERFE
BEABERRL BT EREXFTE -HEES
- HPPLB ERHRE -

EERGEMBERRBAEZEDL

BERAERABEREEEGAGHEMN[E
BB HREER ] REE R FRD BV TR R E R
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
throughout the audit. We also:

scepticism

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, intentional

forgery, omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

in order to design audit procedures that are

internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit and Risk Management
Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit and Risk Management Committee with
a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

s HEERARELKLEHERZBEMLRE
HAER o RIBMERZ BZEE  BERD
FEEFHEXBRAEBOEATEEE
femA e By BEERBENFELERED
EEBERRE - MEMBAFEEATE
- AN EERBEMBSPIREER
EIBRAMBERRDZIEABERE - RE
BRENBEETR BB MEEERRMN
BR-HMNERDENZEENRE BB
LEFrERIG 2 BAIZIBRE - AT - RRFIESB
MATREE BERETREBELE -

s HESAMBHmERIERIBIA &H
AR BREE  ARGERHBERRES
R RRABER S MER -

e 3 EEERNERIKXHKEIDNMBER
EEGtR  BEZEREE  UEHEAHM
BHREABRKRER - BHMAE BEREEZN
A BEBMAT - RAI/BRERAESR
HREAME -

BPEEZLREREEZESH (RHEE) EX
MEBEE BRZFERERBZER (BER
PIR BAZ P & B AR ES I VR (A B KR PR #E
17838 -

BT AEZLEAREEZESRIEN  KH
BZFERNSBMBE L EZHRERENR  WERRK
FRBAAEAEMER AT ERMBILIENAR
BRENEMEIER - L RAEEREE MR TT
B AR A E S E i (ER) -



From the matters communicated with the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Fok Lai Ching.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

15 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEaR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—=E-= g
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
REVENUE I = 5 7,416,973 8,048,171
Direct costs and operating expenses BEEKAREEEA (5,821,730) (6,364,723)
Gross profit EF 1,595,243 1,683,448
Other revenue H Yz 6 279,854 335,566
Other losses, net H b B8 F 5 6 (86,532) (123,960)
Impairment of intangible assets, property, BREE W% BB
plant and equipment and right-of-use HERFAEEE
assets 8 (655,653) (15,526)
Administrative expenses THER (649,039) (617,325)
Finance costs MK ER 7 (824,825) (740,997)
Share of profits of associates T Bk 2 1 B 22 7| 895 7,475
Share of profits/(losses) of joint ventures i EERT,
(EH) 769 (18,523)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRBATRR,(FE) 8 (339,288) 510,158
Income tax credit/(expense) TR e, (Fx) 11 37,457 (165,158)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR KEERF(FHE) (301,831) 345,000
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: LB
Equity shareholders of the Company AR E SRR (301,711) 340,201
Holders of perpetual medium-term notes XEFHEERFTEA 30 36,285 15,952
Non-controlling interests FEI IR B 2 (36,405) (11,153)
(301,831) 345,000
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE AT ERRREMN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY BRERN,(FHE)
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EAR R #E (BL) (14.60) 16.47
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
mETEWERE

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HE T —_=F+_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-= —_F_—
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AEERF(FHER) (301,831) 345,000
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Htt2mEmUWB A (EiE)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be REEHRAEENSES
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent BmzHMEEEA
periods: (E18) :
Changes in fair value of debtors at fair value BRAREF AEMEE
through other comprehensive income/(loss), WA (E1E) K ER
net of nil tax L OMN I I=E-
HBRZEHIE (290,412) 66,345
Exchange differences on translation of financial BREBBRINE TG
statements of entities outside Hong Kong, WMREEZIERZE
net of nil tax R TRIE
— Subsidiaries — B AE (466,523) (1,629,271)
— Associates — B AT (6,370) (24,190)
— Joint ventures — BEhE (2,287) (2,189)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR REFZHMPEES
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX R IE (765,592) (1,589,305)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR AEELHEEIEEE
THE YEAR (1,067,423) (1,244,305)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: LS :
Equity shareholders of the Company A E) = IR (1,058,943) (1,219,378)
Holders of perpetual medium-term notes XEFRHEREEA 36,285 15,952
Non-controlling interests FEFE A HE o (44,765) (40,879)
(1,067,423) (1,244,305)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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2023 2022
—_Eg-= g
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T ek i e
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment LE &S 14 4,579,981 5,044,489
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15(a) 529,606 619,354
Goodwill GES 16 130,651 134,207
Intangible assets EEE 17 12,820,119 13,355,885
Interests in joint ventures EREDEER 18 31,906 33,424
Interests in associates iR NI s 19 234,408 239,883
Other receivables, deposits and B EBIA - ek
prepayments TE IR 22 391,012 506,297
Contract assets BWEE 21 6,357,849 6,698,920
Deferred tax assets BT IRE = 27 198,495 80,855
Total non-current assets EMENEEETE 25,274,027 26,713,314
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories TE 20 364,659 377,993
Debtors, other receivables, deposits and FEUBR B« Eo4th JE WK
prepayments 1H - e RBAHIE 22 8,464,079 6,964,425
Contract assets GWEE 21 3,270,503 3,092,300
Tax recoverable A] Uy [0 # 78 5,373 5,051
Pledged bank deposits BIIFRITER 23 47,361 75,043
Deposits with banks RITFE 23 22,844 23,465
Cash and cash equivalents HehBEEEY 23 2,308,578 1,904,785
Total current assets MBEEBT 14,483,397 12,443,062
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Creditors, other payables and accrued FEATBR SR - E b FE S 3K
expenses B ETER 24 2,655,805 3,207,250
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings #8717 R HE MG E 25 10,213,907 5,809,395
Lease liabilities HESE 15(b) 4,080 3,049
Tax payables & 5 18 69,897 42,078
Total current liabilities mEN B EERE 12,943,689 9,061,772
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position %= & 8t %k 5% &

At 31 December 2023 A—ZE—-=%#+—-HA=+—H

2023 2022
—_E_= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 1,539,708 3,381,290
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HMEERARBERE
LIABILITIES 26,813,735 30,094,604
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBAEE
Other payables H b B S 3R 24 177,754 181,923
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings & BR1T R EMEE 25 12,917,853 14,927,130
Lease liabilities HEARE 15(b) 22,015 16,513
Deferred tax liabilities BEIER I & & 27 1,339,774 1,434,753
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERTE 14,457,396 16,560,319
NET ASSETS EEFRHE 12,356,339 13,534,285
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to equity shareholders QA AR R
of the Company JE(L R
Share capital % 7 28 1,608,029 1,608,029
Reserves 1 29 9,663,198 10,776,766
11,271,227 12,384,795
Perpetual medium-term notes XEFHZERE 30 806,982 806,982
Non-controlling interests JEER S 278,130 342,508
TOTAL EQUITY AR 12,356,339 13,534,285
ZHU Fugang SONG Jian
KIERI AR
Director Director
S =
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
TMEEREERX

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RAARERFERL
Perpetual Non-
Share Share  Exchange Fair value Other  Reserve Retained medium-  controlling Total
capital premium reserve  reserve  reserve fund profits Total term notes interests equity
MAE K& FER
K RiEE EXRE RE AR REE REERW aE THZE B ERAER
Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Wi EETn E¥Tr  BMTn BMTn E¥Tn EMTn BMTn BETn  EMTn  A¥Tn E¥Tn
At 1 January 2023 W=Z2-=%-f-H 1,608,029 3,537,109  (817,170)* (65,382)*  (8,615)* 503,344* 7,627,480* 12,384,795 806,982 342,508 13,534,285
Profit/loss) for the year REERA/(BR) - - - - - - (301,711) (301,711) 36,285 (36,405 (301,831)
Other comprenensive loss for the year:  AEEEM2EEE :
Changes in fair value of debtors at BARE AL
fair value through other 2ERAHELK
comprehensive income, net of nil EHNALES
tax 8 RTHE - - - (290412) - - - (290412) - - (290412)
Exchange differences on tranglation RERERIREY
of financial statements of entities BREEELE
outside Hong Kong, net of nil tax HER KT
b
— Subsidiaries - HBAR - - (458,163) - - - - (458,163) - (8,360)  (466,523)
— Associates - BERA - - (6,370) - - - - (6,370) - - (6,370)
— Joint ventures - RERE - - (2,287) - - - - %) - - %)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for ~ AEE2EMA/
the year (BB " - - (466,820) (200,412) - —  (301,711) (1,058,943) 36,285  (44,765) (1,067,423)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests  YiR FEIERVER - - - - (297 - - 29 - (19,613)  (22,586)
Distribution to holders of perpetual AXEFHEERAA
medium-term notes fEit 2 Pk 30 - - - - - - - - (36,285 - (36,289)
2023 interim dividend “ICCERTERS 12 - (51,652 - - - - - (51,652 - - (51,652
Transfer to reserve fund BEIEES - - - - - 80921 (80,927) - - - -
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=%
+-A=1+-H 1,608,029 3485457 (1,283990)" (355,794 (11,588) 584271 7,44842* 11,271,227 806,982 278,130 12,356,339
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of — * ZEREBERRENR_Z=F+=-A=+—HZ
HK$9,663,198,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: e MBI R ZFE FHEE19,663,198,000

HK$10,776,766,000) in the consolidated statement of financial T(ZE=—=

position.

& : #$%10,776,766,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity & EZ 2 & X

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HE T —_=F+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Share  Exchange

premium  reserve
RivEE ELFERE
HK$'000  HK$'000

T AET;

Other
reserve

Reserve  Retained

fund

Fair value

reserve profits

#he REEA
HK$'000  HKS'000

Perpetual Non-

medium-  controling

term notes interests

HK$'000

Total
equity

HK$'000
BETL

t 1 January 2022 W-E--%-f-A 1,608,029 3,694,131 808,754  (131,727) (8,615) 443598 7,347,025 13,761,195 - 384,172 14,145,367
Profit/foss) for the year REERA/(FR) - = = = = — 340201 340,201 15952 (11,153 345,000
Other comprehensive income/(oss) for ~ AEEEA2ARA/

the year: (B8):
Changes in fair value of debtors at fair ~ BAAE AL
value through other comprehensive 2ERARELR
income, net of il tax BIMAREED
NREHE - - - 66,345 - - - 66,345 - - 66,345
Exchange differences on translation of ~ BREEBRZINERHH
financial statements of entites BRELZENR
outside Hong Kong, net of il tax 28 NBEHE
— Subsidiaries - HEBAR - — (1,599,545) = = = = (1,699,545) = (29,726) (1,629,271)
— Assocites - BEAT = - a9 = = = - a9 = - 419
— Joint ventures - RERE = - (2189 = = = - 189 = - 2189
Total comprehensive income/{loss) for AEE2EMA/ (BB
the year Ek - — (1,625924) 66,345 - — 340,201 (1,219,378 16,952 (40,879) (1,244,305)
Capital contributions received by FrERBAAILE
non-wholly owned subsidiaries FERERLNR
from non-controling Interests FgZiLER = = = = = = = = = 8,051 8,051
Issuance of perpetual medium-term notes ~ E{T kBT HZH 30 = = = = = = = - 806,982 - 806982
Distribution to holders of perpetual MAERHRERAA
medium-term notes fEiti 2 Ak 30 - - - - - - - - (15,952) - (15952
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-RHEAR 31 = = = = = = = = = 6419 (8413
2021 final dividend ZEC-EERERS - (82,643 = = = = - (82649 - - (82649
2092 interim dividend SIoCRERERE 12 - (14379 = = = = ) = K]
Transfer to reserve fund BEERES = = = - - 50746 (59,746) - - (2423 (2423
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE--%
+-A=+-H 1,608,029 3,537,109 (817,170) (65382  (8,615) 508,344* 7,627,480" 12,384,795 806,982 342,508 13,534,285
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

REEZBDRBREERE

2023

—Eo=fF

HK$’000
BT

2022
-

HK$'000
BT T

Profit/(loss) before tax BREATEF, (E18) (339,288) 510,158
Adjustments for: K
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - BB K&
equipment e 8 316,612 297,327
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEERE 8 22,939 19,341
Amortisation of intangible assets A EE 8 628,421 608,121
Impairment losses of goodwill mEEEEEE 8 - 14,474
Impairment losses of items of property, M BE K&
plant and equipment JH B B EE 8 380,086 15,526
Impairment losses of right-of-use assets EREEEREER 8 65,423 -
Impairment losses of intangible assets BIVEEREERE 8 210,144 =
Impairment losses of contract assets ABHEEEEERE 8 19,660 1,476
Impairment losses of debtors at REHKAAE R
amortised cost WER R FEIE B8 8 22,908 11,468
Impairment losses of debtors at fair BRAREFAEAM
value through other comprehensive 2 E AR FE UL
income BRAEFEEER 8 44,001 96,302
Bad debt recovered b= g 6 - (146)
Write-down of inventories to net FEMRZE &R
realisable value FE 8 35,405 =
Finance costs MBER 7 824,825 740,997
Interest income FE WA 6 (23,113) (21,916)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant HEVE  BE K
and equipment BB BB
(M) 6 (37) 2,623
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HBARZ
Wz 6 - (476)
Gain on disposal of partial interests in an HE R E QRS
associate a2 W 6 - (20,918)
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary e 11 1= W/N o
18 6 - 19,157
Share of profits of associates FFT 1 Bt 2 1 =) & 7| 19 (895) (7,475)
Share of losses/(profits) of joint ventures it & & ¥EmE/
(&#) 18 (769) 18,523
Effect of foreign exchange rates HNEFE B H) 2 B
changes, net FEE 12,607 2,406
2,218,929 2,306,968
Increase in inventories FEE (32,027) (82,219)
Increase in debtors, other receivables, JE M BR 3R~ L b FE UK
deposits and prepayments I8« e RFEMFIE
N (1,978,324) (1,149,247)
Increase in contract assets BHEEEM (304,566) (1,403,641)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors, other FERTBRER - B b FE 5K
payables and accrued expenses BREAERENS
OB A) 59,841 (64,722)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows HRABREHRER

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HE T —_=F+_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—EB-=£F —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Cash used in operations REFMAZERE (36,147) (392,861)
Interest received B F A 23,113 21,916
People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) income & #E AR
tax paid ([ E]) PrigHt (112,569) (48,838)
Net cash flows used in operating RETBFMAZES
activities FETE (125,603) (419,783)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHMBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EEE¥% - HE L& E (505,957) (591,603)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME  BE K& ME
property, plant and equipment IH B TS 167 —
Additions to intangible assets HEBRTEE (855,431) (962,632)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Wit i FE 12 IR A 2 (22,586) -
Capital contribution to an associate EE R ERA] - (36,968)
Capital contribution to joint ventures EEEEDE - (29,375)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—FERB AR Z
P15 3R E - 4,345
Proceeds from disposal of an associate HE—HBERRZ
FR1S 5KIA - 55,702
Decrease in deposits with banks RITFE TR D (1) (24,601)
Net cash flows used in investing RETEAZ
activities REeREFHE (1,383,808) (1,585,132)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METEFERESRE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans FIGIRITE 9,237,319 8,712,431
Proceeds from issue of medium-term notes, 317 HiZ & Fr 18 7K IA
net of related expenses paid (BEHBRESHEE
F2) 2,195,493 1,476,262
Proceeds from issuance of perpetual BT KERHEER 2
medium-term notes TS #IE - 806,982
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (7,673,425) (7,297,622)
Repayment of loan from ultimate holding BESKERAGER
company — (1,288,650)
Repayment of medium-term notes EEPHZR (907,248) —
Decrease in pledged bank deposits BB RIT T 5O A 26,133 75,193
Decrease in amounts due from fellow FE Y[R A Bt /8 A Bl 5 IE
subsidiaries Vi 242 20,593
Increase in amounts due from joint FEU A & 1 FE R IE N
ventures (6,604) (17,140)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to non-  JEfTIEE IR RE 25
controlling interests FRIEIE A0, R A) (1,118) 747
Capital contributions received by non-wholly — 3E2 & M B A 7 # 3E 42
owned subsidiaries from non-controlling AR S W FT 1S 2
interests &% - 8,051
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the & MIANA AIAE S IR
Company KA 2 BB (51,652) (157,022)
Distribution to holders of perpetual MOKEFEHERREEA
medium-term notes Ik (26,803) —
Principal portion of lease payments HENRZAESEHD (3,866) (2,199)
Interest portion of lease payments MENFZFEF D (1,067) (708)
Interest paid EAF B (815,975) (715,346)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows AR ERER

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

Notes

B &

Net cash flows from financing activities ®B& EE TS

2023
—=E-=

HK$°000
BT T

2022
—E-—4F
HK$’000
BT T

HERERHE 1,971,429 1,621,574

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH RERBEESEEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R FHE 462,018 (383,341)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning H#{zBEERREE

of year 1,904,785 2,483,568
Effect of foreign exchange rates NEERESEH 2 FE

changes, net 7 (58,225) (195,442)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ERZRERES

END OF YEAR ZEY 23 2,308,578 1,904,785
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRBAEESEYLEH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS bkl
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTHE R 23 2,012,696 1,849,094
Non-pledged bank deposits with original REERREEHBE

maturity of less than three months when DR =8 Az EEF

acquired RITFER 295,882 55,691
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in BE&RERMRZ

the statement of cash flows ReRREEEY 2,308,578 1,904,785
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Everbright Greentech Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
construction, integrated biomass utilisation project operation
(biomass direct combustion power generation projects,
biomass heat supply project, biomass electricity and heat
cogeneration projects, waste-to-energy projects and
integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects),
hazardous and solid waste treatment project operation
landfill projects,

incineration projects, general industrial solid waste electricity

(hazardous waste hazardous waste
and heat cogeneration projects and physicochemical and

resources recycling projects), environmental remediation
project operation and solar energy and wind power project

operation (solar energy projects and wind power projects).

The immediate holding company of the Company is China
Everbright Green Holdings Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. In the
opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding entity of the
Company is China Investment Corporation,

established in the PRC.

an entity

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for certain debtors
which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

1.
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Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

21

Basis of preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company
has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;
contractual

(b) rights arising from other

arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests  having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

2.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the
exchange reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements.
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform

— Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

The Group has assessed that the adoption of the
above new and revised standards has had no
significant effect on these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective hong kong
financial reporting standards

The Group has not applied the following revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group

intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable,

when they become effective.

Amendments to

HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to

HKAS 1

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the

“2020 Amendments”)' 4

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)" 4

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements’
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to

HKAS 21

Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align
the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

2.4

Issued but not yet effective hong kong
financial reporting standards (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of the impact of these revised HKFRSs
upon initial application, but is not yet in a position to
state whether these revised HKFRSs would have any
significant impact on its financial performance and

financial position.

Material accounting policies
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20% of
the equity voting
significant influence. Significant influence is the power

rights and over which it has
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the
equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses
transactions between the Group and its associates or
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s
ventures,

resulting from

investments in the associates or joint

except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or
joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s

investments in associates or joint ventures.

[f an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the

investment continues to be accounted for under the

equity method. In all other case, upon loss of

significant influence over the associate or joint control
the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value.

over the joint venture,

Any difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf #§ & 3 Kt 5t

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

2. SETHUR (,55)

Business combinations and gooadwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
other components of

non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.

identifiable net assets. All

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets
includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in

host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

7:!5 /9/#&%77;\

EBAHRARBEEAR - FTEEZ
REDRKEBBMZARERE M
DNRENEAREERCEE  AK
BRSBTS 2RERBEAAEZA
18 N AR S B 35 17 AR B M 05 2 1
Bz AN WERRNR AL ED
B AR RBAEMAME - NEEE
BRAREHAERKIETT AR E
EFEMNES L DI ERNREET O
IRER S - IR EMAE
RO AR AR E - TEENRE
MEKRATAER °

HWEBMEERERA BEA KLY
HEDMENELEARRMORAR
BEEMBRE  AEEETCECKRE -

TRERE

EASERE -EHELR  SREA
K&K - UREE B BRIV A E IR 38 I A
R ISR ENESREERE
& MEHBEAMABERIER - HA
BIESERE TR L EE LR A
AOTETEEITHEE -

[ —

HEXRBEHIEERTK  AIAKH
DMI%%ZHQ%&H&Z%EIHﬂZ’A/‘Mﬁ

EFAE - R mES 2 W
EEFT AEE o



—\
/>> 170

China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations and gooadwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired,
the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf #§ & 3 Kt 5t

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. E@itEE (&)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 ERETBEK(E

Business combinations and gooadwill (Continued)

the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group

Impairment is determined by assessing
of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An

impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.
Where goodwill has been allocated to a

cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or
loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of

the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or
a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in

their economic best interest.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either

directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that is
significant to

measurement is unobservable

the fair value
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax
assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value-in-use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e.g.,
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can

a headquarters building) is

be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating
units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. TR (8)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 ERESHBEK(E

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued) HeMEEFEE(E)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting REWREER B HBERRET
period as to whether there is an indication that FRIMER C FEEEIB A e T BT A
previously recognised impairment losses may no BR o W IRBEIR - AMEFA]
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an WElEEE - PRISLEEAINEERER
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. ZHEEEBE ETERNETZEEN
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset el &5z et HIRE T E
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been B - AW BESEI SR MR B
a change in the estimates used to determine the AEETEREERREIBBEME
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an ETZEEEGIKREMITE &
amount higher than the carrying amount that would i) - BB BEEEBERESHM
have been determined (net of any depreciation/ FFAB@mEK -

amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties A 1

A party is considered to be related to the Group if: THIA TR A BN & E H B

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that @ MWBUTAL BIZALmE
person’s family and that person: TR EREKE AR EEBRE:
() has control or joint control over the Group; () BEBAREEZEHIESE

(R 422 11| 4

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HEAEBEBZRTEN:
%
(i) is a member of the key management (iy AEEELAREEFQF]
personnel of the Group or of a parent of ZJEEEBABKE
the Group;

or B4



2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

U)

(i

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other

entity);

(or of a parent,

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)() has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

is a part, provides key
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf #§ & 3 Kt 5t

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. BETHBEGE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 ERETBEK(E

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation W ERREURITE (&)

(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of W BEREZBEE DERERZE

items of property, plant and equipment, less their BEGFAIERFHREE GRS

estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line BEME) AMBEEXKNETER
method over their estimated useful lives as follows: E FBoT:

—  Buildings situated on leasehold land are - URMELTHZ EHNEFTIZ
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired REmBEEFHARMGETER
term of lease and their estimated useful lives, FHB (BN 5E T H BB 5120=50
from 20 to 50 vyears after the date of FIAREERBE)GTEITE -
completion.

— Plant and machinery 5 to 25 years — BB R 5Z 254

— Leasehold 10 years or over the — HEMHEEE 104F 8k T 4 A

improvements remaining term of the EFH (AR
lease, if shorter ERE)

— Other properties 3 to 22 years — HAipARETE 3F22%F

leased for own use ZERHEEDE

carried at cost

— Furniture and fixtures 5 to 10 years — RMREE 5104
— Motor vehicles, 3 to 12 years — HHE - SFHEE 3F12F
electronic equipment & E A
and others
Where parts of an item of property, plant and W BMEMEEEESHSSEAE
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that Tﬂz—j@ﬁﬁiﬁg » BIIEZIE B 2 AN
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the BABOMERID  MEZILHEE
parts and each part is depreciated separately. gu%% o FIRABEE - AI{ERFEH LT
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation EFEELOREREEELASE
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at B WELR AR (fh@Em) -

least at each financial year end.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress is s stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of
the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the statement
of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf #§ & 3 Kt 5t

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. DETER (&)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 BEAEFHX(E

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

The following intangible assets are amortised from the
date they are available for use and their estimated
useful lives are as follows:

Integrated biomass utilisation 30 to 50 years
project operating rights

Hazardous and solid waste 6 to 30 years
treatment project operating
rights
Licences 6 to 10 years
Technologies 8 years
Backlog contracts 2 years

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in the year the intangible asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sale proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant intangible asset.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that
contains a lease component and non-lease
component(s), the Group adopts the practical
expedient not to separate non-lease component(s) and
to account for the lease component and the
associated non-lease component(s) (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a
single lease component.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Where applicable, the cost of a
right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Buildings

10 to 50 years
3 to 30 years
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(@

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the

payment occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is
readily determinable. After the

the amount of lease

not
commencement date,
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
(e.g.,
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

payments a change to future lease

Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
machinery and equipment (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low
value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease

term.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair
value through other comprehensive income.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’'s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the
exception of debtors that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus
in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Debtors that
do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement
(Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debtors at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation
and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss and computed in the
same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled
to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
the Group continues to

transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s

extent, it has retained the

it has neither

asset, recognise the
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the

Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. @EtEE (&)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 ERETBEK(E

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are credit

exposures for which there has not been a significant

recognised in two stages. For
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial

recognition and considers reasonable and supportable

instrument as at the date of initial

information that is available without undue cost or

effort, including historical and forward-looking

information.

In certain cases, the Group may consider a financial
asset to be in default when
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to

internal or external

receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
the contractual cash flows.

TREES R (E)
—REE T L
FEHEEBEN MERBREITER
HREVRBERELENE LAZE
BERR - g ERAKRT @A
N(TZEAESREEEE) BB &
HNEHER ZEEBBFTIZEERE
E%E%ﬁoﬂ%@@%ﬁméﬁﬁ
AELEFZEERR - EnEBRKE
ﬂ%i%Zﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁEﬁk%ﬁ%
B MTAwmBANWREE(ZHE
HiEEEE) -

REBEREBH  AEESTEEE
RERAREMTEZEERBRES
NIE EF o EEL BT R - A%
EekelEem TANHRERSHREE
BHZEK  BEBSmTERYSR
MRARBEEN CRBRIELE - W
SEFELDANETHENKAKE T
e EBzABRREBKRIEZER (B
FRTRAEREENER) -

EETERT - AR E# B
R AEEAAREARBURERRE K
B (ETFREMBEZEMNER
BARED  ERAKEAERSEL
EREEERD CEUESEHER

BHRERER BEEMHESRE
o



4

188

China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due from the
end of the credit term. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Contract assets that contain a significant financing
component and financial assets other than debtors
are subject to impairment under the general approach
and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for contract assets that
do not contain a significant financing component and
debtors which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 —

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Financial assets that are
credit-impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for
which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 -
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For debtors and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

Al financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses, lease liabilities,
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and a
non-controlling interest, and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade
and other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

2.

SRR (E)
24 BEREFHBERA

ET@EE(E)

R E
SRAFHEZHBIRAREDE -
ABIIMT -

BBEKEAG B EHEE (B
RHREMEBENFELAREE)

RAIEHER R - BN AR R E A B
BB LA EEEERAERM X
R E  BEMBERZFEY
TAERARRSIN - HELBERT - BIZAK
AEFE - BEREER AR K
RIRBRNZOX# 2 BREPERE
RHER ©

AAEEEKAR ST MEBREL
EAFESORE - That RIERERF
Rz BRAKA - BERFNXE
HAFABmRZMBERF -

HIFERTHEE

SREBENAER T ZETERRX
HOH 5 & B 4% LEHERR -

m—EREEMBEARBRA-ER
ATMERBARBD TRz S —BE R
BERA  HREBEZHEHEKE
ek - RIARBRRIENEREIER
LHERREBERERHAERE
MMEREERZ ZRAEBRDERE

5
27
e ©



/
Annual Report 2023 191 ({

—E-= = \

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf #§ & 3 Kt 5t

2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. TR (8)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 ERETBEK(E
Offsetting of financial instruments iz T A

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable

legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there

is reported

is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories, mainly comprise biomass fuel, spare parts

and consumables used in the repairs and
maintenance and are stated at cost less provision for
obsolete. Cost is determined on the weighted average
basis. When inventories are consumed, the carrying
amount of these inventories is recognised as an

expense in the statement of profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
position comprise cash on hand and at

banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a

financial

maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as
defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the

Group’s cash management.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in

reporting period, taking into

the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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GETHR (F)
24 EXREFABRA

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;
and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences

associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax

temporary differences,

losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable
entity or different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

2.

SRR (E)
24 EXREFABRA

8 T /45 )
Hrig g (&)

e HERMEBAR BEQAR
BECEZREABM AR
ERZEmMs  BEXHBEEE
EZenEREZEAERARE
KD LRAGERGERT R
< ZREGAERRRE

.
R e

EXERBEECFRAEENEREH
REZ XH TR BEETHARE
B RS IE R AT A $ 6 A 2 5Pk B
DIEERABE R L o REERRELEN
REEGNSREMREMNTMEH - I
KA RER B S ME AR B & K m] R Ui ] &
B E D EL R IR E ER T IARER

BERAEEENBERENHFEHR
AIERMKEREM TR (R
A BEHREREELFERE
HEERZRETE -

EXERBEELREHRBRAEN TH
8 R (LENR) AEEEER L
BAEAHARRBEEERABRIER
BZITEEN  BEERAEERE
EHRBEREER-RBERAR—E
AR B R AR 2 ERTE L (FRH
ERKXE ARG EEREERE
BEZEERAABEREE  Katd
WEBEEEFEARRBERABERE
E -ARBEREENFEABH
WZFRSHAR -



/
Annual Report 2023 {95 ({
—THFR A\
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2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. TR (8)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 ERETBEK(E
Government grants BT )&

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to deferred income account and is released
to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one vyear, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a
significant financial benefit for more than one year,
revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.

The Group satisfied a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following
criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced.

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternate use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

If none of the above conditions are met, the Group
recognises revenue at the point in time when the
performance obligation is satisfied.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at the point in time when the
customer obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the
Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the surveyors’
assessment of work performed and the costs incurred
up to the end of the reporting period as a percentage
of total estimated costs for each contract.

When the Group provides more than one service in a
service concession arrangement, the transaction price
will be allocated to each performance obligation by
reference to their relative stand-alone selling prices. If
the stand-alone selling prices are not directly
observable, they are estimated based on expected
cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment
approach, depending on the availability of observable
information.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of
a financing component if it is significant.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(@)

Construction service revenue

The Group’s performance in respect of
construction services creates or enhances an
asset or work in progress that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced,
thus the Group satisfies a performance
obligation and recognises revenue over time, by
reference to completion of the specific
transaction assessed on the basis of the
surveyors’ assessment of work performed and
incurred up to the end of the
reporting period as a percentage of total

the costs

estimated costs for each contract.

Revenue from construction services under a
service concession agreement is estimated on a
cost-plus basis with reference to a prevailing
market rate of gross margin at the date of the
agreement applicable to similar construction
services rendered.

Operation revenue

The Group recognised revenue from integrated
biomass utilisation project operation services,
hazardous and solid waste treatment operation
services, environmental remediation project
operation services and solar energy and wind
power project operation services when the

related services are rendered.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

2. BETHE (é%)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources and other income

Finance and interest income is recognised on an
accrual basis using the effective interest method by
applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the
instrument or a shorter

financial period, when

appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the

financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or
services to a customer before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the contract terms,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are
subject to impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for “impairment of
financial assets”. reclassified to trade
receivables when the

becomes unconditional.

They are
right to the consideration

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related

goods or services to the customer).
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when
to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the

rules of the MPF Scheme.

the employee leaves employment prior

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by

in Chinese Mainland are

the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group
involving the payment of

recognises
restructuring costs
termination benefits.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. STIBUR (&)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 ERETBEK(E
Borrowing costs EEK A

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the

notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss with the exception of monetary items
that are designated as part of the hedge of the
Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These
are recognised in other comprehensive income until
the net investment is disposed of, at which time the
cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of
profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are
also recorded in other comprehensive income.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or

payments or receipts in advance,

receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries,
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of

joint ventures and associates are

these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates
of the transactions.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve, except to the extent that the
differences are attributable to non-controlling interests.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,

expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying

judgements,

disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
in the financial

effect on the amounts recognised

statements:

Service concession arrangements

The Group entered into Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”) and
Build-Own-Operate (“BOQ”) arrangements in respect of its
projects.

The Group concluded that all the BOT arrangements and
certain BOO arrangements are service concession
arrangements under HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 12, because
the local government controls and regulates the services
that the Group must provide with the infrastructure at a
pre-determined service charge. In respect of BOT
arrangements, upon expiry of concession right agreements,
the infrastructure has to be transferred to the local
government at nil consideration.

arrangements

Infrastructure for BOO
is used in the service concession

arrangements for its entire or substantial useful life.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Construction contracts

As explained in the accounting policies set out in note 2.4
to the financial statements for “Revenue recognition” and
“Contract assets”, revenue and profit recognition on an
incomplete project is dependent on estimating the final
outcome of the construction contract, as well as the work
done to date. Based on the Group’s recent experience and
the nature of the construction activity undertaken by the
Group, the Group makes estimates of the point at which it
considers the work is sufficiently advanced such that the
costs to complete and revenue can be reliably estimated.
until  this point is the
concession assets” as disclosed in note 21 will not include

As a result, reached, “Service
profit which the Group may eventually realise from the work
done to date. In addition, actual outcomes in terms of
revenue or costs may be higher or lower than estimated at
the end of the reporting period, which would affect the
recognised

adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

revenue and profit in future years as an

Construction revenue arising from construction services is
recognised based on the estimation of the fair value of
construction services and the proportion of construction
work completed to date for each project. The fair value of
construction services is determined on a cost plus mark up
basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of gross
margin applicable to similar construction services rendered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for ECLs for debtors and contract assets

The Group uses a ECL model to calculate ECLs for debtors
and contract assets. The model takes into account of
supportable and
historical settlement pattern, ageing profiles, credit loss
experience, published credit ratings with forward-looking

reasonable information such as the

information. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is
sensitive to changes
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss

in circumstances and forecast

experience,
economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future.

published credit ratings and forecast of

The carrying amounts of debtors and contract assets at
31 December 2023 were HK$7,854,321,000 (2022:
HK$6,172,447,000) and HK$9,628,352,000 (2022:
HK$9,791,220,000), respectively. The information about the
ECLs on the Group’s debtors and contract assets is
22 and 38 to the financial

disclosed in notes 21,

statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment losses of goodwill

As explained in the accounting policy set out in note 2.4 to
the financial statements for “Business combinations and
goodwill”, goodwill is allocated to a cash-generating unit or
to a group of cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination for the
purpose of impairment assessment, which requires
significant judgement. The Group determined that the group
of cash-generating units to which goodwill was allocated
reflected the lowest level at which goodwill was monitored
for internal reporting and was not larger than an operating
segment in accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of

Assets.

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This involves an estimation of the
value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at
31 December 2023 was HK$130,651,000 (2022:
HK$134,207,000). Further details are given in note 16 to the
financial statements.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.

non-financial

Indefinite life intangible assets and intangible assets have
not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually
and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other
non-financial assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Determining whether such assets are impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of each cash-
generating unit to which the assets have been allocated,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal

and its value-in-use.

The calculations of the fair value less costs of disposal or
value-in-use involves significant estimations about future
business performance with key assumptions including
forecasted revenue growth rate and discount rates used.
The Group uses all information in

determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation

readily available

of the recoverable amount, including estimates based on
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of
revenue growth rates, operating costs and discount rates.
Further details are set out in notes 14 and 17 to the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group
carefully evaluates the tax implications of transactions and
tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of
such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax laws, regulations, relevant
interpretation and practices, and other related policies.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary deductible
differences. As those deferred tax assets can only be
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax
credits can be utilised, management’s judgement is required
to assess the probability of future taxable profits.
Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Additional deferred tax assets are
recognised if it becomes probable that future taxable profits
will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets at 31 December 2023
was HK$198,495,000 (2022: HK$80,855,000). Further

details are included in note 27 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its business by segments, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has presented the following four

reportable segments.

(i) Integrated biomass utilisation project construction and
operation: this segment engages in the construction
and operation of biomass direct combustion power
generation projects, biomass heat supply project,

biomass electricity and heat cogeneration projects,

waste-to-energy projects and integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy projects to generate revenue from
construction services, revenue from operation services

as well as finance income.

3.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BEDHLEFR (B)

(Continued)

(i)  Hazardous and solid waste treatment project (i) FEFEEFEEEBEEREENES  Z
construction and operation: this segment engages in DENERENELEEIERIAR -
the construction and operation of hazardous waste BEREEE - —MIEBEREREE
landfill projects, hazardous waste incineration projects, HIEB EYEREREFABEER - U
general industrial solid waste electricity and heat EERERSRE  EEREKRE &
cogeneration projects and physicochemical and BF TSI o

resources recycling projects to generate revenue from
construction services, revenue from operation services
as well as finance income.

(i) Environmental remediation project operation: this (i) RBBEBEEE : ZOBREBRER
segment engages in the operation of environmental BERIEREY  BIELESESME
remediation projects covering restoration of industrial 18 5ARHEEE  BLRERSE

ED

fleﬁ TEEFRE - RELZER

contaminated sites, contaminated farmland, mines and

landfills, treatment of industrial gas emission, SRR R TESRIGTE « R
integrated treatment of oil sludge, treatment of river/ IL SMEL  RRERRB KA
lake sediments and industrial sludge, construction and BB ETR UWEEELREK

o

Bk

operation of wetland parks, environmental stewardship
services and anti-seepage at landfill sites to generate
revenue from operation services.

(iv)  Solar energy and wind power project operation: this (iv) 71E1j(§§6€5 BIHHES &bt
segment engages in the operation of solar energy =iE ﬁ‘ﬂk%’*‘ HERREIEE - MU
projects and wind power projects to generate revenue EEELRFEKE -

from operation services.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and MO MBERBAE RS HE2ERSEME -
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most FEBZEEREREBRETIIELEERE
senior executive management monitors the results, assets EETHREDHEL o EE EERBE:

and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible
assets, goodwill, interests in associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets and current assets with the exception of
intercompany receivables and other corporate assets which
are managed on a group basis. Segment liabilities include
tax payables, deferred tax liabilities, creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses attributable to the activities
of the individual segments and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings managed directly by the segments, with
the exception of intercompany payables and other corporate

liabilities which are managed on a group basis.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reportable segment profit is “adjusted
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation” (the “Adjusted EBITDA”). To arrive at Adjusted
EBITDA, the Group’s earnings are further excluded for items
not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
directors’ and auditor’s remuneration and other head office
or corporate administration costs.

In addition to segment information concerning the Adjusted
EBITDA, management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue, interest expense from borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and
amortisation and additions to non-current segment assets
used by the segments in their operations.

BESHER (£)

DHMEEBRMBENEE BREE -
BE - BERRLEELERES BIEREA
ﬁ@&m@fﬁ%’ HETERREEELET
BHEEARRERKFEAREMERE
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HtENREREFERRASEDBE
EREBEZFBRBRITREMESE EIRE
REBAEEENEEAN R BEEMNHKIA
REMPERE -

Wa kX B2EATRE D AR Z
WahkEEZRAXEEBO BEEZE
EMEEZTESEEMOEEEMOE -

ARBEDEHRF RN AERARR
FE BB EREHENABNI([EHE
EBITDA]) © & T 15 L4 AEEBITDA « K" &
BB EREREENERNS S 2ER
(fl1n - EE RAZEAN B & & H Ab 48 A 7l sk
R EITBAR) 1B — T MiBR -

bR B FREBITDAZ D EBERLIN - B 12
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

U]

Segment results, assets and liabilities

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
as provided to the Group’s most senior executive

management for the purposes of resource allocation

and assessment of segment performance for the year

is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December

Integrated biomass
utilisation project
construction and

Annual Report 2023

T CFER 213

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf % #& & Kt &

4.

\

P

(i)

Hazardous and solid

waste treatment project

construction and

S

DEER (B

DHEE BEEREE

AEEGAFREERDE D BERR
AR AEEESERERMHZA
THREDHBERHINMT

BE+-A=+—BHLEE

Environmental
remediation project

Solar energy and wind

operation operation operation power project operation Total
ENESANAER  REREBREER ARBER
REREE BEREE BRBEEREE REEREE @it
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—8-= —E-= ZEC=
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT BETL E%TT BETR BETL  BETT
Segment revenue (note 5): HEliz (FiEs) -
Revenue from external customers and RENREFHRER

reportable segment revenue BTRE 2 AHHUE 5,783,557 6,036,741 1,180,106 1,673,766 243,364 148,205 209,946 189,459 7,416,973 8,048,171
Segment results: AHEE:

Reportable segment profit/(loss) BT HRE2HBRH/(FR)

(Adjusted EBITDA/(LBITDA)) (4 3B % ERITDA/(LBITDA)) 1,858,233 1,650,143  (428,162) 488,557 29,960 10,831 188,338 171,450 1,648,369 2,320,981
Finance costs BBER (824,825)  (740,997)
Depreciation and amortisation, including TEREH (AEXIEDS)

unallocated portion (967,972)  (924,789)
Unallocated head office and corporate income AARBAARCERA 20,713 30,573
Unallocated head office and corporate FABRERARGERR

expenses (215,573)  (175,610)

Consolidated profit/loss) before tax GARBART/ (HB) (339,288) 510,158
Other segment information: EAHHEHR :
Finance costs HHER 303,999 330,248 89,143 94,559 5,340 8,023 10,356 16206 408,838 448,036
Unallocated finance costs FRARHBER 415987 292,961
Depreciation and amortisation FTEREH 462,057 474496 415200 360,834 15,077 13,175 70,577 71,716 962,911 920,221
Unallocated depreciation and amortisation AARFEREH 5,061 4,568
Impaiment losses of intangible assets EVEERRFR - - 210,144 = - = - - 210,144 -
Impairment losses of property, plant and nE - BERRGEERER

equipment - - 380,086 15,526 - - - - 380,086 15,526
Impairment losses of right-of-use assets RRREEREER - - 65,423 - - - - - 65,423 -
Impaiment losses of debtors and contract ERERRANEEREFR

assets 69,136 99,896 15,740 6,810 67 50 1,626 2,490 86,569 109,246
Bad debt recovered e - = - = - (146) - = - (146)
Share of losses/[profits) of joint ventures, net AR L EEE/(BH)

8 - = (514) 18,818 - = (255) (295) (769) 18,523
Share of losses/[profits) of associates, net FriEBEAREE/ (BH)

8 (1,545) (9,575) 650 2,100 - = - - (895) (7,475)
Additions to property, plant and equipment, EENE  BEREHE A

right-of-use assets, intangible assets, BAE EBREE BE

goodwil and non-current portion of RERFEZFNAHH

prepayments 643,483 381,593 266,977 878,556 234 46,994 85,297 65290 995991 1,372,432
Additions to non-current portion of contract EEANEEZ FNHDS

assets 392,837 819,793 4917 6,079 - - - - 397,754 825,872
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YEE AR SN RZ[1 2R =1
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BEDHER (&
(Continued)
. . e . TRy ==
() Segment results, assets and liabilities (i) "PBEBE -EEREE(H)
(Continued)
Integrated biomass  Hazardous and solid
utilisation project  waste treatment project Environmental
construction and construction and remediation project  Solar energy and wind
operation operation operation power project operation Total
ENERAFIAER RERERREER KREER
BEREE BEREE BRBAEEAEE EEEEEE
2023 2 2023 2 2023 2023 2 2023
ZBIZF —F ZRo=E ZBIZf ZBIZF o
HK$'000 i HK$'000 $ HK$'000 00  HK$'000 i HK$'000
BETR F . B¥Tn T B¥FTn BETT E¥Tn # . ¥t
Reportable segment assets BATREZAPEE 27,951,768 26,543,477 7,865,045 8,750,043 695315 669924 1,261,355 1,321,490 37,773,483 37,293 934
Unallocated head office and corporate assets FRORBRARLFAE 1,983,041 1,862,442
Consolidated total assets TREERE 39,757,424 39,156,376
Reportable segment liabilities BATREZAPEE 12,069,707 10,636,659 4,151,802 4,447,199 411,638 452,068 397,447 378,697 17,030,594 15914,623
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilties AARBARARCEAR 10,370,491 9,707,468

Consolidated total liabilies FRAGER 27,401,085 25,622,001




4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of () the Group’s revenue from
external customers, (i) the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
and (i) the Group’s non-current portion of other
receivables, deposits and prepayments and
The

geographical location of customers is based on the

non-current portion of contract assets.
location at which the services were provided. The
geographical location of the assets is based on the
physical location of the asset in the case of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets, whereas
the
allocated in the case of other receivables, deposits

location of the operation to which they are

and prepayments, intangible assets and contract

assets.

Revenue from external
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4. BEDEER (&)

(ii)

Property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use

i EE R

TR EAONTEEREINAEP
ZWaE  iIAEBE - BERE
H ERESEREREE - R(i)K
SE 2 At ENRIE - e RIERK
T8 7 FEBNERER D LA R A MO A EE 2 3ERD
My 2R Bk - BE L
(@ R AR S TRt B &) D - BEFTTE
WEREEBRATELS (SRE -
WMERSBEARERAEEEMNS) -
i3 & 2 57 2 B 1 b B (ph H fth &
WHIE Re RENRIE - BREE
REHWEEMS) &l D -

Non-current portion of
other receivables, deposits
and prepayments and

customers assets and intangible assets contract assets
HipERRE  ZER
M- BERRE ARRERANEEZ
REMNREF 2 Wz FRAREERENEE FENEER S
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= —E_—F —E-= —E_—F —EC-= —E_—fF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT  BMTR #MTR BNTR  RMTR EETx
PRC H 7,402,205 8,036,634 17,857,730 18,946,607 6,748,861 7,205,217
Hong Kong B 9,402 5,709 48,349 46,972 - -
Germany ZE 5,366 5,828 23,627 26,149 - -
Total Foby 7,416,973 8,048,171 17,929,706 19,019,728 6,748,861 7,205,217
Information about a major customer (i) TEEFEH

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
(2022:
government authority in the PRC from which the

has transactions with one one) local
revenue individually exceeded 10% of the Group’s

total revenue. The aggregate revenue from this
customer during the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to HK$1,951,259,000 (2022:

HK$1,970,194,000).

BE_Z-_=—F+_A=+—HLHF
B RS E G EE A
ZEIoF @) ETRS  BE
RHEENWZEBIEAEBRZER
FI0O% AL HE-_ZT-_=F+_4
=+—HIEFE REZEPHWE
48 %8 /78 #1,951,259,000T (=&
— 4 : %1,970,194,0007T) °

2H5<Z::
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5.

REVENUE

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Revenue from integrated biomass utilisation

W oot

EMEHRANMAEE

2023

—E—=

HK$’000
BET T

2022
e

— =

HK$'000
BT T

project construction services B RS W 618,405 763,527
Revenue from hazardous and solid waste EEREEREIER

treatment project construction services EERB s 42,240 533,724
Revenue from integrated biomass utilisation EYBEFEaTNAES

project operation services B & RS W e 4,826,455 4,912,706
Revenue from hazardous and solid waste EEREEREER

treatment project operation services B RS A 1,132,949 1,133,963
Revenue from environmental remediation project IRiE(E1EIE B & & R

operation services g 243,364 148,205
Revenue from solar energy and wind power HREERRAEIAE

project operation services B & RS W e 209,946 189,459
Revenue from contracts with customers BEA KM E 7,073,359 7,681,584
Finance income from service concession RS ERLE 2

arrangements B 75 U A 343,614 366,587
Total revenue W s 4858 7,416,973 8,048,171

The aggregated revenue from construction services, revenue
from operation services and finance income derived from
the local government authorities in the PRC amounted to
HK$5,531,505,000 (2022: HK$6,329,165,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The revenues are included in
four segments as disclosed in note 4 to the financial
statements.

BHE-_ZT_=F+_A=T—HIEFE"
PR B L E b IR R Y i AR A A
BERBEU R BWABLERBE
5,631,505,000 L (ZFE =5 : B
6,329,165,0007T) © ZA8F 7% ¥ 35 Y 3E4 BT #
B ZESWEF ALESES -



5.

REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

@

Disaggregated revenue information

Integrated biomass
utilisation project
construction and
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Y i

(&

1=

EFRAN WS
& 7 Iril as B FY

@

Hazardous and solid

waste treatment project

construction and

Environmental
remediation project  Solar energy and wind

operation operation operation power project operation
ENEGAARER REREEEEER
BEREE BEREE BRBEEREE XRYERABHAEE
2023 2023 22 2023 2023 2022
kSt et S £ Zg-=f kSt
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
B8Tn BETT BETn B¥Tr BETT BE¥TR
(i) Types of goods and services i) EYREBEE
Construction services BERE 618405 763,527 42,240 533,724 - = - - 660,645 1,207,251
Operation services EERE 4826455 4912706 1,132,949 1,133,963 243,364 1482056 209,946 189,459 6,412,714 6,384,333
Total it 5,444,860 5,676,233 1,175,189 1,667,687 243,364 148205 209,946 189459 7,073,359 7,681,584
(i) Geagraphical markets* (i) HEH 5+
Hong Kong B - - - - - - 9,402 5,709 9,402 5,709
PRC HE 5444860 5676233 1,175,189 1,667,687 243,364 148,205 195178 177,922 7,058,591 7,670,047
Germany 28 - = - - - - 5,366 5,828 5,366 5,828
Total @t 5444860 5676233 1,175189 1,667,687 243,364 148205 209,946 189,459 7,073,359 7,681,584

The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the services were provided.

*

B tbR R IR R R &5 -

Timing of revenue recognition U 7 78 528 B [
2023
HK$’000
BET T
Services transferred over time BB 8 2 AR TS 6,901,797 7,519,253
Goods transferred at a point in time RE—RER 2 EY 171,562 162,331
Total HBEr 7,073,359 7,681,584
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(b)  Performance obligations

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as
follows:

Wa (&)
BEFAEN WS (&

®)

BRI E T

R+ RA=+t—HESREHRTEY
BEE(REBTHE D REEIT) 2%
SEBRTEWT

2023 2022
—E=-= —EC-CF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

Expected to be recognised within one TEE R —F AR

year

Expected to be recognised after one year FEHIE MR —F &R

BT BT

7,456,071 7,912,196
130,108,309 143,843,616

Total Bt

137,564,380 161,755,812

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations which are expected
to be recognised as revenue after one year relate to
construction services and operation services in
connection with the Group’s environmental protection
projects, of which the performance obligations are to
be satisfied within 50 years. All the other amounts of
transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts
disclosed above do not include variable consideration
which is constrained.

The Group has applied the practical expedient under
HKFRS 15 and does not include information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfied the remaining performance obligations for
contracts with an original expected duration of one
year or less.

ENRESRTREOBEFELEHN—F
BERR/EE 2 XFEREES N
SERREENARATFRETE
ERBRELRBZENEE -CN
RERTENETZMEEMRIZE
RERERER —FARR RN
EXFREEZ @ BATBEZR K
AERE-

AEBERATAEMBHREENES
BT ZATRERENEREEBRE
AEBEENREBHRRER A —FHIA
NZENZHBTRAONEERTKEA
RESZKm 2 ER -
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6. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER LOSSES, NET 6. H{lgz & H B8 %58

(@)  An analysis of other revenue is as follows: (@ EfMlmzaoeT
2023 2022
—E-=

HK$°000 HK$’000
BET T BT T

Other revenue H gz
Interest income FEIA 23,113 21,916
Government grants* BT B &~ 38,094 135,605
Value-added tax refunds** EEBR ™ 174,666 122,215
Others EHAh 43,981 55,830
Total other revenue E Uk 4258 279,854 335,566

*k

Government grants of HK$23,156,000 (2022:
HK$119,434,000) were granted during the year ended
31 December 2023 to subsidise certain integrated
biomass utilisation and hazardous and solid waste
treatment projects of the Group in the PRC. There
were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies
attached to the receipts of those grants. There is no
assurance that the Group will continue to receive such
grants in the future. Government grants received for
which related expenditure has not yet been
undertaken are included in deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group was entitled to PRC value-added tax
refunds of HK$174,666,000 (2022: HK$122,215,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2023. There
were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies
attached to the receipts of such tax refunds. There is
no assurance that the Group will continue to receive
such tax refunds in the future.

* HE-_ZT-_=F+=-A=+—HL
FE - ANEBEEBRTHEBSEE
23,156,0007C (=& = —F : B
119,434,0007T) * LAE B A E@KHL
FEMETEMEGRE T A RERE
MEEREEHEE - WRZEHDS
BERER GG REMR AT -
BMARERNEE BB G #HEES
ZEMBE M ARAEEBRAY
2B HE S R A B RIRR
Kt ABZWA -

> HE-_T-=F+=-A=+—HL
FE  AEBFEESPHIEER
R E 174,666,000 (ZE ==
B 1122,215,0007T) © W EL %
SEMBEREMEHFREMHA
FIE - I TREANEE BB AT
BREBZERT -



China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

D 220

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf % & & K &

6. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER LOSSES, NET 6. Ehlizm kEMEEFEE (&)

(Continued)
(o)  An analysis of other losses, net is as follows: (b) EMEBEEFBEIHTET :
2023 2022
—E-= ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Other losses, net Hihg5EFHE
Net losses/(gains) on disposal of items of HEWE « HERRE
property, plant and equipment BEZFER/
(Hz) (37) 2,623
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary A —RHNE AR
g - 19,157
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HENBARZ
Wz - (476)
Gain on disposal of partial interests in an  H &R —EE & A 7
associate o o Was - (20,918)
Impairment losses of goodwill BB EE - 14,474
Impairment losses of contract assets AREEREBEE 19,660 1,476
Impairment losses of debtors at RE#ERAGTEZ
amortised cost R RFERERE 22,908 11,468
Impairment losses of debtors at fair value IR AR EF AEMEE
through other comprehensive income A B FE W BR SR AR AR
SR 44,001 96,302
Bad debt recovered 2 BR g B - (146)
Total other losses, net H b 518 48 F 58 86,532 123,960




7.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
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7. BM%BA
HBEBOMET :

2023 2022
—g=-= ===

HK$°000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMEEZFE 709,041 661,658
Interest on medium-term notes FREIZEE 2 FI B 134,589 117,629
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZHE 1,067 706
Finance costs incurred ELEZUEER 844,697 779,993
Less: interest capitalised* W AR ZF B (19,872) (38,996)
Total @t 824,825 740,997

*

The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate ranging
from 2.70% to 3.50% (2022: 3.89% to 4.75%) per annum
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

* HE-_Z-_=#+-_A=+—HILtFE-
BERATIIEN F2.70%E3.50% (= F
T T 3.89% %2 4.75%) MERE T UNE
N
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8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 8. BREAIAA (EE)
The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after AEBBRBATRF(EB)E MK (G
charging/(crediting): A
2023 2022
—_ 2= —=E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cost of inventories consumed*# BEFREATE KA 2,701,343 3,148,906
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment*  #12% = RRETE* 316,612 297,327
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE 22,939 19,341
Amortisation of intangible assets** m A EEE 628,421 608,121
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEABEHEZ
measurement of lease liabilities HE R 10,717 14,467
Auditor’s remuneration 2 24 6 37 A
— audit services — BZR® 3,050 3,000
— other services — HAR® 541 2,448
3,591 5,448
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ (& E & FF Xz (T B 15
remuneration (note 9))* EEMe (F:E9))¢
Wages and salaries TITENEF® 606,011 628,145
Pension scheme contributions BRIRRIE FT 2 R 58,763 65,811
664,774 693,956
Impairment losses of intangible assets BIVEEMREBEES 210,144 —
Impairment losses of items of property, plant W BB k&R EEE
and equipment 518 380,086 15,526
Impairment losses of right-of-use assets FREEERIEREE 65,423 —
Impairment losses of goodwill BB EE - 14,474
Impairment losses of contract assets AHBEEREEBA 19,660 1,476
Impairment losses of debtors at amortised cost & fk A5t & 2
JE W BR R FE R B 18 22,908 11,468
Impairment losses of debtors at fair value EAnBEFFAHEMEE
through other comprehensive income WA B FE W BR SRR 1R
&8 44,001 96,302
Write-down of inventories to net realisable GFEMBERIZR
valuet* FE 35,405 —
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary T —HENBAR
g - 19,157
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HWBARZ
W25 - (476)
Gain on disposal of partial interests in an B ER—REBE QA
associate o e 2 ek - (20,918)
Foreign exchange differences, net bE 5 5 =R 28,069 42 149

*

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment of

HK$284,540,000 (2022: HK$262,757,000) was included in
“Direct costs and operating expenses” on the face of the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

* Y - WE KRR 3T & B #5284,540,000
TT(=ZT = = : B ¥262,757,0007T) &t
AR BaR[BEERARKEEBRIA -
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PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (Continued) 8. BKuiAI&N(&BE)(#&E)

* The amortisation of intangible assets of HK$611,084,000 > & FESH 75 611,084,000t (=
(2022: HK$589,680,000) was included in “Direct costs and — —4F : #%589,680,0007T) 5t A4LR ?,a
operating expenses” on the face of the consolidated mR BEERKARKEEER]IA -
statement of profit or loss.

# As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no forfeited * RZTBZ=F+ZA=+—H KTEEL
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the ﬂxﬁ A AR AN EBE R R FEE
pension schemes in future years (2022: Nil). BRARESEERR(ZE=Z=F - 8) -

# These items were included in “direct costs and operating # ZEBEBFAGEBRRRIBEERA KL
expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit EEAIAN -
or loss.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 9. BEENFETT 8

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIBCET AR - FE 2 5165 5383(1)

disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), @ o ) kMERRR (FEEEHNEE

(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and BBPIE2REE L FRNEERETETR

Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about ABBEST :

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Group
K&
2023 2022
—_EFE-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
Fees we 990 990
Other emoluments: B -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R R
B = 3,779 5,871
Discretionary bonuses BB TE4L 3,342 5,126
Pension scheme contributions RIKREREI K 601 1,259
Subtotal NET 7,722 12,256

Total 45t 8,712 13,246
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9.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
REMUNERATION (Continued)

9. EFENTBITHAEH

| & (&

1=

2023 —EC-=
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme
in kind bonuses contributions Total
e 2ER RIRRE
fiok ENAE (SRR HE K23 #zt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Executive directors HTES
QIAN Xiaodong BEER(RZTZNF
(resigned on 9 February 2024) ZANBEHE) - 1,379 887 51 2,317
LO Kam Fan E#E - 1,456 1,344 411 3,211
ZHU Fugang (re-designated as REB(RZTZME
Chief Executive Officer on ZANnBHAER
9 February 2024) THEE) - 944 1,111 139 2,194
Subtotal INEF - 3,779 3,342 601 7,722
Non-executive directors FHTES
HUANG Haiging 285 - - - - -
GUO Ying FERZT-mF
(resigned on 29 February 2024) ZRAZTABEH) - - - - -
SONG Jian FN - - - - -
Subtotal N - - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
CHOW Siu Lui N 330 - - - 330
Philip TSAO EREE(RN-Z-HmF
(resigned on 9 February 2024) ZRANBEFE) 330 - - - 330
YAN Houmin mER 330 - - - 330
Subtotal it 990 - - - 990
Total @it 990 3,779 3,342 601 8,712
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 9. BEENFEMTHAEMSE (&)

REMUNERATION (Continued)

2022

Fees

HK$'000

ARTL

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits  Discretionary
in kind bonuses

& 2ER
HK$'000
BETT

BT
HK$'000
BETR

Pension
scheme
contributions
BINRE
SHEIfR
HK$'000
BETT

Total

Bar
HK$'000
BETT

Executive directors BiTEE
QIAN Xiaodong BER - 2,042 1,221 53 3,316
YANG Zhigiang BEB(M-_Z-_—%

(resigned on 2 December 2022) +ZAZBEHT) = 1,460 1,600 602 3,662
LO Kam Fan B iR E) - 1,460 1,280 459 3,199
ZHU Fugang KER = 909 1,025 145 2,079
Subtotal et = 5,871 5,126 1,259 12,256
Non-executive directors FHTES
HUANG Haiging 2B - - - - -
WANG Tianyi FRERZZT_ZF

(resigned on 18 June 2022) NATNBEE) - - - - -
GUO Ying P - - - - -
SONG Jian PN = = = = =
Subtotal et = = — — _
Independent non-executive BUFHTES

directors
CHOW Siu Lui Bz 330 - - - 330
Philip TSAO EAE 330 - - - 330
YAN Houmin BER 330 - - - 330
Subtotal NE 990 = = = 990
Total Fobr 990 5,871 5,126 1,259 13,246

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration

during the year.

ARBNEITIEFNEELTETRAR
AR FRRE LR BRI ZHE -



D 226

China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf % & & K &

10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. hE&=aHMES

The five highest paid employees during the year included FRAAEESTNEERE=2EF (=%
three directors (2022: four directors), details of whose ZoF NRESR)  BEZHFHFEER
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the EXHFEI - FRBTME(ZTEZZF
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2022: one) —H)WIFARFEETHEETHABZR
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief BHMEENFMFBOT

executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022

—_=E_= —E -4

HK$°000 HK$’000

BET T BT T

Salaries and other emoluments FekEMme 1,680 820

Discretionary bonuses (RN 1,272 917

Pension scheme contributions RONRE R B4 50 345 136

Total mst 3,297 1,873
The number of the highest paid non-director and non-chief FHNTUTHE 2 IFEERIEEETH

executive employees whose remuneration fell within the AEBESFHMEEMNAZKRLT :

following band is as follows:

Number of employees

BEAH

2023 2022

— = — =

HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 7B #81,500,001 LR
751 2,000,0007T 2 1
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to FR - AEEWERARRRESHEMIL
the directors of the Company or any of the highest paid FEARRANESE Z &= 5 WE B AT 7 B
employees who are not a director of the Company as an S ERMAREB SN IMAREER 2
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as RE S BER R E o

compensation for loss of office.



11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil).

Tax for the PRC operations is charged at the statutory rate
of 25% of the assessable profits under tax rules and
regulations in the PRC. During the year, certain PRC
subsidiaries are subject to tax concessions under the

relevant tax rules and regulations.
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11.

Frigtisc /(%)

MR AEBREE S -_=F+-_A=+—
HIEFEERAN EFI A ERTETF -
MU EIEHBEFEGHEBHE(ZT ==
Fm) o

PEIRBZ HBEREFEREER AR
RERBBFAEERE25%E - FA -
REBEBERERIOER - ETHENE
REZHEHEBEESE -

2023 2022
—g=-= —_E_—
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current tax — Elsewhere NEARHTE — Hthiw s
Charge for the year AFEEHAX 142,854 43,870
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BEFERETR/
(EBFERE) (1,259) 7,703
Deferred tax (note 27) EIERIE (M 5E27) (179,052) 113,585
Total tax expense/(credit) for the year REFEHEIH
(E%) 425 (37,457) 165,158
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Fristisc i,/ (HEe) (&)

BERARARARREXREDHMBREME
B e LA R R EM R HERB A&
MBR) 2 BREXH (K R) BIZEK
BMEFAEZRALHZERNAT

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued) — 11.

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to
profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the
countries or jurisdictions in which the Company and the
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense

at the effective tax rates is as follows:

2023 2022
B = —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELAT & T, (E518) (339,288) 510,158
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEMEFTE 2 HIE (63,135) 135,469
Difference in tax rates enacted by local 5 E RBEMmZ
authorities MERER (31,987) (34,132
Effect of withholding tax on the distributable EHREARNEE
and distributed profits of the Group’s PRC A B B B A R A 4
subsidiaries DIk KRB 9 IKE A
2 (32,596) 1,099
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BAEFEREIR
(HEER ) (1,259) 7,703
Income not subject to tax BARTUA (7,984) (8,395)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR X 34,056 30,853
Tax losses not recognised RERHIBEE 65,448 32,561
Tax expense/(credit) at the Group’s effective BEREEERREAE
rate ZBHIEXH,(ER) (37,457) 165,158
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12. DIVIDENDS 12. BRE
2023 2022
—E-=f —E-—4F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
BT T T IT

Dividends attributable to the year: REERK
Interim — HK2.5 cents A — il& SEAR2.5
(2022: HK3.6 cents) per ordinary share B (ZE==
3.67810) 51,652 74,379
13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 13. AR R EFREELHTRAER,
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS (E18)

OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share
amount is based on the loss of HK$301,711,000 (2022:
profit of HK$340,201,000) for the year attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 2,066,078,000 (2022:
2,066,078,000) in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss)
per share amounts presented for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 in the calculation of diluted
earnings/(loss) per share as there were no potential dilutive
ordinary shares during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

FREARRF,(EE) @ EIIRA N FE
SRR B A E & 188 % 301,711,0007T
(ZZ =% : BB ¥340,201,0007T) JA
KEARBE /7:‘tﬁﬁxﬂﬂ%$i’7§5(
2,066,078,000k (= =
2,066,078,000/%) 5 &

R BEEREERN (BB RN WEY
FESEE S _=FRrR-_T-__F+=
A=+—RLFEZERERRF,(EE)
SHEELAR  NTHREBEZEZZZ=FK
ZE T A=+ —HIEFETEA
BUEEET R LER -
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14, W% WBEMKE

Motor
Leasehold vehicles,
improvements, electronic
Plant and  furniture and equipment  Construction
Buildings machinery fixtures  and others in progress

A
BRNEEE.  RIER

#3 BEREE GAREE  RAE  ERIR a8

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

BETL  EETR  AETR  AETR  BNTR #ETR

Cost: A :

At 1 January 2023 RZBZ=F

—A—AH 2,337,272 3,007,371 126,327 262,359 477,97 6,211,300
Additions ®E 30,795 43,208 71,153 1,483 207,696 354,335
Disposals and write-off & R e (77 ®) (78) (21) - (179)
Transfers E2E2 12,746 32,254 - - (45,000) -
Exchange realignment EXAE (60,553) (79,485) (4,869) (6,552) (15,378) (166,837)
At 31 December 2023 RZTZ=%F

+=A=+—-A 2,320,183 3,003,345 192,533 257,269 625,289 6,398,619

Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZHTERFEEBS
losses:

At 1 January 2023 RZBZ=F

—H—H 217,076 719,677 85,579 130,667 13,812 1,166,811
Charge for the year REERX 95,682 164,465 33,337 23,128 - 316,612
Impairment losses REERE 208,050 161,222 5,812 3,001 2,001 380,086
Disposals and write-off & R g (11) ®) (14) (21) - (49)
Exchange realignment EHAE (12,017) (25,559) (3,003) (3,844) (399) (44,822)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F

+ZA=1+—8” 508,780 1,019,802 121,711 152,931 15,414 1,818,638

Net carrying amount: BREFE :

At 31 December 2023 RZE-=%F

+-A=+—H 1,811,403 1,983,543 70,822 104,338 609,875 4,579,981
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. V%  BENRKRE (B
(Continued)

Motor
Leasehold vehicles,
improvements, electronic
Plant and furniture and equipment  Construction in
Buildings machinery fixtures and others progress

BF RE A EEIR
HK$'000 i HK$'0 HK$'000
BETT 55 BETT BETT
Cost: BRA
At 1 January 2022 RZZEZZF
—-A—-AH 1,672,500 2,644,459 104,241 281,331 1,630,290 6,332,821
Additions ®E 1,338 110,013 25,574 13,131 279,484 429,540
Disposals and write-off & R (101) (194) (675) 8,317) = (9,287
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 31) & — R AR
(HH&E31) = = (25) (114) - (139)
Transfers B 864,791 516,452 8,302 = (1,389,545 =
Exchange realignment B 5 A% (201,256) (263,359) (11,090) (23,672) (42,258) (541,635)
At 31 December 2022 RZZZ=F
+-A=t-H 2,337,272 3,007,371 126,327 262,359 477,971 6,211,300
Accumulated depreciation and SHMERFEEEE
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2022 R-Z-—#—F—H 134,689 646,299 59,160 125,653 - 965,801
Charge for the year AEERX 102,388 136,187 34,720 24,032 — 297,327
Impairment losses HERE = 1,714 = = 13,812 15,526
Disposals and write-off & R (12) (180) (466) (7,158) - (7,816)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 31) HE—FRBAR
GEEXD = = © (20) = (29)
Exchange realignment % A% (19,989) (64,343) (7,826) (11,840) = (103,998)
At 31 December 2022 RZZZ_F
+-A=t-A 217,076 719,677 85,579 130,667 13,812 1,166,811
Net carrying amount: BREEE :
At 31 December 2022 RZZEZZF

+ZA=+—-A 2,120,196 2,287,694 40,748 131,692 464,159 5,044,489
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14,

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Details of impairment for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an impairment
loss of HK$15,526,000 represented the write-down of the
carrying amounts of certain items of property, plant and
their
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) operated in the solid waste
treatment business in light of the operating performance
and market conditions were adversely affected. The

equipment to recoverable amounts of a

estimated recoverable amount as at 31 December 2022
was determined based on their value-in-use amounts
estimated by using a pre-tax discount rate of 9.1%.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
buildings used in its operations. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners
with lease terms of 10 to 50 years, and no ongoing
payment will be made under the terms of these land leases.
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 3
and 30 vyears. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the

Group.

14.

15.

W% - BB k& (&)

RE-F-=F+-A=+—ALFEZ
FIRR BN B BERA 17 -

BHE_T-_—_F+_A=T—HIEFE"
FEIBES 1B 815,526,000 L8 H L & K11
RMRAZAFNZE  BEBEREEXSHE
EMBReELESEN([ReELEEN])ME
T BERRBHEEENREERAZE
AkEEE R-_BE-_—_F+-_A=+—
HE (St AT Uk B & 58 Th AR R E A B AT AL 3R
KIO1%EITHENFERAEESBET

HE
AEBEREEA

AEEAB S REHEFRTERNETRA
BEZEBEMNHEEAN - AEBCEIEL
—RERTES R A ARBER S T
FEATFOEELH  MREZFT L
MEZ G BRIELFELENR - BFHE
SHEH-—RB=FE=TF - EX L K&
ErERAREMIIIALTEREOHER
HEEE -
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15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

15. & (&)
REBERBERBA ()

(a)  Right-of-use assets (@ EHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use REBEFRAEEE RMEREFA
assets and the movements during the year are as BB -

follows:

Prepaid land
lease
Buildings payments Total
FE L i
BF HERE wmaE
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
/EJHZJ?TE /EJHZJ?TE /EJHZJ?TE
As at 1 January 2022 RZB__F
—H—H 13,845 686,372 700,217
Additions ®E 6,817 - 6,817
Depreciation provided FAEFRTE
during the year (2,641) (16,700) (19,341)
Exchange realignment ME W R (645) (67,694) (68,339)
As at 31 December 2022 R_-T -4
and 1 January 2023 +tZHA=+—~H
NZZB_=%F
—H—H 17,376 601,978 619,354
Additions ®E 10,741 = 10,741
Depreciation provided FRBFIRITE
during the year (4,641) (18,298) (22,939)
Impairment losses FEiEEE — (65,423) (65,423)
Exchange realignment b 5 2 (318) (11,809) (12,127)
As at 31 December 2023 R-FT-=%F
+=—A=+—8 23,158 506,448 529,606
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. & (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEREAEA (F)
(a)  Right-of-use assets (Continued) @@ FHESEE)

HE-B-=FT-A=+-BIt%F
2 AR EHA RS BRNET -

ended 31
December 2023 are set out in note 17 to the
financial statements.

Details of impairment for the vyear

(b)  Lease liabilities ) MHEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the HEAG EEHEREFRNEHN
movements during the year are as follows: ™~

2023 2022
—E=-= —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEREE 19,562 15,636
New leases A HEE 10,741 6,817
Accretion of interest recognised during FANSRERF L
the year 1,067 706
Payments R (4,933) (2,905)
Exchange realignment ME W SR (342) (692)
Carrying amount as at 31 December R+=—A=+—8z2
FREE 26,095 19,562
Analysed into: DI
Current portion BN EREE 5> 4,080 3,049
Non-current portion JERNEREB > 22,015 16,513

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 38 to the financial statements.

HMEBBZIBHERDTRITERE
M E38IRER o
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15. LEASES (Continued) 16. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERBEABA(EF)
(b) Lease liabilities (Continued) b) HEBEHE)
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to RERZFPERACEERBSBHOT -

leases are as follows:

2023 2022

—E-=F T _F

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT I

Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZHE 1,067 706

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ff BEEERES 22,939 19,341

Expense relating to short-term leases not AEEHAENHL

included in the measurement of lease Rt AHEAEH=E

liabilities 10,717 14,467

Total amount recognised in profit or loss M1z FFER

B 34,723 34,514
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note HEZRES R BERIT SRR T
32(c) to the financial statements. 32(c)# F& -
16. GOODWILL 16. &
2023 2022
—_E—= —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T
Cost and net carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZRAER
REHE 134,207 162,638
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) BREREEEE
(MF5E6) - (14,474)
Exchange realignment PE 5 3 & (3,556) (13,957)
Cost at 31 December, net of accumulated Rt+-—A=+—8z2
impairment BANE - Bk 5T

B 130,651 134,207
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16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. EE (&)
2023 2022
—E=-= s =
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
At 31 December: R+=—A=+—8H
Cost BX AR ME 144,742 148,681
Accumulated impairment RErFEE (14,091) (14,474)
Net carrying amount BREFEE 130,651 134,207
Impairment testing of goodwill BEZEEIA
The carrying amounts of goodwill acquired through business BRI A B RETRBARBRESS M
combinations have been allocated to the relevant WEE P EEHAEReELESN((REE
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) of the individual companies EEBEMD) B ZRMERMRAT

for impairment testing, which are summarised as follows:

2023 2022
—EBE-= —ZF-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Environmental remediation segment: RIBIEEDE
Suntime Environmental Remediation CO., Ltd FHIRREERR
(“Suntime Environmental”) (note i) AR ([ EBEIRE]D
(B =Ei) 66,748 68,565
Hazardous and solid waste treatment segment:  fEE M ERER B D &6 ¢
EB Greentech Technology (Wuxi) Limited* HRE EIRIREHE
(“Wuxi Technology”) (note ii) (#=85) R A A
([EBEFR)
(B &Eii) 63,903 65,642
Zhangjiagang Gelin Environmental Engineering REBIBMIRIR T
Co., Ltd.* (“Zhangjiagang Gelin”) (note iii) BRA A
([RFBE])
(B i) - -

130,651 134,207

* For identification only



16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The recoverable amounts of the CGU as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 are determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. The pre-tax discount rates of
10.0% (2022: 9.7%) have been used for the value-in-use
calculations, and cash flows beyond the five-year period
were extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.3% (2022: 2%)
per annum. In the opinion of the directors, no impairment
loss has been recognised for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

(i) The recoverable amounts of the CGU as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 are determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. The pre-tax discount rates of
10.0% (2022: 10.6%) have been used for the value-in-use
calculations, and cash flows beyond the five-year period
were extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.3%% (2022: 2%)
per annum. In the opinion of the directors, no impairment
loss has been recognised for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2022, an impairment
loss of HK$14,747,000 in respect of the goodwill of
Zhangjiagang Gelin was recognised in consideration of the
operating performance of Zhangjiagang Gelin and market
conditions. The impairment losses was determined based on
the value-in-use estimated by management. The calculation
used cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a five-year period. The
pre-tax discount rate used in the value-in-use calculation
was 9.1%, and the cash flows beyond the five-year period
were extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% per annum.

Management determined the budgets based on service
agreements governing the relevant operations. The discount
rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to
the relevant segments.

Key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations of the
relevant CGUs include revenue annual growth rate,
operating costs, terminal growth rate and discount rates.
Revenue is projected with a processing volume at growth
rates per annum over the projection periods with reference
to historical pattern and management expectation and
business plan. Operating expenses are expected to increase
at the long term inflation rate. The discount rates used are
the pre-tax rate that reflect the current market assessments
of the time value of money and the specific risks relating to
the relevant CGUs.
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16.

2 (4E)
BEZHEBEIR (&
B 5E -

i) R =FR_F-__F+=ZA=+—
Az ARRSEESEM 2 AT WE S5 TR
BERBENEEEE - A#u:d“’—'— SRR
BEEBEEEZ AFHYHBBEZRE
METEA - BRTEFEREEZHATIE
EH10.0% (ZTZZF :9.7%) * MiBiHA
AFHAZAERENAFIERE2.3% (=
2::¢ 2%)HH -EERE HEZ
E-—ER-—E-——#+—-A=+—HI
FETEERAEIEESE -

iy MZT_=FR-_ZT__F+-_HA=+—
AZEBReEESBMNZJRE£5EIR
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ EETE o AERTE AR
RERECR A AFHRUKBE S
//n;i%E Bl ﬁﬁﬁ/\\ﬁgﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁz%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁfﬁ
KA10.0% (ZE - —F : 10.6%) ' i
@ﬁi%Zﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁMi%ﬁ%z%
(ZEZZF 2%)HE - EFRAE - HE
o =FR-ZF-__F+-A=+—H
ﬂ:ﬁfﬁlﬂﬁﬁwﬁ}ﬁéﬂﬁ ©

iy #®HWE-_ZFT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE"
SRR BAEAE E FEIE B 188 15 14,747,000
TLEREBERFEEM LSRR LTSS
RMAER o FERIBEIEREBEEREGANE
BEEETE sTEAEARBREREEDZE
AFHMBEE 2HERETRE - FH
BETEMAMMATIAEA9.1% « Mid
gﬁﬁ%Zﬁﬁﬁiﬁuiﬁﬁzmﬁ

EEERBEREAMEFRIRGHE B
EAMEE - PTARRERE R AHAT - RIRT
EAEA N A NS ERR -

HRRSELENNERBENETAM
AOERBEREEREFIERE 2B
A OKABRERER R - AR KSR
EEENFEREXZBELEARETEE
FEHIAREHTEITER - K8 & MBS
BRIBAREER -IEANBRESR
BRE AT 45 B (B B RO RS & AR
B8 35 & & A B A B O U A RLBR A A AT
= o
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BILEE

Integrated Hazardous and

biomass  solid waste
[EEN ] treatment
project project Total
operating operating Backlog Computer intangible
rights rights Licences  Technologies contracts software assets
ENEGENA RRRERRE
BHEEEE  HEEER HR & ARRAERE ERRNG EVRELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Gt — ? — — 3 —
j T
31 December 2023 —2-=%+-B=1-AH
Cost: KA
At 1 January 2023 RZZ=-=%-A-A 11,834,000 3,672,973 130,947 13,737 2,967 18,974 15,673,598
Additions #E 564,264 42,240 - - - 9,029 615,533
Exchange realignment ERAR (285,660) (98,007) (3,469) (364) (78) (493) (388,071)
At 31 December 2023 RWZBZ=f+-A=t-H 12,112,604 3,617,206 127,478 13,373 2,889 27,510 15,901,060
Accumulated amortisation and 2 BHREEEE
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2023 W=E==%-A-H 1,839,807 409,450 52,225 6,869 2,967 6,305 2,317,713
Charge for the year TEERX 404,928 205,035 13,885 1,700 - 2,873 628,421
Impairment losses FEREER - 210,144 - - - - 210,144
Exchange realignment S (55,546) (17,831) (1,617) (211) (78 (54) (75,337)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=1-H 2,189,279 806,798 64,493 8,358 2,889 9,124 3,080,941
Net carrying amount: FEFE:
At 31 December 2023 WZZ2Z=F+-A=1-H 9,923,325 2,810,408 62,985 5,015 - 18,386 12,820,119
31 December 2022 ZBIZE+ZRZ+-8B
Cost: KA
At 1 January 2022 WZZZZ%-A-H 12,631,118 3,460,919 143,240 15,026 3,244 16,012 16,269,569
Additions £E 304,241 533,724 = = = 4,546 842,511
Exchange realignment ERAE (1,101,359) (321,670) (12,293) (1,289) (217 (1,584) (1,438,472)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+-A=1-H 11,834,000 3,672,973 130,947 13,737 2,967 18,974 15,673,598
Accumulated amortisation and 2ABERARER:
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2022 W-ZE-—%-HF-H 1,583,991 264,476 43,296 5,635 3,244 3,654 1,904,296
Charge for the year AEERX 412,918 175,791 14,454 1,800 - 3,158 608,121
Exchange realignment EXAZ (157,012) (30,817) (6,525) (566) (2 (507) (194,704)
At 31 December 2022 W=-Z-—%+-fA=1+-AH 1,839,897 409,450 52,225 6,869 2,967 6,305 2,317,713
Net carrying amount; REFE:
At 31 December 2022 RZZZ=—F+=-A=1-H 9,994,103 3,263,523 78,722 6,868 = 12,669 13,355,885




17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

In light of the unexpected market conditions and deteriorating
performance of certain projects in the hazardous and solid
waste treatment segment during the year ended 31
December 2023, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets included in CGUs which have
been identified with indicators of impairment in the
hazardous and solid waste segment as at the end of
reporting period were reviewed for impairment based on the
individual CGUs level. These assets have been allocated to
individual CGUs. The operating plants under each service
concession agreement was identified as a CGU. The
recoverable amount of each CGU to which these assets
were allocated was determined based on value in use
calculations.

Based on the recoverable amount calculations, impairment
losses of HK$380,086,000, HK$65,423,000 and
HK$210,144,000 on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets in the hazardous and solid
waste treatment business, respectively, has been recognised
in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
aggregate recoverable amount of the relevant CGUs as at 31
December 2023 with impairment losses recognised in 2023
amounted to HK$1,200,957,000.

Key assumptions used in recoverable amount calculations of
the relevant CGUs of the hazardous and solid waste
treatment segment include revenue annual growth rate,
operating costs and discount rates. Revenue projections
represent the projected hazardous waste treatment volume
and the latest hazardous waste treatment fee. Both are
projected to increase for expected efficiency improvements
and expected market development. The volume growth is
capped at the optimal waste treatment capacity. Operating
expenses are expected to increase at the long term inflation
rate. The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections
range from 9.3% to 16.2%. Assumptions used are made
with reference to historical data of existing projects,
observable market data of comparable companies and
industry reports, and management’s expectation for the
market development. The discount rates used are the
pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessments of
the time value of money and the specific risks relating to the
relevant CGUs.

As at 31 December 2023, there were certain projects that
had not commenced operation, the amount of the project
operating rights of these projects was HK$204,401,000
(2022: HK$1,342,776,000). These intangible assets in
biomass utilisation segments that had not commenced
operation at the end of the reporting period are reviewed for
impairment by management. Based on the result of
impairment assessment, no impairment loss has been made
on these intangible assets that had not commenced
operation for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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17.

BVEE (&)

B &L -

(@)

EREE-_E-_—F+-_A=1+—HIF
EEEREERED IS THEB HIRHIU
TER TSR A R EETE B/ - B3R
SHRERALBELEREERE HIE IS
BEOREELEEMPOYE  BE L&
B FRAEEERENEEHBREMERE
SESBMKFETRIESES - %S4EE
BESEZERIBSELBEMN - RIFFT
KEERESEBE TNEEREEHR A
—ERESEEEMN - AFEEMNENE
EIREEEEMNARESET D BIRE
FREBEFESAET -

BE—_Z-_=-F+-_A=+—HLEFE "
RIS B EE  BERKEEERES
EBHME BELRE FTHEEER
EEEENREBEBEBE I BB
380,086,0007T * /& #65,423,0007T &
#210,144,0007C ' EfF ABm - R =&
T=ZF+-A=+—H BRZZE=_=F
WRFEBEEZ HEESEE BN/ TIR
o] 48 %8 /5 7 #51,200,957,000 7T °

EEREEEED SRR SEEELN
A E R EEATANERBEREE
WaEFBRE  GERARBBRR - s
AR EEREENGNEERE
B o AT EFEHMERIRS LYW 5 %
B MEBBEN - BEUKEENEE
BENRLER - HEEERAKBEZRIE
fREMILI - BANKSRETRHNIER
FHENF9.3%E16.2% ° FTE AR
T2RRAHEENELEN  TELBA
AN EBRTSBEERITERERERE
HHHEROFEHEDL - FEAMREERX
RRBERTISHEEREEENGR
ELARAIR & E A AL A B R R E R B0 TR
BRI o

R-ZE-_=ZF+-—A=+—H #THEEBE
MARIREE  ZEHEMNBELEES
48 A 15204,401,0007C (2B - —4F : 8
#1,342,776,0007T) - BIEEH RE R
HMARACENENEFAD BNELE
EETTRBAR - BEREBTGEER
BE—_ZE-_=€gkK-_ZE-_—_%+=-A4
—t+—HIEFENAAREENZSER
BEARFEEEE-
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. & bEERE
2022
—E- =
HK$°000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Share of net assets B & E S5 31,906 33,424
Particulars of the Group’s joint ventures are as follows: AEBEEPEZFBLOT :

Place of Group’s
incorporation Particulars of effective  Held by the Held by a
Name of joint ventures and business paid-up capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities
£8 il
BARBRAGE ARE
EBG Veolia Environmental Services (Changzhou) ~ PRC RMB110,000,000 50% - 50% Design, construction, operation and maintenance
Co., Ltd. of hazardous waste incineration project
FEBUBRERE (EN)BRAR HE AR%110,000,0007 50% - 50% it B BEREELENEER
EBG K. Wah Solid Waste Treatment Holdings Hong Kong HK$10,000 51% - 51%  Investment holding
Limited
AEEEREARERAR Bk 7110,0007T 51% - 51% RERK
Xiao County Guangmin Energy Limited* PRC RMBS6, 160,000 49% - 49%  Design, construction, operation and maintenance
of heat generation project
BEKREBERAR hE AR¥6,160,0007 49% = 49% Fif Bl EERAEEHMER
Kellon Concept Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 30% - 50% Photovoltaic energy
ERAEARAR & 7#10,0007C 30% - 50% XHKEE
Xuzhou Xinguang Greentech Renewable PRC RMB62,500,000 40% - 40% Design, construction, operation and maintenance
Resource Limited* of end-of-life tyres projects
BMFXERBEERARAR PE AR 62,500,007 40% = 40% Rit BE EERGEEESRLAR

*  For identification only

All the joint ventures are unlisted corporate entities whose EGEREARILMEAER IR
quoted market prices are not available. TI5WE -
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 18. & &R (&)

/|
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TEREMTIEBENEANAEEREG E D
information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not XWIEBVBEER

individually material:

2023

—E-=F -~ =
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T ok ab

Share of profits/(losses) of joint ventures FrihaatEEHM/
(E18) 769 (18,523)

Share of total comprehensive losses of joint FriEaEtE2EEE

ventures ek (1,518) (20,712)

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REBREEREY
interests in joint ventures A REE 31,906 33,424

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. BE QA=

2022
—E-=fF —E -

HK$’000 HK$’'000
BEFT  BETR

Share of net assets IR EEF5 234,408 239,883
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19. BERAlER (&

BEARZFEBOT

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particulars of the associates are as follows:

Place of
incorporation

Group’s
effective
[EEN

Particulars of
paid-up capital

Held by the
Company

Held by a

Name of associates subsidiary  Principal activities

4R gy HADTEE

Anging Jinghuan Green Environment Solid Waste ~ PRC RMB202,000,000 34% - 34% Design, construction, operation and maintenance
Comprehensive Disposal Co., Ltd. (‘Anging of hazardous and solid waste treatment
Solid Waste”) project (note i)
REFRGEREEARGAREERAA HE AR #202,000,0007C 34% = 34% Rit B ELREEEEREEREER
(T=ZEERE]) (Bt i)
Nanjing Liuhe Jasmine Green Energy Company PRC RMB160,000,000 44.1% - 44.1%  Financing, construction, operation maintenance
Limited™ (‘Nanjing Liuhe”) and management in urban household waste
business services and power generation,
transmission and supply (note i)
BRAARAGEEEERAR HhE AR %160,000,0007C 44.1% = 441% BHEFIREERBREE  GEREEEHH
(MARAA)) BE 2R EE  BENER (W)
* For identification only
Notes: P 5T

() AEBESEIGTRFEERDF (WLEEATF
ZR—REAZE) NP BRI L E B A

(i) Anqging Solid Waste was established by the Group with Beijing
Environment Limited in the PRC, the other investor to this

associate, to enhance the harmless disposal ability of IR ETHEREYBEERERS -
hazardous waste of Anging City.

Anging Solid Waste is an unlisted corporate entity whose ZEERBERBIELITEAER  WEMBR
quoted market price is not available. 18 °

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group REBEE-_ZFE-_—_F#+-_A=+—81LtHF

disposed of its 15% equity interests in Anging Solid Waste
to an independent third party for a cash consideration of
RMB49,850,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$55,702,000), and a gain on disposal of approximately
HK$20,918,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

F;vzwilﬁ BRUBE=HFHERTE
BEEM15%EE BeREARARE
49,850,0007T (48 % 7 4978 # 55,702,000
T EREAIEZERANBREE ZWELN
#120,918,0007T ©



19.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i) Nanjing Liuhe was established by the Group with Nanjing
Liuhe Environment Company Limited in the PRC, the other
investor to this associate, to improve the environmental
quality, enhance efficiency in the construction and operation
of environmental facilities, and to effectively alleviate the
investment (financing), design, construction, operation,
maintenance and delivery work relating to household waste
treatment in Liuhe District, Nanjing.

Nanjing Liuhe is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted
market price is not available.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s associates that are not

individually material:
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19. B2 N AR (&)
Wi (4)

(i) AEEEBEERSNAREERAF (LBE
’AETZ%*&ﬁ%)E’\EP IEZ_L@E'\/\
A LUNEREEE  IESREERRG
B EEANE  BMERERATAEE
EERIREIEMENE (BB - RET &
BB BENBRIE-

MRNERIELIEARR  WEMS®

IR PEE T JoEEENCEY 1 TN
T E BT AR -

2023 2022

—E-=H T _F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Share of profits of associates Fr G B & R Bl & F 895 7,475
Share of total comprehensive losses of Frh B & A Bl 2 2 HE

associates BEE (5,475) (16,715)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REEREE NF] 2

interests in associates = EREE 234,408 239,883

* For identification only
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20. INVENTORIES 20. 78
2023 2022
—E-=F —EC-CF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T ok
Raw materials and operating supplies RM B K E & A 307,634 325,119
Finished goods RIRK G 57,025 52,874
Total st 364,659 377,993
21. CONTRACT ASSETS 21. BHEBE
2023 2022
—E2-= —E -
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BT T BT T
Service concession assets RIS EEE E @) 6,744,070 7,100,699
Unbilled renewable energy tariff RAZEZERBERER
subsidy BEMAL (o) 2,495,034 2,321,068
Environmental remediation contract RIBBEEGNEE
assets (c) 416,237 377,322
9,655,341 9,799,089
Impairment G| (26,989) (7,869)
9,628,352 9,791,220
Less: Non-current portion e FEENHAER
— Service concession assets — RIEFEIIEERE
BE (6,203,248) (6,540,112)
— Environmental remediation contract — RIFEEA L
assets BE (154,601) (158,808)

(6,357,849) (6,698,920)

Current portion BOEAEE 55 3,270,503 3,092,300
Contract assets arising from FE1T EL AR T R T A &

performance under construction ZHRBENEESD

contracts in connection with EXNENEE -

service concession arrangements, Bt AEREE]

which are included in “Intangible (PfF7E17)

assets” (note 17) 204,401 1,342,776
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21. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 21. EHEE (&)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of AREERBEERBENESBROT

contract assets are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At beginning of year F 1 7,869 7,068
Impairment losses, net (note 8) MR ERFE (i 5E8) 19,660 1,476
Exchange realignment B 5 A (540) (675)
At end of year FR 26,989 7,869
Notes: B 5E
(a)  Service concession assets arose from the Group’s revenue @ BREFTCEREEELSEAEBRES

from construction services under certain BOT and BOO
arrangements and bear interest at rates ranging from 4.65%
to 6.60% (2022: 4.90% to 6.60%) per annum as at
31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, HK$6,692,920,000 (2022:
HK$6,646,337,000) relates to certain BOT and BOO
arrangements with operations commenced.

Pursuant to the BOT and BOO arrangements, the Group
receives no payment from the local governments in Mainland
China (the “Grantors”) during the construction period and
instead receives service fees for the Group’s operation
services when relevant services are rendered during the
operating periods.

The service concession assets are not yet due for payment
and will be settled by the service fees to be received during
the operating periods of the arrangements. Details of the
service concession arrangements are disclosed in note 40 to
the financial statements.

All of the current portion of service concession assets is
expected to be recovered within one year.

FBOTKBOOLHEA B ERISIE -
R—ZTB-_=%F+_A=+—8B#ENTF
4.65%%E6.60%MFHEFB(ZTE=_=
F 1 4.90%%E6.60%) °

R-ZZE-_=F+-_A=+—H  HEHARE
ELHE TBOTRBOORHAMZ SIAA
75 16,602,920,0007T (—F = — 4 : B
6,646,337,0007T) °

RIEBOT KBOOZK B - ANEBENEEHN
TeeEPRAEE BT ([ZFEAL KR
FOR - M RRE 2 B R AR R AR T R
AR E B E & RIS AR TS B

R EEREERNRIBIN - Wi
BRZSTHENEEHRNKER MRS EE
o RISFEFECERTHFBRIBRE
M sE 403 EE -

PR AT SR B E 2 PR DA AR 3 FE AT
R—FRkE -
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21.

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) The balance represents government on-grid renewable energy
tariff subsidy receivables for certain integrated biomass
utilisation projects which commenced operations and arose
from the Group’s revenue from operations. The amounts will
be billed and settled upon the completion of government
administrative procedures pursuant to notices jointly issued
by the Ministry of Finance, the National Development and
Reform Commission and the National Energy Administration
of the People’s Republic of China.

(c) The balance arose from performance under environmental
remediation contracts. Such contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the service
periods once milestones are reached.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using the probability of default approach to measure
the
measurement of the expected credit losses of the contract

expected credit losses. The provision rates for
assets are with reference to the credit ratings assigned on
the respective provinces where the counterparties belong to
and the forward-looking factors to reflect the effect of the
external economic environment. The provision rates of
contract assets are based on geographical regions of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic

conditions.

21.

BHEE(E)

GEANC))

() BHRAETRAEENENESEATAE
B 2 BB T L 48 7] 5 4k R B (R
B B A KBS Wi - FIRETEA
RAMNBYED BREERAKEER
& - BRERBHA % 0B AT BA
THF AL - ZHESR B R T RKE -

© HAHABTRESEAOMEL - ZFE
DEERERREAREDE T 2R
BIZA D BN RO SRk E &)

RESTREREAREAROMRE
TUEERMEERR AHNEENEN
FEERMENBBXRIIZ2EXSHTHM
BEMHNERFRNARRBRINDEERE
TENMEERRETE -ANEENRE
ERBEZEABUBREANTF DL
IR B E o ATE RRBER NS
TERBERBEEARRBESZMN AT
R R AR AR S ) TROR 2 R e B A
AESHEEREIFEER -



21.

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s contract assets:
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21. BHEE (&)

TXRIIABAEBANEEZ EHAR
ZER

2023 2022
—E-= —E-=

HK$°000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Expected credit loss rate TEHEEREL X 0.28% 0.08%

Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) REREE(BEToT) 9,655,341 9,799,089
Expected credit losses (HK$’000) THHEEBE

(B¥FT) 26,989 7,869

The Group’s credit policy with contract assets is disclosed
in notes 2.4 and 38 to the financial statements.

As at 1 January 2022, the balances of contract assets
amounted to HK$9,517,945,000. The decrease (2022:
increase) in contract assets in 2023 was the result of
completion of construction and commencement of operation
of more projects during the year (2022: more unbilled
amount at the end of the year and the decrease in the
ongoing service concession arrangements under
construction stage).

AEBEBEHNEENEEBRNI KR
R 2.4 38 EE

RZZEZ—F—F—H &6HNEELEHB
7E#9,5617,045,000L ° —E = FANE
ERV(ZEZ_F: M IBERFAE
ZHATIWRAZE(ZT-ZF X
KBRS FEIE N R R B P B A R 7S
RET g LR D) -
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22. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 22, BN - EMEWNKIE - Z &

AND PREPAYMENTS KB FRIE
2023 2022
—Eg=-= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
Debtors JE U BR SR 7,893,254 6,189,303
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments EMEWGIE ek
FEA 508 947,416 1,218,833
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries A PNGIE 3,053 4,384
Amount due from an associate & U — R Hes & R R RUE - 4,088
Amounts due from joint ventures FEUL A & (> FRIE 50,301 44,999
Loan to a non-controlling interest M IEIE AR A 2= B X - 25,971
8,894,024 7,487,578
Impairment B (38,933) (16,856)
8,855,091 7,470,722
Less: Non-current portion B FERNEAES o
— Other receivables, deposits and — HEEUFRIE
prepayments ek
TE IR (391,012) (490,653)
— Amounts due from joint ventures — BREEDRE
HIE — (15,644)
(391,012) (506,297)

1)

Current portion B EA &0 4 8,464,079 6,964,425

N




22. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the debtors, based on the date of
invoice (or date of revenue recognition, if earlier) and net of
loss allowance as at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:
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22, FEMARTR - Hoh FEUCGRIA -
KIEN R ()
BERAH (RREBRRAH UREEA
) 5 H IR BRI - REOR R R
HHRZEREANMT :

ign

2023 2022
—E-=H T _F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BB T IT
Within 1 month TR —EA 565,980 464,921
More than 1 month but within 2 months BE—EAETERN
& A 201,362 195,349
More than 2 months but within 4 months HBiAmEA BN ZR
7Y & A 356,538 329,770
More than 4 months but within 7 months HBEYE A BTN
& A 465,813 555,128
More than 7 months but within 13 months wAEEABEIZR
+=@A 850,494 829,619
More than 13 months BE+=M[E4 5,414,134 3,797,660
7,854,321 6,172,447

Debtors are mainly due immediately within 90 days from the
date of billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy
and concentrations of credit risk arising from customers are
set out in notes 2.4 and 38.

The amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and the prepayments are expected to be
recognised as expenses within one year.

Included in the amounts due from joint ventures are loans
to joint ventures of RMB23,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$25,563,000) (2022: RMB23,990,000 (equivalent to
HK$26,806,000)), which are unsecured, interest-bearing at
125% of the Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”) in the PRC (2022:
LPR in the PRC to 125% of the LPR in the PRC) and
recoverable in 2024 (2022: 2023 to 2024). The remaining
balance is unsecured, interest-free and recoverable within
one year.

URERTEHBERAREANTHAAZL
BB - FRAEEEERRERETFPEL
MIEER RS THE - SF BN E2.4
K38 °

EUWRRMBARRAREER 28R
ZEFANRIA —F AR B -

MA &P ERENERAREK23500,000
JC (FB & 78 #25,563,000L) (Z 2 = =
£ AR #23,090,0007T (HBERN B K
26,806,0007T)) T A B & & D ZEFTE o
ZEENERR  EPBRERTHERER
& ([LPR]) 89125% (ZZE = —4 : 7 FELPR
ZEFRBILPRA125% )T E BRI ZF =Y
F(ZE_—F ZE_=ZFE_FT_NF)
IgE - HREAEER - 2ERAR—FRK
@ o
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22.

DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the loan to a non-controlling
interest is secured by its equity interest in a non-wholly
owned subsidiary, interest-bearing at 110% of the rates
announced by the People’s Bank of China and recoverable
by December 2023. The balance was fully repaid during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

All of the current portion of the above balances were
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses within
one year.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount (net of loss
allowance) of debtors at amortised cost and at fair value
through other comprehensive income are HK$2,181,288,000
(2022: HK$1,954,041,000) and HK$5,673,033,000 (2022:
HK$4,218,406,000), respectively.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using the probability of default approach to measure
expected credit losses. The provision rates are referenced
to the credit ratings of comparables with published credit
ratings. As at 31 December 2023, the probability default
rates and loss given default rates for debtors at amortised
costs and at fair value through other comprehensive income
were estimated to be ranged from 0.05% to 5.80% (2022:
0.05% to 2.60%) and 53.10% to 64.90% (2022: 53.10% to
64.90%),
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and

respectively. The calculation reflects the

forecasts of future economic conditions. Debtors are written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

22.

PR IR R ~ At RUGRTR ~ B
KRIERFRIR (4E)

RZBE-Z=ZF+=—A=+—8 " [FEK
BHERE—HFE2EMB AR ZREE
I ZPREARBITHARHFELN110%
ERAR-_ZE_=F+-AmdkE -
E-T-ZF+_AZ+—BIEFE &
BB EBEE -

b EBRH BRSSO BRER —FR
Yool SRR A B X2

R-TZE-=ZF+-"A=+—8  LHHEK
R E2REBEARBEFAEME2EBARE
WERR 2 BREE (NBREBREE) B AB
#2,181,288,000C (ZF = = F : # ¥4
1,954,041,0007T) & 7 #5,673,033,000 7T
—T =~ : #1#4,218,406,0007T) °

AEBRSERS BRFEREOBRZE
TREBAN - Ut 2TEHEERE - BEX
D2EZBRAHERAFRONTELRAFK
ERTREFT R-Z_=F+=-A=1+—
B REBHERAREARBEFAREMEZE
WAR YRR ZBOBRRENELREK
2 AlEEF N F0.05%E5.80% (ZZF = =
F 1 0.05%%E2.60%) K%53.10% £ 64.90%
—E - —F :5310%£64.90%) 2B A
B ERMIAERNELER 2 BEHEE
BERRMEORAAScBERATSEH &
AIE R R RSB REAZEEBBK
BZER - BIWERZEAEER AW E
ERBTUMB (B ZE) - IBRB
BN BT ESALEE E SN IA K
REAZRRHNREREEEERTHHE S
B o
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22. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 22, BN - HMEWNKIE - &

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
debtors measured at amortised cost are as follows:

K FAN R (&)

e PR B 2 R SR M B R
EEBOT

2023 2022

—E-=H T _F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

At beginning of year F1 16,856 6,474
Impairment losses, net (note 8) FEIE B R F 5 (fFaE8) 22,908 11,468
Exchange realignment bE 55 A (831) (1,086)
At end of year FR 38,933 16,856

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
debtors measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income are as follows:

BAREAEMEEKRAGEZ EKREE
FRENBEREZIHWT

2023 2022

—E-=F e =

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T PR T I

At beginning of year F9) 91,855 =
Impairment losses, net (note 8) FEIE R 1R F 5 (P aE8) 44,001 96,302
Exchange realignment bE A (3,173) (4,447)
At end of year FR 132,683 91,855

The increase in loss allowance of debtors at amortised cost
and at fair value through comprehensive income in 2023
and 2022 are mainly attributable to increase in the ageing
profile of debtors’ balances, increase in credit risk of aged
overdue balances and increase in the gross carrying
amount after the settlement and origination of new
receivables.

ZEE=FRIFICFRBHEKARIE
AREFAZARAGEZ BUERROE
BREEENDHEZHREH ALEROERR
- BREE HI A 015 AR RIS i R X
G R R R UK FRTE 12 AR T 4B (B S N
FTE o
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 23. WEMRFEYAEERER
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

2023 2022
—=E-= —EF-_—

Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000

Mo aE BET T BT

Cash and bank balances Re RIRITEER 2,012,696 1,849,094
Time deposits and pledged bank EHGFERREERRT

deposits R 366,087 154,199

Subtotal NET 2,378,783 2,003,293

Less: Pledged bank deposits A BEEARITER (@) (47,361) (75,043)
Time deposits with maturity TF R AR B = (8 A

period over three months 2 E BT (22,844) (23,465)

Cash and cash equivalents RehkBFEEEY (o) 2,308,578 1,904,785

Notes: B 5T -

(@)  Pledged bank deposits are mainly pledged to secure certain @ EEEARTEREIZCRFEALREESE
bank loans of the Group (note 25) and are pledged to banks FHRITER (F5E25) 2B H - ARABER
for the issuance of guarantees by the banks to the Grantors ATHRITHAEEES TIRIG T 7
in respect of the specific performance of the duties by the WE N2 ERNE M RIREAR L
Group under certain service concession agreements. R WEERTHERBRT -

(o)  Included in “Cash and cash equivalents” are deposits of b)) [BHEeEkRSEEWIPER_TE_=F
HK$66,763,000 (31 December 2022: HK$106,677,000) FTZA=+—HEBRR—BRIT(AEE
placed with a bank, which is a fellow subsidiary of the —HMRAERMNBRR)ZTERABE
Group, as at 31 December 2023. 66,763,000t (ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—

H : ##106,677,0007T) °



23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

PLEDGED DEPOSITS (Continued)

Pledged bank deposits and deposits with banks earn
interest at the respective time deposit rates and are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to HK$2,309,572,000 (2022: HK$1,956,261,000).
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time
deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.
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23.

Be RSB NREEREK
(&)

BEEMRITERLRITFREEBEE T
REERMBAE X ERAREEBRFAER
HA M08 W0 R0 8% 2 IRTT o

RBEHRR  AEEUARE(TARE])
FEZESRERRITESR BEE
2,309,572,000 L (ZEZZF : BK
1,956,261,0007T) ° ARKET8E B B IR
HmE o A - RIEPBEKECHMNEE R
) RCERE - SERGEEERE) &
SEEF B BERELCEINEER ZIRITH
ANREE H ik Bt B -

RITREWFHEERAAE  MFBE
ERBERTGFABAESXREE - RFEA
SEZAEREHRME - EHERER
ZEFANF—HRE=EATE » LA
B2 B 7 KB R RELH B - RITAEER
REMERDERREERF BT Y &
BHIRCERZIRTT

/ /7
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24. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND 24. FERTRRFR - E M e 5008 K fE 51
ACCRUED EXPENSES &M
2023 2022
—E=-= —EF-_—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BT T Neoks e e
Creditors FET AR K
— third parties - %= (i 1,458,132 1,835,729
— fellow subsidiaries — AEMEB AR 0] 20,730 21,307
Other payables and accrued b JE T RIE R
expenses Bt & 1,140,731 1,297,263
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries i ANIEE NGB (ii) 29,094 30,970
Amount due to a non-controlling FEAS FEVE R M 25 SR IR
interest (i) - 1,201
Loans from non-controlling interests REFZERERHE R (iv) 8,150 8,300
Deferred income — government REMA —
grants IR 7 B & V) 176,722 194,403
2,833,559 3,389,173
Less: Non-current portion R FERNHAER
— Deferred income — — RERA —
government grants NEgisE ik (73,856) (84,770)
— Other payables and accrued — Huh e 3RIE
expenses REGHER (103,898) (97,153)
(177,754) (181,923)

Current portion BIEAEE 5 2,655,805 3,207,250




24. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUED EXPENSES (Continued)

Notes:

U

(i

)

)

Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses”
are creditors with the following ageing analysis based on the
date of invoice as at the end of the reporting period:
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A RRAR

H A & A< 5RIE S B AT

BH(E)

B 5

[0} [FEMEER  HibENREREFER 8
%F’Eﬁﬁ% BB E AR ENRE S
RZEBREBROWHMT

2023 2022

—E-= —E-_4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

LR BT

Within 6 months 7~E A A 1,000,527 1,374,528
More than 6 months ~E A LA E 478,335 482,508
1,478,862 1,857,036

Creditors totaling HK$592,683,000 (2022: HK$1,015,546,000)
as at 31 December 2023 represent construction payables for
the Group’s BOT and certain BOO arrangements.

Creditors due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable in accordance with the contract
terms.

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amount due to a non-controlling interest is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable within one year.

Loans from non-controlling interests are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Deferred income represents government grants received to
subsidise the construction of property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023, of
which an amount of HK$14,938,000 (2022: HK$16,171,000)
was credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
There were no unfulfiled conditions and other contingencies
attached to the receipts of those grants.

(i)

(i)

v)

RZZBZ=F+ZRA=+—H  ERERX

& HE#502,683,000c(Z T - —F : /&
#1,015,546,0007T) AL BBOT L& T
BOOLHEHI FE(f B s 51 1H ©

JEASS [F) 2 BT a8 2 R 9 A BR SRR AR AR
R B RBEAKIEREE -

JEAS [F) 2 B /28 2 A
BIMBRERE -

HEARERR 28R

JEAS SR s R R - RERA
i il*ﬂa}&'-’i
P=EISEd ’E-E: SHERSERR 28R

BIMBERER

BEEWAEREINHE-_S-_ZF+=
A=+ BLEFEARBNES ZHB
& ARPAEEEEYE BERER
B B BB 14,038,000t (= F
— 4 H16,171,0007T) B i Ak A
BEX WHZSHIESTERERER
&Mk H A sk SR 21T -



256 China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf % & & K &

24. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND 24, FEMTERFN - HAh e A K ERT
ACCRUED EXPENSES (Continued) EH (&)
Notes: (Continued) MisE : (8
(vi)  Included in other payables and accrued expenses are contract (vi) HAEMRIERERERSER IR ERE
liabilities of the advances received for provision of solid BERHARFKIOBRFIEZEHNE
waste treatment and heat supply. Details of contract & AHBEFBOT

liabilities are as follows:

31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022
=== 2
+=—A=+—-H8 +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT I BT
Advances received from customers &5 #7851 E 115,761 49,893 53,512
Increase in contract liabilities in 2023 (2022: decrease) was RZZEZ=F - AHEABREMN(Z=ZZT==
mainly due to the increase (2022: decrease) in advances F R EIEEHARTEFANIREEER
received from customers in relation to the provision of solid ERMHARBBERE P HOKIBLN(ZF
waste treatment and heat supply during the year. ZZF D) .
25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. STERITRHEMEE
BORROWINGS
31 December 2023 December 2022
—E_=f+-A=1+-H —#+-A=+—H
Maturity HK$’000 Maturity HK$'000
E): BT 25 BETT
Current B
Bank and other loans — secured RAREMER — AHEM 2024 or on demand 1,313,121 2023 or on demand 1,150,236
“E-MERRER ZECZFRBRER
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — BER 2024 or on demand 7,813,227 2023 or on demand 3,541,965
“ECMERRER “Z-=FRREX
Medium-term notes FERE — BER(ME26) 2024 1,087,559 2023 1,117,194
— unsecured (note 26) —E-NF —TC=F
10,213,907 5,809,395
Non-current FEEN
Bank and other loans — secured RIIREBER — BER 2025-2039 7,806,594 2024-2039 7,504,056
“E-REE-BZAE —Z-NEE-TNE
Bank loans — unsecured RITEF — BER 2025-2037 1,439,570 2024-2037 4,966,875
“ECRFE-BCLR ZEoNEE-T=LF
Medium-term notes FEHRE — SER(ME2e) 2025-2027 3,671,689 2024-2025 2,456,199
— unsecured (note 26) “ECREECBCLFR T MEE-T-RE
12,917,853 14,927,130

23,131,760 20,736,525




25.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

AT

Analysed into:
Bank and other loans repayable:
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25. A EIRITREMES (&)

2023 2022

— = — —

R S —

HK$'000
BT

HK$ 000
BET T

AR THIHEEEZ

RITREMER :
Within one year or on demand —F AR EK 9,126,348 4,692,201
In the second year F= 1,525,103 1,901,891
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EZFRF(BF
BREMF) 3,923,492 7,107,442
Beyond five years AFE 3,797,569 3,461,598
18,372,512 17,163,132
Medium-term notes repayable: AR THEREEERE
PEIEIR -
Within one year or on demand —FARRIZEK 1,087,559 1,117,194
In the second year £ 2,586,427 1,116,657
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZEERF (B
BREMF) 1,085,262 1,339,542

Certain banking facilities and other loans of the Group are
secured by certain revenue, contract assets, intangible
assets and receivables in connection with the Group’s
service concession arrangements, bank deposit, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of the Group.
Such banking facilities amounting to HK$10,834,660,000
(2022: HK$11,062,638,000) as at 31 December 2023 were
utilised to the extent of HK$8,773,695,000 (2022:

HK$8,288,239,000).

The unsecured banking facilities of HK$14,076,086,000
(2022: HK$14,280,095,000) as at 31 December 2023 were
utilised to the extent of HK$9,252,797,000 (2022:
HK$8,508,840,000).

AEEETRIBEREMERABER
SERBHFTCLEETHZETRGE &
WEE - BREEREWRFIE RNEBZR
AER W% BEREEREREEEE
%Jﬂfﬁ cHRITEZ=F+ZA=+—H " Lt
RITRE S5 A 10,834,660,0007 (=
T - 4 B11,062,638,0007T) 0 H A
B8 A% 8,773,695,0007C (_E::
5 1£.8,288,239,0007T) °

RZBZ=F+=ZA=+—H EEKHFRE
TRVE £ %8 A5 114,076,086,0007T (=&
© 75 14,280,095,0007T) * £
E)AE%09,252,797,000 L (ZE=_—F 1 /&
#:8,508,840,0007T) °
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25.

20.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not meet certain
financial covenants of bank borrowings amounting to
HK$4,293,835,000 (2022: Nil), and it did not have
unconditional rights to defer settlement for at least twelve
months after reporting period. The interest-bearing bank
borrowings of HK$4,293,835,000 in aggregate (2022: Nil)
are repayable on demand and are presented under current
liabilities in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group
confirmation from banks on its
non-compliance of certain financial covenants for bank
borrowings of HK$3,746,273,000, and repaid bank
borrowings of HK$547,562,000 to a bank.

obtained waiver

All of the non-current bank loans are carried at amortised
cost. None of the non-current bank loans is expected to be
settled within one year.

MEDIUM-TERM NOTES

25.

20.

A EIRTTREMIER (&)

R-F-=F+-A=+—0 A%EYL
BE1THE TRITHEEE%4,293,835,0007T
0 ?%%ﬁ?t@::ﬁ-mwﬁﬁ

TIHE’HE?T'J quEfE 1ﬁ1§ﬁ@§ﬁ ﬁ%
4,293,835,000C (ZZE -4 : &) AIRE

EBE ITRAEER _ZET-_=ZF+_-A4
Z T+ HRNGATBRARF 2N ARS
BfE -

RBEERE  AEBEEREERRT
BB B#3,746,273,000 L& T B 522 5%
BEERITHNREERE YR —fHBRTE
BIRTTIE BB 547,562,0007T °

7 3 BNV ER R 77 B 2488 8K AR BB o B
3 T R ﬁ%# R -

o 5

ZIR

~|\ﬁﬂ|

2023 2022
—E-=5F ===
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Current BN HR
Medium-term notes — unsecured FRHAE R — EIKR 1,087,559 1,117,194
Non-current JEENHA
Medium-term notes — unsecured FHAEE — | 3,671,689 2,456,199
Total ST 4,759,248 3,573,393

On 1 April 2020, the Company entered into an underwriting
agreement with the relevant financial institutions in relation
to the proposed issue of RMB-denominated medium-term
notes with an aggregate principal amount of not exceeding
RMB3.5 billion (equivalent to approximately HK$4.3 billion)
to the qualified investors in the PRC.

R-E-TEMA-—B AAFREES
BRERRATEAERREAERTAS
BET BB A R I35 (ISR 4E 1 43
[B70) BIAA RS SHER R HIZE 18 TS B0 3
TER
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26. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES (Continued) 26. RHEAZER (&)

On 12 June 2020 (the “First Issue Date”), the Company
issued the first tranche of the medium-term notes with a
principal amount of RMB1,000,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,184,500,000) before related expenses of
RMB1,330,000, with a maturity period of five years from the
First Issue Date. The first tranche of the medium-term notes
bears interest at a rate of 3.68% per annum and the
interest will be repayable by the Company annually from the
First Issue Date and up to the maturity date.

On 27 July 2021 (the “Second Issue Date”), the Company
issued the second tranche of the medium-term notes with a
principal amount of RMB1,000,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,222,300,000), before related expenses of
RMB1,330,000, with a maturity period of five years from the
Second Issue Date. The second tranche of the
medium-term notes bears interest at a rate of 3.5% per
annum and the interest will be repayable by the Company
annually from the Second Issue Date and up to the maturity
date.

On 7 April 2022 (the “Third Issue Date”), the Company
issued the third tranche of the medium-term notes, with a
principal amount of RMB1,200,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,340,880,000), before related expenses of
RMB1,596,000, with a maturity period of five years from the
Third Issue Date. The third tranche of the medium-term
notes bears interest at a rate of 3.27% per annum and the
interest will be repayable by the Company annually from the
Third Issue Date and up to the maturity date.

RZZE_EFXNA+-B(BEXRETH
) AREBITE-HARBEREE A$
8 & A R #1,000,000,0007T (18 5 R 8 1
1,184,500,0007T) (xR EEE R AR
1,330,0007CBl) « AAPR & B & R 17 B B
BESF - F—HPHMEBRNFNEAR
3.68% ' FlEHMAARRBERNETHEE
AT FUAEE-

RZBE - —F+A-++R(F KT
HESD) AR A BITE_HFHEE &
% 7 A A R #1,000,000,0007T (HH 5 R
#51,222,300,0007C) (IR EHEER AR
1,330,0007CAT) - AR R B & —IRE&fTH
HE6F - F_HPHEBENFFNEA
3.5%  FEKHHAARAE - IKETAH
ZHMBETFETUEE -

R -_—FmWALR([E=ZXEITH
) ARABBITE-HHHZEE &2
& A R #1,200,000,0007T (185 R 8 1
1,340,880,0007T) (N EEE R AR
1,596,0007CR1) - HiR A B % =K ¥E(TH
HEsF F-HPHEBRNFANEAR
8.27% * kA BHBEARRBE=ZIREITAH
HEZNHATGFETIUEE -
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20.

MEDIUM-TERM NOTES (Continued)

According to the terms of the first, second and third
the
“Medium-term Notes”), the Company is entitled to adjust the

tranche of medium-term notes (collectively,
interest rate of the Medium-term Notes for the remaining 2
years before the maturity date when the notes are issued
after three years from the respective issue date of each
tranche. The Company will announce the adjustment of
interest rate, if any, ten working days prior to the payment
of interest for the third year. The bondholders have an
option to sell the Medium-term Notes back to the Company
at a nominal price and the exercisable period of this option
is within five working days after the issuance of the
Company’s announcement related to the adjustment of
interest rate.

On 22 May 2023, the Company announced the adjustment
of the interest rate in respect of the first tranche of the
medium-term notes changed from 3.68% per annum to
3.05% per annum for the period from 12 June 2023 to
11 June 2025.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the bondholders
of the first tranche of the medium-term notes exercised the
option to sell the first tranche of the medium-term notes
back to the Company in total of RMB820,000,000

(equivalent to HK$907,248,000).

On 7 April 20283, the Company obtained the approval of the
application from the National Association of Financial Market
Institutional Investors (the “NAFMII”) in PRC for registration
of multiple types of debt financing instruments in the
aggregate amount of not more than RMB5 billion (equivalent
to approximately HK$5.4 bilion) to be issued by the
Company in multiple tranches as and when appropriate
within two years from the date of the notice of acceptance

of registration from the NAFMII, being 4 April 2023.

20.

PR ()

REE—H F_HRE=MPHRE
BIZFTHRE]) ER > ARREHER
EHEREERTHYREAIRIFR B
REIHIRATER PR F R ST HRIEAFE -
ARAHRE=ZFHENKAI0ETER
RABME(INE) - BEFFAEATEE
NEZERERZETHEREDETARF
ARMEERATENAARRBEEHAE
MEHAETEELSEIEAR -

RZZE-_=FRA-+_-H AXQAQMH
ERE—BTHERNMNERAE R
ZEFERNATZHEZZ-RFNAT—
H I ER#E FFEH3.68% FNAZE3.05% °

BE-_Z-_=€+-—RA=+—BL=EE"
FE-HTHEERNES A ATERERE
SE—BRHERER TAQG - BEA
B 820,000,000 L (FHER B
907,248,0007T) °

RZZEZZFWNALH  ARAIRFER
AR E AR BIRITETISER 5@
g((RTAXSAHE]) HEZFTMEL
ERHAI-E-_=FMANA)®E:T A
MEAREEFIRD ZHIREITHRES
iR A RES0ET (HHERBHES4ET
MNZmEEHFHE TARESBSRITEARSH
MR RFERA -
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27.

MEDIUM-TERM NOTES (Continued)

On 12 May 2023, the Company issued the first tranche of
the green medium-term notes with a principal amount of
RMB1,000,000,000 (equivalent to HK$1,087,800,000),
before related expenses of RMB3,000,000, with a maturity
period of three years from the issue date. The first tranche
of the green medium-term notes bears interest at a rate of
3.20% per annum and the interest will be repayable by the
Company annually from the issue date and up to the
maturity date.

On 21 September 2023, the Company issued the second
tranche of the green medium-term notes with a principal
amount of RMB1,000,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,087,800,000), before related expenses of
RMB2,000,000, with a maturity period of two years from the
issue date. The second tranche of the green medium-term
notes bears interest at a rate of 2.83% per annum and the
interest will be repayable by the Company annually from the
issue date and up to the maturity date.

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities/(assets) during the
year are as follows:
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27.

RHEIRIR (A

R-ZE-_=ZFHEA+ -8B AQA %
TE " HECRHERE XemA
A R #1,000,000,0007T (18 % 7 # #
1,087,800,00070) (1B A E R AR
3,000,000 7CAl) - HiBR A B 817 B Bi B &t
—F-F—HHeTHEENFRNEXA
3.20% ' MAEBEARRBETHPEE
HESFTUUEE -

RZEZ=FhLAZ=Z+—8 ' AAQd
BOFE_HBEeTHER A2EA
A R #1,000,000,0007C (&£ R B &
1,087,800,00070) (I E B AR
2,000,000 CAI) © HABR & B %17 B HARR &t
ME - F_MHEEPHEENFRNXA
2.83% ' RFEBBEAAREETASHEE
HEEFTLUAEE-

B ET TR
BEBARE(AE)RFRZEBNT

Temporary
differences on
assets
recognised Temporary  Temporary Fair value
under  Temporary differences  differences adjustments
HK(IFRIC)  differences  arising from arising from arising from Undistributed
Interpretation  arising from provision on impairment of acquisition of profits of
12 tax losses inventory assets  subsidiaries  subsidiaries Others
RE(EE
(EREBRE
REZEE)-
2B)E12% WENE A
BAzEEz HEFREL FHRAREL GEMBEL ELZOAE WEAR
EREE 2ENER 2EREE  2ERER BE  RAKEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB AET T RETT BB AET T RETT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—¢—H-A 1,362,723 - - (58,904) 49,052 39,062 (19,635) 1,362,298
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss 7 B#H1%,/(FtA)

(note 11) (MizE11) 117,264 = (4,709) 1,099 (69) 113,585
Exchange realignment EHEZ (121,343) - 5,065 (3,992) (3,393) 1,688 (121,985)
At 31 December 2022 and WZZZZ§+ZA4

1 January 2023 =t-Ak

—T-=F
-A-8 1,348,644 - - (63,849) 40,351 36,768 (18,016) 1,353,898
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss ~ 7EB#41% /(GtA)

(note 11) (WH3E11) 30,732 (42,681) (8,851) (121,232) (4,293) (32,596) (131) (179,052
Exchange realignment EHAZ (36,432) 718 149 3,465 (997) (949) 479 (33,567)
At 31 December 2023 RZE=Z=%+ZHh

== 1,342,944 (41,963) (8,702) (171,616) 35,061 3,223 (17,668) 1,141,279
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27.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial

position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

AEFETLIA (4F)

RTE2HMEW ETELCHBREENAR
ERMHBARARTEE - TRAUPH A
HENMBARBEREEHBLERIELZ
DT

2023 2022
—E=-= —EF-_—
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Deferred tax assets recognised in the RirE MR R IER
consolidated statement of financial position ZEERAEE 198,495 80,855
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE B IR R R
consolidated statement of financial position ZIEERIAR R (1,339,774) (1,434,753)
(1,141,279) (1,353,898)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

The Group has unrecognised tax losses arising in Mainland
China of approximately HK$221,312,000 (2022:
HK$130,244,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
are not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

RIBFFBESEMEBEL KRB AR
ZOBLERMIBREETRREK &
B10% 2 HEBREMH - ZRER-F
ENF-A-BBEN XWEAR_-ZEZT
tFE+T A=t —BZREEZBHN - i
EREREEB IR EEERARE
BRI AHBERG R R EAEEZE
MR - REEZBERRERE% > It
AEBEARFPEREXZIZMEARBS =
ZEENF-A-BEELZANMDIKZ
B S TEEL

REBRFPEAEEEAERREBIEY
& #221,312,000L (ZE=ZZF : B
130,244,00070) #& R — & 7L F A A R K 8
RRERBET - WERZEEERRE
EHEELEE RECHBEEERRATAK
ARERELEERBAFEHEAIBA 2B
THEE -
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27. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 27, BILEMIE (&)
At 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of temporary RZEBEZ=F+ZA=+—RH @FER
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in A K BE B B A RIAR Y 1 R iR IEE B
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not EEENERMEZELBOREBYE
been recognised was approximately HK$412,481,000 (2022: 412,481,000 (2 - —F : B %
HK$392,076,000). In the opinion of the directors, it is not 392,076,0007T) s EFER A KA B i
probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings K ZEMBRRTKAEDIRZEFE -

in the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the A8 &) A B AR ERIR B A% B3 1 B 7S () P
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders. JIHER -
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. &7
2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$’°000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Authorised: EIE
5,000,000,000 (2022: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,000 %
ordinary shares of US$0.10 each —F-—
5,000,000,000 %)
BRMEME0.10ETT
2 &R 3,891,500 3,891,500
Issued and fully paid: ERTREHHE :
2,066,078,000 (2022: 2,066,078,000) 2,066,078,000 %
ordinary shares (Z=2=_=

2,066,078,000%)
LR 1,608,029 1,608,029
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29. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 158
to 159 of the financial statements.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the fund in the share premium account of the
Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of entities outside Hong Kong.

Other reserve

Other reserve comprises the difference between the
paid
non-controlling interests and the carrying amount of

consideration for the acquisition of
non-controlling interests at the transaction date, less
the foreign exchange movements on translation of
those subsidiaries attributable to the non-controlling

interests.

29.

m

i
EMRAFERBEFEZBHSER

A

fr Bt

N

LEBFBRMBHRETEI168E169A 2
TEEREBHRES -

W

(i) KEE
BE(RAERERARIEIUBEIAR) - K
RNEIRMDBERANES SR TA
NERE - WREREZDIRKRKREH
g NARIEBRENEEABER
MR S S B EIEE -

(i) ERRE

ERRERRREEERIIER Y
BRRAEEZMBINEELZR -

HAit &

A 4 M S R IR 35 A
RERETRERRR S BHNER
B2RIMERE  RRE IR
EZEHBARZHNEELES -

(iii)



29. RESERVES (Continueqd)

(iv) Reserve fund

(v)

Statutory reserve — wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises

Subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC, which are
wholly-foreign-owned enterprises, follow the
accounting principles and relevant financial regulations
of the PRC applicable to wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises (“PRC GAAP — WFOE”) in the preparation
of their accounting records and financial statements.
Pursuant to the accounting regulations for business
enterprises (1& % & &5 &l Z [ & (2000) 255%]), the
subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of the
profit arrived at in accordance with PRC GAAP-WFOE
for each year to a statutory reserve. The profit arrived
at must be used initially to set off against any
accumulated losses. The appropriations to statutory
reserve, after offsetting against any accumulated
losses, must be made before the distribution of
dividends to equity owners. The appropriation is
required until the statutory reserve reaches 50% of
the registered capital. This statutory reserve is not
distributable in the form of cash dividends but may be
used to set off losses or be converted into paid-in
capital.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net
change in the fair value of debtors at fair value
through other comprehensive income held at the end
of the reporting period and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies in note 2.4.
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(iv) REES

EERHE — 2 EFRE

REBUNRPRZHBRR (Z2HE
TE)RBERANINEBESEZF
EestRAERBAMEER((PERA
REFTRA — 2INERE] - HH
EHEHERTBRE BRI ES
STHIZ B € (2000)2558]) © KB A A
BAEFRERTIEARSRE — 2
INEETEMBZRFEFP10%E
BELTERE BV EGLEANE
HERMARTEE REESEAF
(BB EM RETEER) 2ETHE
?&ﬁTH%%%ﬁ/\”iﬁﬁig o it 8

NEE—EHEBBANEEZERE  &H
EATREERTMEARS0% AL °
WEERETAIUREBREFKX D
&R AREHEBERER AT
[N

N

N REFE

AR EFBEOEEREHRIEA A BT
AR 2 ERA SRR A R E
H 2 E )R E WIRRHF2.45
BETBRER -
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30.

PERPETUAL MEDIUM-TERM NOTES

As at 1 January 2022

KB EIRE

Total
st
HK$’'000
BT IT

Principal Distribution

PN 72k
HK$’'000
BT IT

HK$’'000
BT

Issuance of perpetual medium-term — FERBEITKETHERE
notes during the year 806,982 - 806,982
Profit attributable to holders of KEFHERREEA
perpetual medium-term notes FEAG & F = 15,952 15,952
Distribution to holders of perpetual MOKEFHERREEA
medium-term notes Dk = (15,952) (15,952)
As at 31 December 2022 and R-_T__—
1 January 2023 +—A=+—8kK
—E-_=%—AH—H 806,982 — 806,982
Profit attributable to holders of KEFHERFEEA
perpetual medium-term notes FEAG B F = 36,285 36,285
Distribution to holders of perpetual MOKEFHERREEA
medium-term notes b3 = (36,285) (36,285)
As at 31 December 2023 R_ZE—_=4F
+=ZA=+—H 806,982 - 806,982

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
issued perpetual medium-term notes with a principal
amount of RMB700,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$809,410,000). Net proceeds after deducting the
issuance expenses amounted to HK$806,982,000. The
distribution rate for the perpetual medium-term notes is
3.35% per annum in the first 3 years from the date of
issuance, and subsequently the distribution rate will be reset
in every 3 calendar years. The distribution of perpetual
medium-term notes is accrued in accordance with the
distribution rate as set out in the offering memorandum,
and the distribution is payable on 27 May annually. The
perpetual medium-term notes have no maturity date and the
instruments can only be redeemed at the option of the
Company. The payments of distribution can be deferred into
perpetuity at the discretion of the Company, except when a
compulsory distribution payment event, including declaration
or payment of any discretionary dividends to ordinary
shareholders, has occurred over the past 12 months before
the payment date of each distribution.

BE-_Z-_-—#+-_A=+—RBIFE -
KRR REITASEAARE700,000,0007T
(Z{E4)781809,410,0007T) Bk & H =
B o BRI  KETPHEE AT
183 IE T B A 78 15.806,982,0007T ° FA B B
TTHERRRETEIF - KEFHEERNDIKE
BEFI35%  HEBREIEEFEE —
Koo KEBEFHEEREMNDRIIIZBETES
SRATH M DR RETRER  BZSEDIRIE
REFREA-t++HBEINN— K- KETH
ZRWENPR  ZSTEETAAAF
BIBIEE - AR A A WBERE D IR FIE
BEAXEFD BRIENSHIEXHHEH
AIBA12@ BB LR IR KES B
FErEBERRERIRHEABBERE -
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31. HE—FEHEBRQ A
B2 - —"F+-_A=+—BItFE"
NEFAM—ZBLFE=HHEER R
BARz2HED ReREBHOAEARE
3,900,0007C (Z{E 49781 4,376,0007T ) °

31. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
disposed its entire interest in a subsidiary to an
independent third party for a cash consideration of
approximately RMB3,900,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,376,000).

2022
—EF_—
HK$’000
BT
Net assets disposed of: FrbE 2 BEFE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE R 110
Debtors, other receivables, deposits and JE YT BR 3 - B b FE YRR
prepayments Re RFEMFIR 10,391
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 31
Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses FEATBR R~ E A FE T B R
st EA (396)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR M 2 (6,413)
3,723
Exchange reserve b 5, 1 177
3,900
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary s — B A A 2 W 476
4,376
Total consideration RELEHE 4,376

FRALE-—HHNBARNEENRESEFE
MIRAFBONTIT

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

2022
T
HK$’000
BT T
Cash consideration HeERE 4,376
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FHEREeRREZEY (31)

FRLE—RHBARMNES KA
LEBYRAFE 4,345

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect
of the disposal of a subsidiary
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. #&8IRenE XM

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions (@ EEFREXRS
()  During the year ended 31 December 2023, ) REZEZ-—Z=_=4+=A8
interest expenses on medium-term notes of =T —HLEFE  AEE®K
HK$10,236,000 (2022: HK$35,907,000) are not REFBHEBRNERZ B
yet settled by the Group, and are recorded in 10,286,0007C (Z T Z=4F : &
“Creditors, other payables and accrued #35,907,0007T) * BEAFIELD
expenses” in the consolidated statement of ARZZEZ=F+=-H=1—H
financial position as at 31 December 2023. ZERE P BMAR [ERERER
Hitn BN RIBREFERIA -
(i) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the i) REBEZEZEZ-ZZFZ=-_=4+=A8
Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use —+—HLFE KAEEAB
assets and lease liabilities of HK$10,741,000 ERBF I HERB AR
(2022: HK$6,817,000) and HK$10,741,000 BENEEREHRSEED
(2022: HK$6,817,000), respectively, in respect of Al A&7 #10,741,000C (= =
lease arrangements for buildings. —ZF : % ¥6,817,0007T) K&
75 #10,741,000C (ZE = =
F : 5#6,817,0007T) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METHELENEEZE2E

activities:

Medium-term
notes interest
payables
ERTHRERE
HK$'000
BB

Medium-term
notes
eSS
HK$'000
BEFT

Other loans
A ER
HK$'000
BEFT

Bank loans Total
@t
HK$'000

BETL

Lease liabilities
HEAR
HK$'000
BB

L 8
HK$'000
BT

At 1 January 2022 W=F=-=%-f-H 16,764,088 1,344,530 2,442,478 43,290 15,636 20,610,022
Changes from financing cash flows BERERE
25 1,309,317 (1,311,456) 1,476,262 (81,722) (2,905) 1,479,496
New leases HAHE = - - = 6,817 6,817
Finance costs, including capitalised interest M ER (REZEALHE
expenses %) 15,492 21,252 - 117,629 706 165,079
Exchange realignment EiBE (1,015,765) (54,326) (345,347) (284) (692) (1,416,414)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2028  RZFZZFFZA=+-H
k=F-=%-f-A 17,163,132 - 3,573,393 78,913 19,662 20,835,000
Changes from financing cash flows BERERE
25 1,649,071 - 1,288,245 (124,353) (4,933) 2,708,030
New leases HAHE = = = = 10,741 10,741
Finance costs, including capitalised interest BB EM (BEEEALFE
expenses %) 14,823 = = 134,589 1,067 150,479
Exchange realignment EiBE (354,514) = (102,390) (7,860) (342) (465,106)
As at 31 December 2023 RZE-=#+-fA=t-H 18,372,512 - 4,759,248 81,289 26,095 23,239,144




32.

33.

34.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:
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32. IrERTMEBRME(E)

(c) HEZRESRHARE

HeRERFEAE BN ERE
mF

2023 2022

—_E-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BB T T BT T
Within operating activities KRS A 10,717 14,467
Within investing activities "EEEA - —
Within financing activities BEFEBN 4,933 2,905

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s
banking facilities and other loans are included in note 25 to
the financial statements. The aggregate net book value of
assets pledged amounted to HK$17,239,332,000 (2022:
HK$19,430,554,000) as at 31 December 2023.

COMMITMENTS

(@ At 31 December 2023, the Group had outstanding
purchase commitments
Group’s construction contracts not provided for in the
financial statements of HK$108,723,000 (2022:
HK$295,360,000).

in connection with the

(b) At 31 December 2023, the Group had an outstanding
capital commitment relating to the capital contribution
to a joint venture not provided for in the financial
statements of HK$27,195,000 (2022: HK$27,935,000).

33. EEEA

RAEERTREREMERME THEA
CAREEBEEZHBINTBIREKWM T
B R _E-_=ZF+-_F=+—H &
HEEZREAFERER17,239,332,000
L (=T = =4 : B%19,430,554,0007T) °

34. A&

@ R-ZE-_=F+-A=+—8 4%
BWARERBREPHREBREEE
BEAHNZABOTERBAREER
108,723,000/t (Z T = 4 : B
295,360,0007T) {E# & -

b) MRZZE_=F+_A=+—8 ' 4£&&%
EIRETBREREARN—KEE
TEFTEZRABITEREESE
27,195,000t (Z 2 ZZF : B
27,935,0007T) 1 -
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered
into the following material related party transactions:

(@) Transactions with fellow subsidiaries

35. BBtALTZR5

BB IR EAME D T2 X5 MR
AEEFTIATEREBALRS

(a) HERWEBLARAZXRS

2023 2022
—E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5% BT T BT T
Rental expenses e (vi) 2,189 2,130
Hazardous and solid waste EEREEREERA (vi)
processing income 2,448 3,151
Underwriting fee BIEER (vi) 3,651 1,457
Interest income** FE A () 315 1,122
Interest expenses*™* B (i) 5,619 2,481
Purchase of machineries** 28 EL B~ (i) 25,357 45,656
Design fees RETEM 640 1,443
Purchase of steam** TEREE (iv) 15,341 43,752
Medical insurance fee** BEERRE (v) 27,803 18,591
Notes: B 5T
0] Interest income was derived from deposit services (i) FEWAREREERRITROE

provided by China Everbright Bank Company Limited
(“CE Bank”). The deposit services provided by CE
Bank was based on normal commercial terms and no
less favourable than the terms available to the Group
from independent third parties. Interest income was
charged based on normal terms and agreed through
arm’s-length negotiations between the parties.

(i) Interest expenses was incurred on a loan from CE
Bank. The loan services provided by CE Bank was
based on normal commercial terms and no less
favourable than the terms available to the Group from
independent third parties. Interest expenses was
charged based on normal terms and agreed through
arm’s-length negotiations between the parties.

(iii) Purchase of machineries from a fellow subsidiary,
Everbright Environmental Technology Equipment
(Changzhou) Company Limited*, was charged in
accordance with the terms of the agreement entered
into between the Group and the fellow subsidiary.

RAR(ERRITD REZ FHR
o XARRITREZ FHRB IR
—RAEEGIIRE - ARG
BRARBEBBLE=ESZIK
o FBUT AR — R AR EN BB
BETR T 2R R TVEBIHE -

(i  MEZHTIEERRITERESE -
RRRITRE 2 BRI TR — K
AR M - BBRIGRTER
FEBBBIE=HES 2GR -
B R — ARG R S B B RT
A5 2B A FRERBIHE

(i) FRRKB A T AR R
(BM) BIRA 7 e 22 4R I8 2018 T
RIS B R B A 75T S
125 3% 2R KR, -



35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv) Purchase of steam from a fellow subsidiary, EB
Environmental Energy (Sugian) Company Limited*, was
charged in accordance with the terms of the
agreement entered into between the Group and the
fellow subsidiary.

(v) Medical insurance fee was paid to Sun Life Everbright
Life Insurance Co., Limited*. The fee was charged in
accordance with the terms of the agreement entered
into between the parties.

(vi) These transactions were conducted in accordance with
the terms mutually agreed with the relevant parties.

* For identification purpose only

> These related party transactions also constitute
continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Transactions with an intermediate holding
company

The Group incurred interest expenses of
HK$21,252,000 on an amount due to an intermediate
holding company which is interest-bearing at 85% of
the rates announced by the People’s Bank of China
and LPR in the PRC minus 0.45% during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The Group paid key management personnel
compensation as follows:
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AL 25 (&)
(a) HERWBIRAZXRZ (&)

M ()

(v) AR ZHE A F Y AIRREER (T8
) AR QBRI Z TR AR
AR S ] ER (R R T8 X B RT SLAY 1%
IR R

V) MHARKAAZSRBERAFZ(
BEREBE - ZBRIRETON
Z [ERT SLH 1h 5 AR

V) BREXSHIRBEEEEHHBR
TE AR FETT

- ERET

o REHEBMALRSIMERCETMR
ANDFEVUAT A E 2 FHBEBER
5 e

(b) H-—BHFEEZERRIAZRS

AEEBRBE_ZSE-_—_F+=H4
=+ —RHIFEERS — A R
ARRBEBEELAMNEI DL EE
21,252,0007C * P BHEARRITA
15 1) F1) £ 85% K& 1% 1 BILPRIF 0.45%
B e

(c) AEEMEXNZIBERRMAEMS
T

2023 2022
—E-=f —EC-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T

Salaries and other short-term employee FekHMEHES
benefits = 46,420 53,864
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B 5,631 6,390
52,051 60,254

Total remuneration is included in “Employee benefit
expense” (see note 8).

Frfamat AR BRI
iE8) °
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. ARSI D eI E
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RmEBRR SEAeBHTEZERAABARN

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T
follows:

2023 —E-=
Financial assets T EE

Financial assets
at fair value

through other Financial assets

comprehensive at amortised
income cost
BARERTA
HttZEWA REHRASTEZ
ZERMEE CREE @zt
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT
Debtors & W B 5K 5,673,033 2,181,288 7,854,321
Financial assets included & AEfhEUFIE »
in other receivables, He RBFNHIE
deposits and LEREE
prepayments - 276,573 276,573
Pledged bank deposits BEEARITER - 47,361 47,361
Deposits with banks RITFH - 22,844 22,844
Cash and cash equivalents 4 FEELEED - 2,308,578 2,308,578

5,673,033 4,836,644 10,509,677
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. HEAE Dz I A (&
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RWmERR SEeRITEZREAABER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T (&)

follows: (Continueq)

2023 (Continued) —E-=F(#&)

Financial liabilities THEE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

BREHEB A

AR EE
&
HK$’000
BET T

Financial liabilities included in creditors, other STABMERR - HibEMAFRIB R ERT

payables and accrued expenses ERzeRmBE 2,541,074
Lease liabilities HEAE 26,095
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTEIRITREMEE 23,131,760

25,698,929
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. HERE Dz I A (&)
(Continueqd)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RMERAR SEeBmITAEZRAARN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T (&)

follows: (Continued)

2022 —E-=

Financial assets THEE

Financial assets

at fair value

through other
comprehensive Financial assets
income at amortised cost

BARERA
H 2 H KA RESHK ARG 2
LERMEE LEMEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET BET BETT
Debtors JE W BR 3K 4,218,406 1,954,041 6,172,447
Financial assets included  &F A E i jE Y g8
in other receivables, ReRBEAFKEZ
deposits and TREE
prepayments — 379,005 379,005
Pledged bank deposits BHEFIRITIF R = 75,043 75,043
Deposits with banks RITHER = 23,465 23,465
Cash and cash equivalents & RIRESEEY = 1,904,785 1,904,785
4,218,406 4,336,339 8,554,745
Financial liabilities THEE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

12 58 GH R AN

FTEZER
aE
HK$’000
BT T

Financial liabilities included in creditors, other STAERERR - Hfb B I8 R BT

payables and accrued expenses BRzemMBE 3,144,877
Lease liabilities HEAE 19,562
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFERITREMEER 20,736,525

23,900,964




37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, deposits with
banks, current portion of financial
debtors, other receivables,

assets included in
deposits and prepayments,
creditors, other payables and accrued expenses, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the
immediate or the short term maturities of these

instruments.

The Group’s finance department is
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting

responsible for

date, the finance department analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed
and approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation
process and results are discussed with the audit and risk
management committee twice a year for interim and annual
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial assets
included in other receivables, deposits and prepayments,
other payables, lease liabilities, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and certain debtors have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk, annualised yield and remaining maturities. The Group’s
own non-performance risk for interest-bearing borrowings as
at 31
insignificant.

December 2023 and 2022 was assessed to be
The carrying amounts of these balances
approximate to their fair values.
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37.

EMITAZAREBEMARERBR

30|

EEEEFEREMASEFEY SHER
RITFER - |RITER - BRESASREE
BIEE - At EUFIR - e RFEMNRK
H - BARR - HMENFRELETER -
HEREBEMABRITEEMEEZALE
HHREERE  FTEHRZFTANE
FHIS e AR B H

AEENMEHPAAEBEEERTALR
B ENBRENERF - REREEH - B
MANTERTANEEEIRETHE
FAEMNEIZEARE - BRAMGEHMS
RERMIME BERLEREEZES
BFEMAFwmEERFRER  REHFD
TR FEMBRE o

TREENBENAABURZTARER
R REIBERHERINEARSH T
ZARZGEEAR - AT HERBRRAR
ERAVNEE

EAHMBEWRKIE HeRBNREBEZS
BMEEZIENBANS - HMEARE  BE
BE FERITEKEMEERE TREE
FE R B AR A AR EB RGN -
EERR  FlaXkEKIHANT
EWMFERERARKREREAE - R
TEC=ERCIFE_F+ZA=+—H"
AEEBEFFEEBENENRRTHAE
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37. @R T A AR BEALBEER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&

Fair value hierarchy AREEBR

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement THRAAREESRIACARBEFERE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: &

Assets measured at fair value: BARBERECEE

Fair value measurement using
AREFEEAUTEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RERT 5 EATHE EXFARE

ZHE BAgE BAHE
(E—%) (=) (=8 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT BETT

As at 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F
+-A=+—8

Financial assets at fair value — EAAEFAEMEE
through other comprehensive WAZEREE
income - 5,673,033 - 5,673,033

Fair value measurement
RRBEFERRUTEE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3
WEES 2 BEATTRE
Z B 2813 A

(B—&) (BE=&)
HK$'000 HK$'00!
BRI BETT BRI

As at 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F+=-A
Eq4=[E

Financial assets at fair value ~ EAABEFAEMEE
through other comprehensive WA 2 & B EE

income — 4,218,406 — 4,218,406
The Group did not have financial liabilities measured at fair R-E-_ZFR_FE-_—F+-fA=+—
value as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. B AEBUEEFRAAEFENSRE

BE-



37.

38.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between level 1 and
level 2 and no transfers into or at level 3 for financial
assets (2022: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing borrowings, cash and short-term deposits.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as debtors, other
receivables, deposits, and creditors, other payables and
accrued expenses, which arise directly from its operations.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and

they are summarised below.
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37.

38.

DREBR(A)

BE_T_=-"F+-_A=+t—HLFE"
REMEEMS  F—AME_RNAR
BEFfECHTEER LW EE AL =RK
BE=ZAEH (ZF-__F 8)-

BA R LB B TR B 1R SRBUR

AEBZTESRIABEHEEE B
EREHER - MEERTAZIZAN
ERR/AEEZXBEFERES - A%

@%EE@%@%E&E%'@%EW%
- M RUGRIA e A RERBRSK

m%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁ’ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
ELE -

AEECBTAEE Y TERROEANE

A‘%%ﬂ EERBERBESE
Exeha kB EEESEABEAR
Zﬁﬁ*&ﬁ%ﬁ R T3 e
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks,
bank and other borrowings and medium-term notes.
Borrowings issued at variable rates and at fixed rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair
value interest rate risk, respectively. The Group does not
use financial derivatives to hedge against the interest rate
risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by
management is set out in (i) below.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group’s net borrowings (being interest-bearing
financial liabilities less deposits with banks and cash

and cash equivalents) at the end of the reporting

38.

B 75 B IR B AR MUK (F)

R R E b2

AEEmESZNERREIEREAEEZ
RekReEEY  RITFH - RITEEAM
EERPHRE - T B R K EFE MK
HEZEESCAEEDRAZRERER
KEBREAABMNERRE - AEEILEFN
REeERITET ARG PN EREAR - AKH
ZHEHRABEREEBESR  FHREANTX
(i) °

) FIEHL
TREJIAEERREMRZEEF
B EERABERERITERN
ERERREFEY) ZFEHER

period.
2023 2022
—EC-= - S
Effective Effective

interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
BEFE x| BIRF = S F
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
BETT BB

Net fixed rate borrowings/ EEHEE/(FR)

(deposits): T

Medium-term notes TEZE 2.83%-3.68% 4,759,248  3.35%-3.68% 3,573,393
Lease liabilities (note 15(0)) AEEE (HE150)  1.42%-4.90% 26,095  1.42%-4.90% 19,562
Less: Deposits with banks o RITER 1.45% (22,844) 1.55% (23,465)

Cash and cash BekilesE
equivalents EY 3.05% (295,882) 1.53% (55,691)
4,466,617 3,513,799

Net variable rate borrowings/ FEEE/(FH)

(deposits): BE

Bank and other loans BITREMER 2.45%-6.17% 18,372,512  3.20%-5.91% 17,163,132
Less: Cash and cash equivalents & : e KRR EZEEY  0.08%-2.50% (2,012,696)  0.03%-3.00% (1,849,094)
Pledged bank deposits BERRTER  0.25%-2.75% (47,361) 0.3%2.75% (75,043)

Loan to a non-controlling IR E R
interest X - 5.23% (25,971)
16,312,455 15,213,024
Total net borrowings BEEZE 20,779,072 18,726,823




38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of one percent in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s loss before taxation by
approximately HK$163,125,000 (2022: decrease/
increase of profit before taxation of HK$152,130,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit/(loss)
before taxation that would arise assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end of
the reporting period and had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk at the end of the reporting period. In respect
of the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising
from floating rate non-derivative instruments held by
the Group at the end of the reporting period, the
impact on the Group’s profit/(loss) before taxation is
estimated as an annualised impact on interest
expense or income of such a change in interest rates.
The analysis is performed on the same basis as
2022.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. B ESEIEBE RS (42)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk Ih | B

() Exposure to foreign currency risk () EREZZINEE R
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk NEEEERHINE R £ ZR B LA
primarily from bank loans, cash and cash equivalents, M (BPE S AE R R D B B IS DASNEY
receivables and payables that are denominated in a EBIGFEZRTENR RekHe
foreign currency, i.e., a currency other than the ZEY - BURFEREMNGIE - EE
functional currency of the operations to which they ZRBRNEETEABE AR -
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are ETLREIT - ZRRVERIUREE
primarily Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States EEEINELAERE R FHBER -
dollars and Euros. The Group ensures that the net R B R ) R S F R AR ]
exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or BEXEHIKFE o

selling foreign currencies at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at TRV AEERSMERKRBOHE
the end of the reporting period to foreign currency risk REEXBE(UHBEEB 2SR
arising from recognised assets or liabilities BEAON 2 BHEEHE) FTEE 2 INER
denominated in a currency other than the functional R MEFNENME @ BERSEUE
currency of the entity to which they relate. For BTN - WIRHRE AR IR EIE R
presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure H o ARINHEBE R ERE B mEK B
are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using the BEARKERNZINNEEMELENERE
spot rate at the reporting date. Differences resulting TEFTAINERRR ©

from the translation of the consolidated financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency are excluded.

2023 2022

B e —/
—E-= S

United United
States NEICS

Renminbi dollars Euros Renminbi dollars Euros
ARH EYH B ARE e BT
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BB BT BETT BT BETT

Cash and cash equivalents E&REE&EEY 310,502 405 190 430,576 403 186
Amounts due from/(to) fellow FEYL,/ (1) I 2B

subsidiaries (net) RRIFEFE 4,580,002 - — 4,204,833 - -
Other receivables H i FEYRE 13,770 - - 11,187 - -
Bank loans RITER (5,065,885) - - (3,631,550) - -
Other payables H ity 508 (142,891) - - (154,258) - -

(304,502) 405 190 860,788 403 186




38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continuea)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s profit/(loss) before taxation that would
arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
had changed at that date, assuming all other risk
variables remained constant. In this respect, it is
assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong
Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be
materially unaffected by any changes in movement in
value of the United States dollar against other
currencies. The impact of foreign exchange rate
fluctuations with respect to the assets and liabilities
denominated in United States dollars is insignificant as
Hong Kong dollars is pegged to the United States
dollars.
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38. AR ERBRIBE (&)

ISR B (AE)
(i) EEEZ S

2023
e

—a—=

TREIIBRRNERE RRAE B @ L
EXEBOIEERNEHLHRE
B MAAEMESHRIFTE &2
HAEENBRBARN(BE)EX
IS8 - plitms - MRBEHE
TTHBBRER I GRRITEEL D
EEMEIAEHMZNERNTE - A
RBME ST R - EIAKRITTEHEDN
BENARARMZINEE R NBHF
BYTERKN -

281 C

Increase/
(decrease) in
foreign

exchange rates
NEERLR/
(TR)

Renminbi AR 10%
(10%)
United States dollars E 10%
(10%)
Euros Bl 10%
(10%)

2022
—T-

Increase/

(decrease) in
Effect on loss foreign Effect on profit
before tax exchange rates before tax
HRBEAEEN EEXLA/  HBRHEAENN
2 vE
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT
(30,450) 10% 86,079
30,450 (10%) (86,079)
41 10% 40
(41) (10%) (40)
19 10% 19
(19) (10%) (19)
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ profit/(loss) before
taxation measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting

period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
rates had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by the

foreign exchange

Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including
intercompany payables and receivables within the
Group which are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis excludes differences that would
result from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation
currency. The analysis is performed on the same
basis as 2022.

Credit risk

The Group assesses the credit quality of the customers and
other counterparties, taking into account their background,
financial position, past experience and other factors. The
Group has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. Debtors are
usually due immediately within 90 days from the date of
billing.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
cash and cash equivalents, debtors, other receivables and
contract assets.

8. MKEKLEEBENLEE (&)

S L B ()
(i)  HEE DT ()

EREFNZDMERBE T AEESR
BRI~ RIARRE Y e BT 8 2 IR
RIEF (B8R 2 BRTE - BRY
EUREMRCEXHER/ERZ
W

BREDMRZINEEXNESHE A
REFFTERERRAKEMFTE R
EAREAZINERBROZFTERT
B BHEAERAIERANTIES
BN BB SHEN B R A R FE
T 5RIE R FEMR IR o 3% 3 T R 15 SN
BEBNMBEHRREESAEEZT
ERMEEANER ZN MR _-F
TR EEET

EERRE

AEEEREFPREMRZHFHNES
MBARR  BEE R R EMEARKEE
EEEEX - ARBEREEEFEREK  UF
BERMHEEBNEERR BEKRFER
mEEEHET AT HRBIE -

EERREXZIUFARABTHAOEMLEM
EYAKREELEMBELIOAR A5 H
MEERRIEREASIRASEEY -
FEM RN - E BRI R AN EE -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. B EBEIEBIZE REE (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EERK (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging R ey [ R K o R 5 [ R 57 4R

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TERBEXAEENEERX IR EER
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, BERmaEERRE  BEABAKANKSE
which is mainly based on past due information unless other NEAESHMERI - Tk EZEDE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and BRERTZA=+T—BZERIBES
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. HREM-

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for EINCHEATHEENSBEREANEER
financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the Bl R B IRE(E -

financial guarantee contracts.

As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=F+=ZHA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A 75
FEEE EEFENNASRGEERR

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-RE SRR HZER B 1L % &%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B¥TrT BTz B¥Tz B¥Tt B¥TxR

Cash and cash equivalents e RBREeEED 2,308,578 - - — 2,308,578
Deposits with banks with maturity period FRHEB=M@A 2
over three months RITIFR 22,844 - - - 22,844
Pledged bank deposits BIRBIRITER 47,361 - - - 47,361
Debtors* JFE L B - - — 7,893,254 7,893,254
Financial assets included in other FHAE A B RIE
receivables, deposits and prepayments e RERNRIEN
SREE 223,219 - - - 223,219
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries SN
A 3,053 - - - 3,053
Amounts due from joint ventures WA & ERIE 50,301 - - - 50,301
Contract assets BREE
— with significant financing component — ABERREHEK
BH 6,744,070 - - - 6,744,070
— without significant financing component — FEAEA@E
A - - - 29112711 2,911,271

9,399,426 - — 10,804,525 20,203,951
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. B ETE BIZ MR (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) FERB (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continueqd) R 55 B B [ F K 7 B R 57 4 (AE)

As at 31 December 2022

R-F-_—_F+-_H=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1Iﬂ 54
N RHEEERE
Simplified
Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—FE EZMRE  E=RE E 87 &t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR  AETT  BETR  BETR  BMTR
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY 1,904,785 - - — 1,904,785
Deposits with banks with maturity period FREHBB=A2
over three months RITER 23,465 = = - 23,465
Pledged bank deposits BHEFRTER 75,043 — — — 75,043
Debtors* JFE e B 3K - - — 6,189,303 6,189,303
Financial assets included in other = A E b fE U I8
receivables, deposits and prepayments B4 RIEMAEZEN
SMEE 299,563 = = = 299,563
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries [ AEE = NG|
IR 4,384 = = = 4,384
Amounts due from joint ventures ElaLE T;’(IE 44,999 = = = 44,999
Amount due from an associate FEW — B A RIFRE 4,088 = = = 4,088
Loan to a non-controlling interest RIGEEARERE R 25,971 = = = 25,971
Contract assets BREE
— with significant financing component — BESAREHEK
25) 7,100,699 = = — 7,100,699
— without significant financing component* — T~EB&EAFE
R ER D * = = — 2,698,390 2,698,390
9,482,997 = — 8,887,693 18,370,690
* For contract assets without a significant financing component * RASBEHAMENERIENTAGSE

RBEAK D A WEE REMIRRM
5 EBEEREENMBWMRME2.4
2122 -

and debtors to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information is disclosed in notes
2.4, 21 and 22 to the financial statements.

BRAEBEEHNEEREWRERITEED
FERBMONE— P T2 EED BN
M ERM F21 224K FE -

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from contract assets and debtors are
disclosed in note 21 and 22 to the financial statements,
respectively.



38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

Since the Group trades only with
creditworthy third parties, there
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by

recognised and
is no requirement for
counterparty and by geographical region. At 31 December
2023, “Debtors, deposits and
prepayments” and “Contract assets” of the Group amounted
to HK$18,483,443,000 (2022: HK$17,261,942,000), of which
HK$1,268,990,000 (2022: HK$3,823,725,000) was due from
the largest customer and HK$2,882,552,000 (2022:
HK$6,597,369,000) the five largest
customers in aggregate of the Group, respectively. The

other receivables,

was due from

maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset and contract asset
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to
requirements and its

regularly monitor its liquidity

compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term or to obtain waiver from the relevant banks if the
Group is not able to satisfy any of the covenant

requirements. When there is any potential breach of
undertaking or financial covenants, the Group will actively
negotiate with the bank to obtain a waiver for the relevant
undertaking or financial covenants to avoid the banks from
requesting for immediate repayment of any outstanding
bank borrowings drawn under the facility, such that the
facility and bank borrowings will continue to be available to

the Group.
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38.

s EREREBRNER(E)

EE Rk (&)
5% 15 [ R R F R 5 P B 54 ()

B@$%@@E@E€T&1§%$%Z%EE
ETEE - I ARBERKEHERR - £H1E
AR ZEFRINEETER RN

‘ﬂm

=F+-A=Z+—H8 AEBZ[ERK

CHAbfEGIE - B RENFIE]I R
& ,n:éi%J 575 #18,483,443,0007C (=&
— T B%17,261,942,0007T) - E A E
#1,268,990,000 L (Z T = ZF : B #
3,823,725,0007L) REW A EE H KT P
FRIA N 515 2,882,552,0007T (—Z T = —4F ¢
7 6,597,369,0007T) B EK A EE A K
BEREBERE SAEERBRENGRAHY
BARAKRPTREBEEMNEERGNEELZ
REEZY -

Iﬁ%’ﬁ%‘ﬂﬂ}ﬁ#]}

RENE < @k

AEEBETBEYEEERAGTAERS
EETF ERRASBBIEHRERSE
EERUNREMNEMREFIRL - AKREZK
“%* fERRBDESHERLRERELAE
BZBRER  BREBGFITHEDN
ﬁiﬁﬁ&ﬁIEW%%%W J2 5 )
HREERE NENEHLRERARDES
oK e AN S A B 1T (] R A E
FAARRITEG#H R - hﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ&&
RAEGEIPBREZBER  AEE KBS
HIRTTH A AESEEARAMBREZ
B NBRBITERIINMEERERE
REZ EfHARBEEZRITEE - LML
BMEMRTEEVEEHRAEEER -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. B EREIBEIENE (&
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESRK (&)

The following tables show the remaining contractual TRIWTAEERBERRZIFITELA
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s ERBEIHBKREOHBRBER - WEAFTA
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on AR RERE(BREESONEL (1B
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest FER)BEBERREMARZMEFEZFEN
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, FORAEEEEEEERB2&FTAEA
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) EEMYIL -

and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

31 December 2023
=g==#£+=A=1-8

Total
contractual More than More than
Carrying undiscounted Within 1 year 1 year but 2 years but More than
amount cash flow or on demand within 2 years within 5 years 5 years
HEES: 3] —FRH —F% mE#
BEHE ZeRELEHE RER BRER BEER IFE#
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$’000

BETT BETR BETT BETR BETT BETR

Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITREMEE

borrowings (note 25) GBS 23,131,760 25,312,353 6,828,763 6,610,550 7,804,572 4,068,468
Creditors, other payables and ERER - HEMAFER

accrued expenses” -Gl 2,541,074 2,543,446 2,444,651 7,474 7,474 83,847
Lease liabilties (note 15(0)) HEBE (HF150) 26,095 33,743 5,027 3,757 7,557 17,402

25,698,929 27,889,542 9,278,441 6,621,781 7,819,603 4,169,717

31 December 2022
—$+-A=+—H
Total
contractual More than More than
Carrying  undiscounted  Within 1 year 1 year but 2 years but More than

amount cash flow or on demand  within 2 years  within 5 years 5 years
g —%1% MR

REE RS REX {ERER BERER Lk

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BB T0 B BETT BB BETT

Interest-bearing bank and other SAERARAMES
borrowings (note 25) (M#E25) 20,736,525 23,198,202 6,532,444 3,568,886 9,256,258 3,840,704
Creditors, other payables and ERER - HEAFER
accrued expenses” st ER 3,144,877 3,148,812 3,055,401 7,677 15,354 70,380
Lease liabilities (note 15(b)) THEE & (HE150) 19,562 23,480 3,676 3,626 5,695 10,483
23,900,964 26,370,584 9,591,621 3,580,189 9,277,307 3,921,567
* The balances excluded deferred income — government * HERTBFERELTEHA — TS -

grants.



38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital are to
maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in
order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
The Group reviews the capital structure on a regular basis
and considers the cost of capital and the associated risks.
Based on recommendations of the board of directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
adjusting the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
new share issues or new debt financing.

The Group monitors capital with reference to its debt
position. The Group’s strategy was to maintain the equity
and debt in a balanced position and ensure there was
adequate working capital to service its debt obligation. The
Group’s gearing ratio, being the Group’s total liabilities over
its total assets, as at 31 December 2023 was 68.9%
(2022: 65.4%).
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38.

s EREREBRNER(E)

EXREHE
AEEEEEAZIEZENEEAFEY
MEEFARBRNEARLE  UXHFE
BEE - URKRRWEREAEE - AREE
EREARBHORE - & REELEMR
LEPHEARBELAE - AEEETE
RS EREE  TMAZEBEARKE R
R - RIFEFECERE  AREEE
BREBERNTRREZREEE  BITHR
MABEFNEHRE BN FOEEE
RIRHE -

AEEEB2RABBRRERENER
AEBEZKE ERGEZHEABENEE
o MRATHEEESENER - K=
E_=F+-_A=t—HB XAKEHEZEE
BELEX(AIAKEZREERABEERR
BZ8) R689%(—F = —F :65.4%) °

2
287 (



:> 288 China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf % & & K &

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 39. Z&AQ & Z B &k n &
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

NTARBERRERRMBARAKRZE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: P
2023 2022
—E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries B ARIERE 2,337,064 2,337,064
Amounts due from subsidiaries Al EENGIE S 12,104,125 11,601,497
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB MEE 418 589
14,441,607 13,939,150
Current assets REEE
Other receivables and prepayments H b e W 5k IE K
FE AR 2,046 2,452
Cash and cash equivalents BERBEEEY 365,035 416,859
367,081 419,311
Current liabilities REBEE
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — EEHF 923,713 1,644,001
Medium-term notes hEE R 1,087,559 1,117,194
Other payables b FE A 3R 135,651 97,243
Tax payables FERT R IR 21,863 20,666
2,168,786 2,879,104
Net current liabilities REBEERE (1,801,705) (2,459,793)
Total assets less current liabilities BEEERTBEE 12,639,902 11,479,357
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank loans — unsecured IRITER — H|IEH 4,134,643 3,744,024
Medium-term notes B R 3,671,689 2,456,199
7,806,332 6,200,223
Net assets BEFRE 4,833,570 5,279,134
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 39. AA T Z B #HikRk (&)
COMPANY (Continued)

Information about the statement of financial position of the IWTNERBERRARAFHEMRRRZE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: # (&)
(Continued)
2023 2022
—=E-= —_E_—
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Capital and reserves BAR#E
Equity attributable to equity shareholders SRR R R
Share capital % A 1,608,029 1,608,029
Reserves (note) fb 15 (P 5E) 2,418,559 2,864,123
4,026,588 4,472,152
Perpetual medium-term notes (note) KEHHER (W) 806,982 806,982
Total equity VE o MR RE 4,833,570 5,279,134
ZHU Fugang SONG Jian
KB R
Director Director

BEF EZE
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

(Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

39. RRRIZHEARREK (&

NTARBERRERRMBARAKRZE
()

MEEE
RRRZEEGRENT

Perpetual
Share Accumulated medium-term
premium losses notes Total
B 1258 RiEE KEFHERE Fokc]
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
BETT AT BT BETT
Balance at 1 January 2022 RZTE-ZF—-R—Hz#&H 3,694,131 (441,023) = 3,253,108
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FERMN/(BE)R2ERA
income/(loss) for the year (518) 58 = (231,963) 15,952 (216,011)
2021 final dividend paid KR ZE=—FERERE (82,643) = = (82,643)
2022 interim dividend paid R —FEPHRE (74,379) - - (74,379)
Issuance of perpetual medium-term notes BITKEPHER = = 806,982 806,982
Distribution to holders of perpetual MK EFRBHEEZE AMEL DR
medium-term notes = = (15,952) (15,952)
Balance at 31 December 2022 and R-BE-_—_F+-_A=+—HK
1 January 2023 —E-=F—H-Br&H 3,537,109 (672,986) 806,982 3,671,105
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FERF/(BE) R2EAKA/
income/(loss) for the year (&518) #58 - (393,912) 36,285 (357,627)
2023 interim dividend paid KN ZE==FEPHRE (51,652) - - (51,652)
Distribution to holders of perpetual FOKERBAREREAEL DR
medium-term notes - - (36,285) (36,285)
3,485,457 (1,066,898) 806,982 3,225,541
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40. FEWB A RIFE
ANFEEMBATEBOT :

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Place of incorporation Particulars of issued Percentage of equity attributable

Name of company
NCE:S

and business
Gaii] %

and paid-up capital
(i RRAFE

to the Company
ARRFIEMR B
Direct Indirect

BHE &

Principal activities

EB Greentech Biomass Energy (Guoyang) Limited* PRC RMB108,020,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(note (b)) maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project
ARGERREMELR ORI BRAR" Ll AR #108,020,0007C Rat - BiE - BERBEENEAEY
(Fi (o) #IEE
EB Greentech Cogeneration (Sugian) Limited*" PRC RMB105,000,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(note (b)) maintenance of industrial solid
waste treatment and electricity and
heat cogeneration project
RREERRAE (F8) AR AR (HEb) Gl AR #105,000,0007C Rit 2 EERBETEERRE
RAEBHIER
EB Greentech Renewable Energy (Xiao County) PRC RMB96,002,000 = 100% Design, construction, operation and
Limited* (note (b)) maintenance of industrial solid
waste treatment and electricity and
heat cogeneration project
ARGERRBLLR(BH) BRAA" HE AR #96,002,0007C it R EERBEIXEELRE
(B & (o) RRBEBHIER
EB Greentech Renewable Energy (Yiyuan) Limited* PRC RMB185,520,000 - 95% Design, construction, operation and
(note (b)) maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project
RAREERRBELROTVR) BRAA Bl AR #185,520,0007C Ret - 2E EEREFENERK
(P &£ (o)) BE—R{ER
EB Greentech Technology Services (Jiangsu) PRC RMB20,000,000 = 100% Provide environmental technology
Limited* services, development, consulting
and equipment sales projects
KRG ERREMBRBOLEH) ERD R Bl AR #20,000,0007T REBREMRSE - FE - FARR
HERR
EB Greentech Urban and Rural Renewable Energy PRC RMB95,384,000 = 100% Design, construction, operation and
(Dali) Limited* (note (a)) maintenance of waste-to-energy
project
RRGERRABEELR(KE) BRAA 2l AR #95,384,0007T Ret - BE EEREEARETEA
(P &£ (a))
EB Greentech Urban and Rural Renewable Energy PRC RMB182,310,000 = 100% Design, construction, operation and
(Fengxian) Limited* (note (a)) maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project
ARGERREBELLR(LH) BRRA" Ll AR #182,310,0007C Rat - BiE - BERBEENME RAIR

(Pt 7% (a))

FE—@RA
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Name of company

EB Greentech Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Gutian) Limited* (note (a))

ARGERREBBLER(HH) BRAF"
(KiE(a)
EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Fengyang)
Company Limited** (notes (a) and (b))
KRB EERR(BFZ) BRA R
(Pl £ () B2 (b))
EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Guanyun)
Company Limited* (notes (a) and (b))
HARBBBERLRCEE) BRA A
(Pt 5 (a) K (b))
EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Huai’an)
Limited* (notes (a) and (b))
ARBBBERR CER) BRA R
(Pl £ () B2 (b))
EB Urban and Rural Biomass Energy (Nanjing)
Limited*"

KEARBBENER (FAR) BRAF

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Xiao
County) Limited** (notes (a) and (b))

RRBBBERR (BF) HRAF
(Pl £ () B2 (b))
EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Zhecheng)

Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

KARBBBELR (HR) BRAF
(Bff &t (a) %2 (b))

Place of incorporation
and business and paid-up capital
Eailig e B FHE

PRC RMBB80,250,000
H AR #80,250,0007T
PRC RMB183,340,000
*H AR #5183,340,0007T
PRC RMB199,120,000
H AR %199,120,0007T
PRC RMB312,000,000
*H AR #312,000,0007T
PRC RMB97,560,000
H AR #97,560,0007T
PRC RMB275,350,000
* AR #275,350,0007T
PRC RMB154,665,000
H AR ¥154,665,0007C

40. EBHIE A F R

5 (&

1=

AARNEEMBARAFEOT : (#)

Particulars of issued Percentage of equity attributable

to the Company
ARERERZADLL
Direct Indirect

B &

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Principal activities
E 30

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rat - BiE - BEREEENME KRR
BHE—R{IER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rit - BiE EERERENERIE
BE—BLEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rat - BE - BEREEEME KRR
BHE—R{IER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rit - BiE EERERENERNE
BE—BLEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rat - BE - BEREEEME RAR
BHE—RIER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rit - BiE EERERENERIE
BE—BLEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rat - BiE - BEREEEME KRR
BHE—RIER
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 40. X EM B A G5

(Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as KAREEBWERRFEBOT « (&)

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation
and business

Particulars of issued Percentage of equity attributable

Name of company and paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities

NG MK REBILE BT RIRAFEE ARRIEIEEEE DL EX- 5

Direct Indirect

B LI}

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy PRC RMB128,333,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(Zhongjiang) Limited™ (note (b)) maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project
EARBBBERLR (L) ERD R (D) +H AR #128,333,0007C Rat o BE - BERBEEME KRR
BE—8IER
EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy PRC RMB159,750,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(Zhongxiang) Limited* (notes (a) and (b)) maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project
KRB AR () BRAR" 7 AR #159,750,0007C Ret - BiE EERERENERIE
(Pl &£ () B2 (b)) BE—®{EA
Everbright Alternative Energy (Dangshan) Company PRC HK$125,800,000 = 100% Design, construction, operation and
Limited* (note (b)) maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project
RARHER (BIL) R R (i (b)) 7 7#125,800,0007T Ret - BiE EERERENEREY
#ER
Everbright Biomass Cogeneration (Liuan) Limited™* PRC RMB179,360,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(note (b)) maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project
RREMBRE (NR) BB AR (Hiz(b) 7 AR #179,360,0007C Ret B EERERENEREY
#ER
Everbright Biomass Energy (Dingyuan) Limited*" PRC RMB106,670,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(note (b)) maintenance of biomass direct
combustion power generation
project
AREWEER (ER) AR R (D) +H AR #106,670,0007C Rat o BE - BERBEEMEERE
BHEE
Everbright Biomass Energy (Huaiyuan) Limited* PRC HK$312,597,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(note (a) and (b)) maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project
REREMEER (BR) ER AR (M@ X(b) 7 7##312,697,0007T Ret - BiE EERERENERIE
HE—BLEE
Everbright Biomass Energy (Lianshui) Limited* PRC RMB253,840,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(note (b)) maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project
KEREMER OBK) BB AR (M= (b)) 7 AR #253,840,0007C Ret - BiE EERERENEREY
#ER
Everbright Biomass Energy (Lingbi) Limited* PRC RMB106,667,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(note (b)) maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project
RREMEER (RE) BB AR (b)) 7 AR 106,667,000 Ret - BiE EERERENEREY

#IER
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Name of company
NSER

Everbright Biomass Energy (Liuan) Company
Limited*" (note (b))

KREMEIR (SR) BRA R (M)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Rugao) Company
Limited*"

KREER (R) BRA R

Everbright Biomass Energy (Shayang) Limited*
(note (b))

KREWRR (D) AR AR (i (b))

Everbright Biomass Energy (Sugian) Limited”
(note (b))

KREWRR (BR) AR AR (b))

Everbright Biomass Energy (Weihai) Limited™
(note (b))

KREWRR (B08) AR AR (i (b))

Everbright Environmental Energy (Dangshan)
Limited** (note ()

KERRREER (5 1L) BR A A (£ (a)

Everbright Environmental Energy (Lingbi) Limited*"
(note (a))

RRRERER (RE) ER AR (M Q)

Everbright Environmental Protection (Lianyungang)
Waste Disposal Company Limited™"

RRRER(EER) RENEEERAA

Everbright Solid Waste Landfill (Xinyi) Holdings
Limited* (note (c))

KA BIRRE YRR (R BRAR"
(FitEE(c)

Place of incorporation
and business
b3 B

PRC RMB113,570,000
HE AR #113,570,0007T
PRC HK$ 142,667,000
* 7 #142,667,0007T
PRC RMB127,337,000
HE AR 127,337,000
PRC RMB75,600,000
a5 AR #75,600,0007
PRC HK$127,337,000
] 7% %127,337,0007T
PRC RMB83,340,000
R AR #83,340,0007T
PRC RMB83,330,000
* AR #83,330,0007T
PRC USD28,143,900
H 28,143,900 7T
PRC RMB93,670,000
* AR #93,670,0007T

40. EBHIE A F R

ARRREEME R R

Particulars of issued Percentage of equity attributable
and paid-up capital

to the Company
SR AL
Direct Indirect

B &

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

5 (&

BT (&

Principal activities
E2 3

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project

Rit - BiE EERERENEREY
#ER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project

Rit - BiE EERERENEREY
#ER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass direct
combustion power generation
project

Rat - BE - BEREEENMEERE
BHA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass heat
supply project

Rat - BE - BEREEEMEHIA
B

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project

Rat - BE BEREEENEAEY
H#IEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of waste-to-energy
project

Rat - BE BERAEENRHEEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of waste-to-energy
project

Ret - BiE EERERAIRETEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste
incineration project

Rit - 2E EEREERERBEER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste
landfill project

Rit B BERBLBEAEIER
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 40. = EZMB A RIS (&
(Continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as KAREEBWERRFEBOT « (&)

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation

Particulars of issued Percentage of equity attributable

Name of company and business and paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
NGES Eaiiid BET RRAFE S EERRZEDL TEEK
Direct Indirect
BE i
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy (Changzhou) PRC RMB32,500,000 - 100% Design, construction and operation of
Limited*" solar energy project
ARAERER (FM) BRAE" # AR #32,500,0007C Rt BEREERKREERE
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy (Sugian) Limited* PRC RMB80,740,000 - 100% Design, construction and operation of
solar energy project
ARERER (BB BRAR" + AR #80,740,0007T Rt BEREERKEERE
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy (Zhenjiang) Limited* PRC RMB122,090,000 - 100% Design, construction and operation of
solar energy project
RARAERER ET) BRAR" # AR #122,090,0007C Rt BEREERKEERE
Everbright Urban and Rural Renewable Energy PRC RMB208,780,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(Sheqj) Limited* (notes (a) and (b)) maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project
KRB HERR GEIE) BRAR" +H AR #208,780,0007C Rat - BE - BERBEEME KRR
(P 7 (a) R (b)) HE—BRAE
Everbright Urban and Rural Renewable Energy PRC RMB186,670,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(Xiayi) Limited* (notes (a) and (b)) maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project
RARBBBELR(EE)ERAR" 7 AR 6186,670,0007C Ret - BiE EERERENERIE
(Pl &£ () B2 (b)) BE—®{EA
Everbright Wind Power (Ningwu) Company PRC RMB258,360,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
Limited*" maintenance of wind power
project
RARAE (BR)BRAA" FE AR #258,360,0007C Ret 2 EERBEREREE
Everbright Solarpark Schonewalde Ldt. & Co. KG Germany €1,000 - 100% Design, construction and operation of
solar energy project
Everbright Solarpark Schonewalde Ldt. & Co. KG =E 1,0008% 7T AT BEREEKAKFERA
* Registered under the laws of the PRC as foreign investment * REPBEEETMRINERE
enterprises
& Registered under the laws of the PRC as private companies & REFEEEZFMALEERAR
with limited liability
# Registered under the laws of the PRC as Sino-foreign # REPEEETMRRIEGEDRE

co-operation joint ventures

For identification only
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain waste-to-energy
projects and integrated biomass and waste-to-energy
projects in the PRC for a period not less than 30 years. The
Grantors guarantee the Group will receive minimum annual
payments in connection with the arrangements. During the
operating period, the Group will be responsible for
maintaining the waste-to-energy projects and integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy projects in good condition.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in
constructing the waste-to-energy projects and integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy projects is recognised as
“Service concession assets”, which are included in “Contract
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain biomass direct
combustion power generation projects, biomass heat supply
project, biomass electricity and heat cogeneration projects
and integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects in the
PRC for a period not less than 30 years. The service fees
are based on the extent of services rendered and are
subject to the approvals from the relevant local government
authorities. During the operating period, the Group will be
responsible for maintaining the biomass direct combustion
power generation projects, biomass heat supply projects,
biomass electricity and heat cogeneration projects and
integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects in good
condition.

40. T EMBRFFHE (&)

BisE
(@)

AEBEZEH B AR ERER T AT LR
ALY RERBEFLERER
B AREERERTERE  EE i
ENREEAB MAEYE R R EE 8
EHEEB BRAPIR=1TF - BTFTAR
F o AREEEFFEASRE BT HRRRE
MR- NEBHA - AEE K& B #IFN
REEIHE REWME PR EE LA
BER R

REFACERLFTEBSERRE
B o BT ARAKEEIG AR GRRE
BERERZBERTH LG -

HFERNIREERR LEME LR EE
—f8(LIR B IR IEE RIS A B ey e
RABIRBHAEEREE]  REREY
BRRKPEIATANEE]

REBZEN B R REE T AR RBE
AR ERTY - RIERBEFEERER
B AREERERPEESE  EE i
HEAEYMEEMEEIER  £YWEMHAIR
B AMEREH AR REWE KR
BE—RILER  RETLIR=1TF R
BEROEHRZBHME  XRFERE
WIRFH A AR T AEE -REZH
W ARERERERSEMEENREER
B EWEHRAER  EYMEAERHIA
BRAEMERNPEE-BILEBERR
SRR ©



40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

(Continued)

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Operating rights of the biomass direct combustion power
generation projects, biomass heat supply projects, biomass
electricity and heat cogeneration projects and integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy projects are recognised as
“Intangible assets” in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain hazardous waste
landfill projects and hazardous waste incineration projects in
the PRC for a period of 20 to 30 years. The Group has the
obligation to maintain the hazardous waste landfill projects
and hazardous waste incineration projects in good condition.
The service fees are based on the extent of services
rendered and are subject to the approvals from the relevant
local government authorities. Upon expiry of the concession
periods, the hazardous waste landfill projects and hazardous
waste incineration projects and related facilities will be
transferred to the local government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Operating rights of the hazardous waste landfill projects and
hazardous waste incineration projects are recognised as
“Intangible assets” in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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40. FEMBRAFFE (&)

B&E - (&)

(o)

(#&)
MEBHFEERLFL BB SENER
o BT ARKEB D E RN G GTE
EREBERZIERTH LG -

EMEEMEEERR - AWEHZIER -
EYERERHIRE REYE R REE
—BEAZEERERAPBEARRKRT
ERRIEVEE] -

REEZEMB AR EE T AT LREE
RIS RERBEIFECERR
P AEEERERPEES  EE N
HEEEEER NEERREER R
T E=tF - AEEAEESFEEER
IR A REREREIAR BN R IR o iR
BEROREHEZRBME  XASEEE
HWHT BRI ER T AIEE - I FEE
HEmiE  BEEIEEE REEREIRR
AR REHEREWBRITEEMRE -

MEBHFEERLHF LB SENER
o BT ARKEB D E RN GTE
EREBERZERTH LG -

RERLER RAEBNRER 2 B8 EE
GAMBRRETRAS BVEE] -
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40.

4.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 15 March 2024.

40. FEZMBRFFE (&)

4.

EERR EXRAIAREMEBARTS
IBPEFEXEIBRASEEEFE
MERBOWMBAR -EERRREMHE
M BARIMNHBEEEHREBNITE

HE B 5 Rk

EFeER T _WNWF=-ZA+RBHLAET
BT ST F®RE -
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Financial Summary
MBEHE

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=F —E-— —E-—F —E-TF —E-hEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BT BETT
Assets and liabilities EERER
Property, plant and equipment M - BE R
and interests in leasehold land URFEERZ
held for own use HELHER 4,579,981 5,044,489 5,367,020 3,848,120 2,630,584
Right-of-use assets BREAE 529,606 619,354 700,217 648,609 416,646
Goodwill RS 130,651 134,207 162,638 157,609 149,079
Intangible assets BREE 12,820,119 13,355,885 14,365,263 13,311,103 10,781,335
Interest in associates A SWNETL ey 234,408 239,883 254,413 165,415 76,621
Interest in joint ventures AL EER 31,906 33,424 24,761 44,632 61,177
Contract assets AHEE 6,357,849 6,698,920 6,900,257 6,310,283 3,962,637
Other receivables, deposits and HiEWHIE - Re Rk
prepayments N A 391,012 506,297 781,099 816,945 602,982
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE 198,495 80,855 82,450 64,467 29,396
Net current assets M A E 1,539,708 3,381,290 3,246,504 3,561,948 2,471,322
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 14,457,396 16,560,319 17,739,255 16,062,290 10,594,427
Net assets BEFE 12,356,339 13,534,285 14,145,367 12,866,841 10,587,352
Share capital [N 1,608,029 1,608,029 1,608,029 1,608,029 1,608,029
Reserves (] 9,663,198 10,776,766 12,153,166 10,916,253 8,738,190
Total equity attributable to equity 7N @) 4E 25 B SR FE 15
shareholders of the Company EmER 11,271,227 12,384,795 13,761,195 12,524,282 10,346,219
Perpetual medium-term notes KEHRER 806,982 806,982 — — —
Non-controlling interests eI R 278,130 342,508 384,172 342,559 241,133
Total equity B 12,356,339 13,584,285  14,145367 12,866,841 10,587,352
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Financial Summary Bt =

For the year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-RHILEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= B B —E-TF —ZE-hEF
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
BT T AT T AT T AT T AT T
Results ES
Revenue & 7,416,973 8,048,171 8,446,999 9,835,376 9,279,555
Profit from operations RERF 484,768 1,269,678 2,114,772 2,489,215 2,476,468
Finance costs B ER (824,825) (740,997 (741,858) (543,564) (376,891)
Share of profit/(loss) Fisaats
of joint ventures AR,/ (&8) 769 (18,523) (24,312) (19,464) 9,890
Profit/(loss) before taxation BHATZEF(EE) (339,288) 510,158 1,348,602 1,926,187 2,109,467
Income tax credit/(expense) FiBHEe,/ (FX) 37,457 (165,158) (228,571) (412,879) (462,362)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF,/(EE) (301,831) 345,000 1,120,031 1,513,308 1,647,105
Attributable to: I
Equity shareholders of the RN AR R R
Company (301,711) 340,201 1,110,385 1,502,532 1,621,477
Holders of perpetual medium-term k& HZEHE A
notes 36,285 15,952 - - -
Non-controlling interests FEPR IR (36,405) (11,153) 9,646 10,776 25,628
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF,/(E]) (301,831) 345,000 1,120,031 1,513,308 1,647,105
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) ~ ERREARREERF
per share (HK cents) (B518) (L) (14.60) 16.47 53.74 72.72 78.48
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